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About this report
This document constitutes the annual report and ﬁnancial statements of African Oxygen
Limited (Afrox) and its consolidated entities for the year ended 31 December 2012. The
report and statements are compiled in accordance with JSE Listings Requirements and
follow the Global Reporting Initiative guidelines.
This report constitutes the integrated report for the Group and, as such, is an enhancement
in terms of structure and content. It includes material on the operating units within the
company and provides information on governance, sustainability and corporate citizenship,
of interest to stakeholders.
The integrated report is structured to ensure that readers are provided with information
that addresses the ﬁnancial, strategic and business issues related to the company.
Operational, business-wide support functions and sustainability reviews are an integral
part of this document to facilitate this process.
All references to additional information on speciﬁc topics, available through other sources
such as the Internet or additional publications, are included in appropriate places within
the review.

Forward-looking statements disclaimer
The annual report contains statements related to Afrox’s future business and ﬁnancial
performance. This includes possible future events or developments involving Afrox
that may constitute forward-looking statements. Such statements are based on current
expectations and certain assumptions applied by Afrox’s management. The statements
are therefore subject to certain risks and uncertainties. A variety of factors affect the
Group’s operations, performance, business strategy and results. Many of these factors are
beyond Afrox’s control and have the potential to result in materially different actual future
results, performance or achievements than are expressed or implied by such forwardlooking statements. Some of these factors could also affect future results, performance or
achievement anticipated on the basis of historical trends.
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About Afrox
African Oxygen Limited (Afrox) is a leading supplier of gases and
welding products in sub-Saharan Africa.
Established in South Africa 85 years ago, the company listed on the
JSE in 1963, followed by a dual listing on the Namibian Stock Exchange
in 1995. Afrox employs 3 258 people across its business and has its
head office in Johannesburg.
Afrox’s ultimate parent company is The Linde Group, which is in turn
a global leader in gases, engineering and technology solutions. Afrox
operates in South Africa and in 11 other African countries. In these
markets Afrox supplies a wide range of customers drawn from sectors
as diverse as mining, manufacturing, heavy industry, healthcare and
hospitality. In addition, within the sub-Saharan markets in which it
is active, Afrox manages five operations on behalf of The Linde Group.
Throughout all regions, Afrox supplies the full range of large-volume
on-site and bulk gases, cylinder gases, scientific and medical gases,
refrigerants, packaged chemicals, helium and associated products.
It also serves its markets as a provider of gas equipment, welding
consumables and safety products.
The company has four business segments, namely Atmospheric Gases,
LPG, Hard Goods and Rest of Africa (see Business review pages 22 – 29).
These areas are the focus of its core operating structures encompassed
by Operations, Sales, National Customer Service Centre, Safety, Health,
Environment and Quality (SHEQ) and operations in the rest of Africa.
All business areas are supported by the centralised functions; Finance,
Communications, Information Services and Human Resources.

Mali

Ghana

The company believes in the value of sustainable growth for the
business and the communities in which it operates. Afrox was rated
26th in the authoritative ‘Financial Mail Top 100 Empowerment
Companies’ and enjoys a Level 3 Broad-Based Black Economic
Empowerment (B-BBEE) contributor rating. For more information
visit www.afrox.com.

DRC

Mauritius

About The Linde Group
Afrox-owned
	Linde-owned, managed by Afrox

The Linde Group (Linde) is an integrated gases, engineering and
technologies company with almost 62 000 employees working in
more than 100 countries worldwide. In the 2012 financial year,
Linde reported revenue of e15.3 billion. The Linde Group strategy is
geared toward sustainable earnings-based growth and it focuses on
the expansion of its international business through the development
of forward-looking products and services. Linde acts responsibly
toward its shareholders, business partners, staff, society and the
environment. In addition, Linde is committed to technologies and
products that unite the goals of customer value and sustainable
development. For more information, visit The Linde Group online at
www.linde.com.
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Full name:

African Oxygen Limited

Formed:

1927

Registration number:

1927/000089/06

Listed on JSE:

1963

Year-end:
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Listed NSX:

1995
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JSE code:
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AOX		

R8 057 million
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ZAE000067120		

Market capitalisation
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Socially Responsible
Investment (SRI) Index
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Website:

www.afrox.com

Employees
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People
Afrox is an equal opportunity employer of 3 258 people and operates according to a defined set of values and principles, which are set
out below:
Afrox believes in open and honest communication and fair treatment.
The company supports the fundamental principles of human rights
and strives for a workforce composition that reflects the demographics
of South Africa.

Safety
Integrity
Sustainability

Afrox is proud of the cultural diversity of its people and, as such,
encourages tolerance and sensitivity between cultures. The company
is committed to maintaining a workplace free from discrimination
for reasons of race, creed, culture, nationality, gender, sexual orientation
or marital status. People are selected and offered employment based
on their ability to perform specific jobs. Physical disability is not a
barrier to employment.

Respect
A passion to excel
Innovation for customers
Empowering people

For a full description of Afrox’s staff activities as well as the
opportunities and benefits offered to employees, please refer to
the Human Resources review on pages 31 to 35.

Thriving through diversity

Who are we and what do we do?
The Afrox mission

The Afrox vision

The Afrox values

Afrox will provide services and
a focused range of performance
enhancing gases and welding
products to valued customers,
through excellence in operations,
customer service and delivery and
investment in infrastructure, people
and technology for the benefit of
all stakeholders.

We will be the leading gases and
welding products company in subSaharan Africa, admired for our
people, by any measure.

We believe that a passion to
excel, innovating for customers,
empowering and thriving through
diversity will result in a high
performing organisation. Moreover,
by exercising these values with
integrity and in ways that are safe,
sustainable and respectful, we will
create an organisation which all
can be proud to work for and in
which everyone can find fulfilment.

African Oxygen Limited Annual Report 2012

The Afrox strategy
Our strategy is to transform the company into a high performance organisation. We
will achieve this by being the best in our class in everything we do, by developing
a performance-based culture built around the best people. We will transform our
company in South Africa to comply with Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment
requirements. We will achieve operational excellence by working as one team. We will
attain our strategic goals through highly effective planning, low-cost manufacturing
and excellent distribution. We will focus the business on the customer, routes to market
and market strategies that will drive our brands forward. We will look for growth and
other opportunities through innovation, both within and outside South Africa’s borders.

Afrox’s foundational principles
Afrox conducts business according to foundational principles that underlie specific behaviours.
Those foundational principles are:

Safety
We do not want to harm people or the environment.

Sustainability
We are occupied with today’s success, but accept our responsibility for future generations.

Integrity
Our actions are honest, fair and ethical.

Respect
Every human being deserves to be treated with respect.

Overview
Business review
Support functions
Sustainability report
Financial
results
and other
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review    Support
functions    Sustainability    Financial
results
and other
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Our strategic intent and
how we plan to achieve it
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Board of directors

Mike Huggon

Brett Kimber

Nick Thomson

Morongwe Malebye

Sipho Maseko

David Lawrence

Dr Khotso Mokhele

Matthias von Plotho

Jonathan Narayadoo

Louis van Niekerk

Chris Wells

Dynes Woodrow

Richard Gearing

Mike Huggon
(57) Non-executive director
Appointed Chairman of Afrox in May 2011. Mike Huggon is Managing Director of BOC
uK, Afrox’s holding company and wholly-owned subsidiary of The Linde Group. He
has held various senior positions within the former BOC Group including Managing
Director Industrial and Special Products Asia, Managing Director South Asia, Safety
Director Asia and Managing Director Hong Kong Oxygen. He was also Director and
General Manager, Permali Gloucester Limited, BTR and General Manager, Permali
Gloucester Limited, BTR. He holds a BSc (Hons) in Chemical Engineering from Brunel
university and post-graduate qualiﬁcations in Corporate Strategy (INSEAD Singapore),
Advanced Management (National university of Singapore), General Management
(Sundridge Park) and in Marketing (Salford university).

Brett Kimber
(51) Executive director
Board committees: The MD attends all Board committees by invitation.
Appointed Managing Director of Afrox in January 2012. Brett Kimber has held
various senior positions in The Linde Group, Afrox’s ultimate holding company,
including Chief Executive of Linde Korea, Global Business Manager for former BOC

Edwards’ Bulk Gases Product Division in Singapore, Project Development Manager
with Linde North America, various senior posts in Afrox between 1990 and 1998,
and was Senior Research Geologist with Anglo American Research Laboratory. He
holds a BSc (Hons) in Mineral Economics from the university of Johannesburg, BSc
(Hons) in Geo-Chemistry from the university of Cape Town and Bachelor of Science
(BSc) with majors in Chemistry and Geology from the university of KwaZulu-Natal.

Nick Thomson
(53) Executive director
Board committees: The Financial Director attends various Board committees
by invitation.
Appointed Financial Director, April 2012. Prior to joining Afrox, Nick Thomson was
Chief Financial Ofﬁcer for Transnet Freight Rail. He is a Chartered Accountant (SA)
and gained valuable business experience with Ernst & Young between 1980 –
2005, where he rose to being a Senior Partner before joining Transnet in 2005. He
holds a post-Graduate Diploma in Taxation and a Bachelor in Commerce Degree
from the university of Pietermaritzburg and a Diploma in Accountancy from the
university of Durban.
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Jonathan Narayadoo

(40) Independent non-executive director

(54) Executive director and general manager MPG Operations

Board committees: Audit.

Board committees: Attends Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) Committee
by invitation.
Appointed to the Board in December 2009. Jonathan Narayadoo joined the company
in 1980 and has held a number of senior management positions in Afrox and served,
most recently, on the boards of the Group’s various African subsidiaries. He was
educated in South Africa and attended a graduate development programme at the
university of Cape Town, as well as management development programme in the
united Kingdom. In addition he is an Associate of the Production Management
Institute of South Africa.

Sipho Maseko

Louis van Niekerk

(44) Independent non-executive director

(63) Independent non-executive director

Board committees: No appointment as yet.

Board committees: Audit (Chair), Nominations, Governance and Management of
Resources, SHEQ.

David Lawrence

Appointed to the Board in February 2005. Louis van Niekerk, who retired from Iscor
(now Mittal SA) towards the end of 2004, held the position of Chief Executive and
then non-executive Deputy Chairman. He joined Iscor in 1991 and was appointed
as Executive Director Finance in 1993. He became Managing Director of Iscor Steel
later that year and Chief Executive in 2001. He was the Chief Operating Ofﬁcer of
Transnet until March 2009. Louis is currently Executive Chairman of the Macsteel
Group and sits on various subsidiary boards within the Group. Louis van Niekerk is
a Chartered Accountant (SA) and has a Masters Degree in Commerce.

(61) Independent non-executive director

Chris Wells

Board committees: Nominations, Governance and Management of Resources
(Chair), Audit.

(63) Independent non-executive director

Appointed to the Board in December 2005. David Lawrence’s early career was spent
as an economist at the Chamber of Mines, subsequently working for the ofﬁce of
the Economic Advisor to the Prime Minister. He joined Citibank in 1977 becoming
Chairman and Managing Director. In 1987, First National Bank acquired Citibank’s
business and it became FirstCorp Merchant Bank where he held the position of
Managing Director. He joined Investec in 1996 as Managing Director, Corporate and
Investment Banking and is currently Deputy Chairman of Investec Bank Limited; he
holds a number of directorships, is a member of the Group’s executive management
team and holds Group-wide responsibility for Banking and Institutions. He obtained
a BA (Econ) (Hons) and MCom at the university of the Witwatersrand.

Joined the Afrox Board in November 2012. Chris Wells is Chief Executive Ofﬁcer of
Oakbrook Holdings (Pty) Limited, a private investment company. He is a nonexecutive director of the Spar Group Limited where he Chairs the Audit Committee
and Risk Committee and is a member of the Social, Ethics and Transformation
Committee. He also is a non-executive director of Essar Infrastructure PLC and
Sethani NPC. He is a Chartered Accountant who spent 19 years at Deloitte, seven
of those as a partner and member of the Deloitte Board. He then gained extensive
experience in the retail sector as Chief Financial Ofﬁcer at Rainbow Chicken, before
spending several years as CFO/CEO at Relyant Retail Limited, part of the McCarthy
Retail Group. Before taking up his position with Oakbrook Holdings, he spent six
years at Transnet as CFO and two years as Acting CEO. He holds a BCom Degree
from the university of Cape Town.

(57) Independent non-executive director

Board committees: No appointment as yet.

Board committees: Social, Ethics and Transformation (SET) (Chair), Nominations,
Governance and Management of Resources.

Dynes Woodrow

Appointed to the Board in December 2005. Dr Khotso Mokhele was on the teaching
and research staff of the universities of Fort Hare and Cape Town between 1986
and 1992. He was vice-President and President of the Foundation for Research
and Development from 1992 to 1999 and is President of the National Research
Foundation. He has also served on the Council for Higher Education, the National
Advisory Council on Innovation and the National Skills Authority and was also the
founder President of the Academy of Science of South Africa. He is the recipient of six
honorary doctorates from South African Higher Education Institutions and one honorary
doctorate from Rutgers university in New Jersey (uSA). In addition, Dr Mokhele is
a director of several South African companies and Chairman of Impala Platinum.

Board committees: SHEQ.

Matthias von Plotho
(43) Non-executive director
Board committees: Audit.
Appointed to the Board in May 2011. Matthias von Plotho is The Linde Group’s Head
of Finance for Europe; Middle East and Africa and Finance Director for RCN. He joined
The Linde Group in 2001 responsible for implementation of IFRS for Financial
Instruments. Since then he has held a number of senior posts including head of
Mergers and Acquisitions and Finance Director for the Region Continental and
Northern Europe. Prior to joining The Linde Group, he was with KPMG and AGIv AG
in Germany. He holds a Masters Degree in Business Administration, university of
Würzburg, Germany.

(65) Non-executive director
Appointed to the Board in May 2010. Dynes Woodrow is Head of Packaged Gas
Products for Linde in Greater China. In this role he is responsible for Sales, Operations,
Distribution and Business Development. He joined BOC in 1984 and has held a
number of senior positions including Global Head of Best Commercial Practice,
Marketing Director Europe, Global Business Development Director and Director of
Sales and Marketing South Paciﬁc. He holds a Degree in Electrical Engineering and
a Masters Degree in Business Administration.

Richard Gearing
(51) Non-executive director
Board committees: No appointment as yet.
Appointed to the Board in September 2012. Richard Gearing is the Head of MPG
Operations with BOC uK, a subsidiary of The Linde Group. He joined BOC in 1985
and has held various senior positions in the industrial and packages gases business
including Business Director Industrial, General Manager North, Customer Services
Manager North and Distribution Manager. He holds a BSc Engineering Mathematics
from Bristol university.

Financial
results
and other
information
Financial
results
and other
information

Dr Khotso Mokhele

Sustainability
report
Sustainability

Joined the Afrox Board in November 2012. A lawyer by profession he left Werksmans,
one of South Africa’s premier law ﬁrms, to join the Financial Services Board before
joining BP South Africa as a Legal and Tax Advisor. He rose through various
assignments in BP and spent some time in London before being appointed CEO of
BP Africa. He moved to the telecommunications industry in 2011, where he was
appointed Managing Director and Chief Operating Ofﬁcer of vodacom SA. He holds
a BA from the university of the Witwatersrand and an LLB (Law) from the university
of Natal.

Support
Supportfunctions
functions

Appointed to the Board in December 2007. Morongwe Malebye is Managing Director,
Ditiropele-DDMS. She is a former MD of Babcock (2005). Before that she held senior
positions at Armaments Corporation of SA, Spoornet, Sasol Chemical Industries and
Sasol Technology. She holds an MSc in Industrial Engineering and an MBA from
the university of Witwatersrand and a BSc in Mechanical Engineering from the
university of Cape Town. She is involved in mentorship programmes at Allan Gray
Foundation and student sponsorship programmes. She also serves on the Board of
Howden Africa, a JSE-listed company.

Business
Businessreview
review

Morongwe Malebye
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Executive management

Brett Kimber

Nick Thomson

Xolile Sizani

Jonathan Narayadoo

Chief Executive

Financial Director

General manager
HPO

General manager
MPG Operations,
executive director

Francis Graham

Stephen Moran

Herbert Ngwenya

Gerhardt Schnackenberg

General manager
Human Resources

General manager
SHEQ

General manager
Liquefied Petroleum Gas
(LPG)

General manager
Sales

Who are we and what
do we do?

The Afrox mission
Afrox will provide services and a focused range of performance
enhancing gases and welding products to valued customers,
through excellence in operations, customer service and delivery
and investment in infrastructure, people and technology for the
benefit of all stakeholders.

9

African Oxygen Limited Annual Report 2012

Overview
Business review
Support functions

Donal Mackinnon

Jan Storm

Jaco Wiese

General manager
Information Services

General manager
Tonnage

General manager
National Customer
Service Centre

General manager
Merchant and Packaged
Gases

Johann Cilliers

Willie Coetzee

Carnita Low

General manager
Communications

General manager
Rest of Africa

Company Secretary
and general counsel

The Afrox vision

The Afrox values

We will be the leading gases and welding products company
in sub-Saharan Africa, admired for our people, by any measure.

We believe that a passion to excel, innovating for customers,
empowering and thriving through diversity will result in a high
performing organisation. Moreover, by exercising these values with
integrity and in ways that are safe, sustainable and respectful, we
will create an organisation which all can be proud to work for and
in which everyone can find fulfilment.

Financial results and other information

Lerato Mosiah
General manager
Healthcare

Sustainability

James Poulter
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Notes to the financial statements
continued

Mike Huggon

Chairman’s statement
DEAR SHAREHOLDER

IN 2012, WE INvESTED TO
INCREASE CAPACITY AT EXISTING
SITES AND WILL IMPLEMENT
NEW PLANTS AND FACILITIES
WHERE THESE ARE REQuIRED.

Afrox is an established South African company with a proud history.
It has built its enviable reputation through the supply of gases
and welding products to a wide spectrum of customers drawn from
South Africa’s industrial, healthcare, hospitality, infrastructure, state
and commercial sectors. Today, it enjoys wide recognition and respect
and is regarded as one of the most valued and recognisable brands
within the South African industrial sector.
As a member of The Linde Group, Afrox has expanded into Africa
where it conducts business on its own behalf, but also manages and
operates plants and sites on behalf of its ultimate parent company.
Although in recent years the market performance of the company
has not met expectations, there is no doubt that these setbacks will
be reversed. Central to returning Afrox to its rightful position as a
pivotal supplier of quality products and services, is a comprehensive
‘turnaround’ strategy that is on track and the strategy already
shows benefits.

A NEW CEO AND STRuCTuRAL CHANGES
Driving the company on its new path and completing his first full year
at the company, is Brett Kimber, the new Chief Executive. Brett is a
seasoned CEO with many years of service in South Africa, within the
company he now leads. He has also accumulated valuable experience
on a global level through The Linde Group. Prior to his Afrox appointment,
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Overview

In his new position, Brett adds a desirable blend of local and global
experience that will be invaluable going forward. It is my firm belief
that the adoption of new business strategies, which will be accompanied
by structural and new management appointments, will bear fruit
well into the future.

Investment in new plant and maintenance will continue as required
to ensure that Afrox remains competitive and maintains the quality of
its products. Simultaneously, investments in cylinders and increases
in the transport fleet will continue to ensure that customer service
complies with specification and is delivered on time.

Following the introduction of the first phase of the turnaround strategy
in 2011, we have already witnessed the beginnings of recovery. There
is no doubt that the improved performance, which was driven by
the introduction of effective procurement, cost management and
operational efficiencies, has laid a solid foundation for the future.

ECONOMIC REvIEW

The Board looks forward to the benefits derived from this new approach.
An explanation of the steps taken to facilitate the company’s recovery,
including the steps to be introduced from January 2013, is set out in
the Chief Executive’s review.

During the reassessment of Afrox’s present position and discussions
about the future, the need for further investment in the company’s
infrastructure in South African and emerging African operations was
acknowledged.
This process is already firmly underway and a R1.5 billion capital
expenditure programme was identified. The programme will run
between 2013 and 2016.
One of the major projects identified is the development of a new site
on the outskirts of Durban. This state-of-the-art facility will replace
the Maydon Wharf site, from which Afrox operated for many years.
The proposed future development of a new deep-water harbour
would have impacted the Maydon Wharf facilities and the proposed
development inspired the decision to relocate to the new site outside
the congested harbour area. The beneficiaries of the investment
will be our KwaZulu-Natal customers who will have improved access
to Afrox products and services.
The Eastern Cape province, the epicentre of South Africa’s motoring
industry, has provided Afrox with significant opportunities for many
years. Our ability to provide enhanced product levels in this strategic
manufacturing region will be reinforced by the construction and
commissioning of a new air separation unit (ASu) with merchant
liquid and gas capabilities.
In 2012, we invested to increase capacity at existing sites and will
implement new plants and facilities where these are required. This
translated into net borrowings of R615 million (2011: R716 million),
with the Group’s gearing at 15.5%, compared to 17.4% for 2011.

The impact will be serious for the country. Investors, always looking
for a stable environment in which to operate, will be wary of South
Africa. The costs of international government borrowing will increase
and will have consequences for the ambitious infrastructure roll out
programmes that influence the growth of the nation.
A potential fall in the value of the Rand will also have consequences
for the economy. The Reserve Bank has maintained the interest rate
at its lowest level in many years. Inevitably, the increasing costs of
imports will lead to price increase pressures across the board. By
December 2012, the South African current account deficit had already
reached 6.4% of GDP. These factors lead to fears of increasing inflation
and may influence the Reserve Bank to increase the prime lending
rate to curb excessive consumer spending. Rising interest rates will
add to the pressures on commerce, industry and consumers alike. It
may lead to a dampened demand for products and services.
Going forward, it is essential to halt the present South African trend
of resorting to violence and protracted strikes to achieve economic
objectives. Halting the trend is vital to restoring local and international
confidence in the country and will also restore South Africa’s reputation
as a country where strong fiscal discipline and economic safeguards
are in place.

SAFETY AND THE ENvIRONMENT
The Board is conscious that, as a company which draws its primary
products from the atmosphere around us, Afrox has a duty to operate
in a responsible manner. We therefore take due care to ensure that
our operations conform to South African and international requirements
regarding emissions, water usage and waste control.
Considerable effort has been expended on ensuring that the welfare
of employees is ensured through the application of appropriate Safety,
Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) programmes. This focus will

Financial results and other information

INvESTMENT PROGRAMME

Locally, 2012 was a year of turmoil. A national drivers’ strike had a
major impact on the economy, while the events at Marikana mine
near Rustenburg had international repercussions. Spreading discontent
among farm workers in the Western Cape and increased labour pressure
on mines were serious factors that contributed to the downward ratings
applied to South Africa’s international financial standing.

Sustainability

The recovery initiated in 2012 will be consolidated in the 2013
operational year. It will include the introduction of a new integrated
business lines approach that will emphasise Afrox’s operational
strengths and the depth of skills available to the company. At the
core of this approach is a belief that driving customer service and
delivery are the essential elements that will lead to growth.

The Afrox investment programme is set against a challenging global
economic environment and it is impossible to fully avoid the impact
of that environment on a company that supplies essential products
to international exporting, manufacturing and industrial companies.
Where there is a decline in demand for products consumed in those
environments, Afrox, as a key part of the supply chain, is impacted
negatively.

Support functions

In Pretoria, a key new merchant product ASu installation, which
provides products for the Gauteng region and further afield, has now
been completed and the facility is fully operational.

Business review

he occupied senior positions in the gases industry in the uSA and
Asia. Brett was CEO of Linde operations in South Korea immediately
before his return to Afrox this year.
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Chairman’s statement
continued
continue to be a fundamental driver of our day-to-day operations.
The commitment to attain the highest standards possible in this
crucial arena led to the appointment of Stephen Moran, a highly
experienced manager from within The Linde Group. Stephen will
lead our SHEQ activities.

Consistent and cost-effective electricity supply is vital for Afrox’s
operations and the recently NERSA approved Eskom tariff increases,
at 8% per annum, cannot be absorbed. As with our other input cost
increases, these increases must be passed on to customers in the
form of product price adjustments.

Rest of Africa investment

Supporting its investment in energy-efficient technology, Afrox has
signed the Eskom Energy Charter, which commits it to reducing energy
through measures that range from the use of energy efficient lighting
and electric motors, to a partnership designed to reduce Afrox’s
electricity demand during peak periods.

Opportunities for growth beyond our borders are assessed constantly.
The economies of many emerging countries have been growing
steadily. Although Afrox has a significant footprint across Africa,
opportunities continue to open up in countries like Nigeria, Ghana
and Angola.
Expanding the Afrox footprint in Africa will require further investment
in systems in order to make operations compatible with those in South
Africa. This process has already begun and Afrox utilises additional
support from The Linde Group, particularly in the areas of technology,
commercial and operational best practice; this support is a key benefit
that the company enjoys as a member of The Linde Group.
It was pleasing to note that, during the year, Afrox became the first
industrial gases company in South Africa to receive international
accreditation for the high quality food grade CO2 it produces for
the growing consumer goods market and bottling industry. This
achievement will pay dividends by opening new market opportunities.
Despite the economic challenges experienced in Europe, the USA
and other parts of the world, Africa continues to flourish, prompting
many observers to describe the continent as the ‘New Asia’. The
expansion is characterised by burgeoning middle-classes with
disposable incomes. These emerging classes are creating new
markets for consumer goods. This translates directly into opportunities
for our company.
As part of one of the mature geographies within The Linde Group, Afrox
also enjoys access to world-class engineering skills and technologies
and applications technologies. These are significant differentiators
and advantages in the marketplace.

Prospects
Markets in South Africa are subject to several challenges. The country,
unlike its counterparts on the continent, cannot look forward to annual
GDP growth in the order of five to six percent.
As stated, the uncertainty within the mining sector, beset by industrial
action and confrontation, contributed to the nation’s economic ills.
The knock-on effect for suppliers to the mines has been considerable
and will have long-lasting effects on the economy at large.
Afrox consumes 448 842 megawatt hours of electricity a year. During
the past year Afrox’s electricity costs were approximately R280 million,
an increase of 22% compared to 2011 and approximately R180 million
more than the costs in 2006. Please refer to the Sustainability
section of this annual report on pages 38 to 45 for more information
on power, fuel usage and emissions.

Within the Western Cape, Afrox receives a monetary incentive for
significantly reducing its electricity off-take during peak evening hours.
This incentive is but one example of the measures being implemented
to reduce electricity costs.
New energy-efficient technologies will be implemented wherever this
is practical. In Pretoria, the introduction of energy-saving measures
was part of the plant project brief.
Despite these challenges, Afrox has the production facilities, national
network, products and skills base required to maximise opportunities
as they arise in South Africa and emerging economies in the rest
of Africa.
Concentrating on the issues of service and delivery is already bearing
fruit. Plant reliability has been improved considerably and customer
service levels were increased.

The Board
The Afrox Board consists of six independent non-executive directors,
four non-executive directors employed in executive capacities within
The Linde Group and three executive directors.
At the February 2013 Board meeting, Louis van Niekerk, the lead
independent non-executive director who has served Afrox since 2005,
announced that he would not be available for re-election at the
company’s annual general meeting in May 2013. During his seven
year tenure as a director, Louis contributed significantly to Afrox as
Chair of the Audit Committee and member of the Nominations,
Governance and Management of Resources and SHEQ Committees.
We thank him and wish him well for the future.
It is a pleasure to welcome Richard Gearing, Chris Wells and Sipho
Maseko as members of the Board.
Richard Gearing is Head of MPG Operations with BOC UK and brings
many years of invaluable experience in the gas industry.
Chris Wells is a Chartered Accountant (SA) and former partner and
Board member at Deloitte. He was Chief Financial Officer (CFO) at
Rainbow Chicken and McCarthy and subsequently moved to Transnet
where he held the positions of both Group CFO and Group CEO. He
left Transnet in 2011. He is presently Chief Executive of a private
investment company and holds a number of Board appointments.
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Both men are respected for their business acumen and will undoubtedly
make valuable contributions to the company as it enters one of the most
challenging and exciting periods in its history. I look forward to working
with them and to their contributions to the Board and Afrox.
During the year, Nick Thomson, a Chartered Accountant (SA), was
appointed Financial Director and joined the Board in April. Prior to
joining Afrox, Nick was Chief Financial Officer for Transnet Freight
Rail from 2005 to 2011. Prior to that, Nick was a Senior Partner at
Ernst & Young, a firm he joined in 1980.
Nick replaces Frederick Kotzee who served the company well during
his tenure. We wish Frederick well with his future endeavours.
During this reporting period, the Board announced the formation of
a Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee as required by the
Companies Act and Code of Governance Principles (King III).
Afrox actively implemented policies and monitored developments
relating to social, ethical and transformation matters for many years and
because these aspects are vital for our sustainability, the establishment
of the Committee ensures that social, ethical and transformation
issues will be dealt with consistently at an appropriate level.

Thanks
On behalf of the Board, I express gratitude to our customers, employees,
shareholders and stakeholders for their support in what has been a
challenging year.
I thank my Board colleagues for their contributions to assist and guide
the business. I look forward to your support in the year ahead.
My appreciation also extends to Afrox’s people. We know we can
fully rely on your commitment and enthusiasm. I appreciate all your
contributions to Afrox. With your ongoing support, I have no doubt
that we can achieve new heights and success in 2013.

Mike Huggon

Chairman
28 February 2013

Afrox has the production
facilities, national network,
products and skills base
required to maximise
opportunities as they
arise in South Africa
AND emerging economies
IN THE REST OF AFRICA.
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Sipho Maseko, a lawyer by profession, has extensive experience
across a broad spectrum of South African business. He is presently
Managing Director and Group Chief Operating Officer at Vodacom
SA, a position he assumed after several years at BP where he was
Chief Executive of BP Africa.
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Brett Kimber

Chief Executive’s review
The publication of the financial results for the year ended 31 December
2012, coincides with the completion of my first year as Afrox Chief
Executive.

BETWEEN 2007 AND 2012,
AFROX HAS INvESTED
R3.2 BILLION ON THE
INFRASTRuCTuRE OF YOuR
COMPANY AND ITS ABILITIES
TO MEET CuSTOMER NEEDS.

After spending 22 years working in the gases sector in South Africa,
the uSA and Asia, most recently as CEO of Linde, South Korea, I have
returned to South Africa to lead the company where I began my
career. Naturally, I found that much had changed during my absence.
The business focus at Afrox has shifted significantly. Some changes
impact the company’s competitive position and enabled our competitors,
none of them listed entities, to compete for market share in product
sectors where Afrox previously held its position as undisputed leader.
My primary task, imposed by the Board, was to identify the key issues
that affect Afrox competitiveness, to devise action plans to remedy
existing operational shortcomings and identify future opportunities
to address those effectively.
Since my arrival, armed with valuable advice and support from an
able senior management team and line managers throughout the
business, the focus of my activities was remedial action to restore
the company to the position of pre-eminence it once enjoyed in the
South African market.
In addition to this primary objective, we looked at programmes aimed
at consolidating our efforts in Africa and reinforcing our presence
on a continent that is undergoing major infrastructure opportunity
and other development.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BuILDING FOR THE FuTuRE
Corrective action to address operational issues has already begun.
This will be a continuing focus as the company goes forward. Our
primary objective is the introduction of a phased programme of
strategically considered combined activities to restore Afrox’s financial
performance. Central to all these actions will be efforts to revive the
previously renowned Afrox customer service ethos.
Naturally, this deceptively simple sounding objective will not be
achieved without implementing a holistic approach to our business.
Further investment in our operations and infrastructure will be required
to address some imbalances. These elements, by necessity, will also
be accompanied by prioritisation and realignment of operations and
structures to support the drive toward making Afrox a world-class,
high performance organisation (HPO).
A comprehensive strategic overview has already taken cognisance
of the competitive environment in which Afrox is operating. Also
taken into account are the organisational structure changes required
to align leadership capabilities with achievement of the strategy.
Please refer to the section on pages 16 to 17 for more on these
organisational changes.
Production shortcomings are being addressed, following a comprehensive review process.

We have long-term plans to modernise and expand. In December
the company announced a major capital expenditure programme that
involves a future investment of R1.5 billion. These plans are central
to the achievement of our business objectives.
As and when required, we will invest to renew ageing plant and
equipment. A second investment pillar involves the commissioning
of new plants to serve new business areas. In addition, the capacity
of existing facilities will be bolstered where required.
Afrox’s Durban Maydon Wharf site which has been in operation for
many years, will in the near future be replaced by a new facility
near umhlanga, north of Durban. The development of the new site
is underway, with Afrox currently concentrating on the required
environmental impact studies. Local residents in the area have
been aware of the project since its inception and are consulted as
the process continues.
The development of the new site will cost R500 million, cover
111 000 square metres and will facilitate filling 5 000 cylinders a
day, making it the largest project of its type ever undertaken by
Afrox. It will become a benchmark for The Linde Group’s industrial
gases operations across the world.
The new site will be constructed in phases. Phase one will involve
the development of an industrial and medical gas filling plant and
a dissolved acetylene station. This will be followed by an LPG plant,
premises for the Customer Engineering Services and an Afrox retail
Gas and Gear outlet. Space has also been allocated for the construction
of an ASu on the site.
Afrox is implementing the construction of a R250 million state-ofthe-art air separation unit in the Eastern Cape. The new plant will
produce 150 tons-per-day and will serve customers in Port Elizabeth
and the surrounding region. The plant will be beneficial to manufacturers
and merchant market businesses in the region. We are driving this
project aggressively to commission it by Q1 2015.
The new ASu will produce a range of industrial gases including highpurity oxygen, nitrogen and argon, virtually on customers’ doorsteps,
to consolidate secure supply and provide regional flexibility to assist
the growth of businesses in the Eastern Cape.

Financial results and other information

Overall, revenue of R5.6 billion was broadly in line with that reported
in 2011. Profitability was disappointing, but was affected by a tough
market in terms of both volume and pricing. A seven percent increase
in EBITDA in the first half of the year was followed by a two percent
reduction in EBITDA in the second half, resulting in a three percent
EBITDA increase for the year. Earnings increased by 48% year-onyear. Headline earnings declined 1% to R281 million.

The substantial investment in the key Pretoria air separation unit of
200 tons-per-day will lead to a major improvement in the volumes
of atmospheric gases becoming available to customers. Reliability
of the facility improved significantly. By year-end, the plant’s ‘uptime’
was recorded at a steady 98%.

Sustainability

Afrox’s revenue and profitability are exposed to the real economy. This
development largely reflects the inherent cyclicality of manufacturing,
mining and construction, as well as discretionary spending.

In this reporting period, Afrox committed R558 million to capital
expenditure. The company’s transport fleet was strengthened with
an additional 21 vehicles, bringing the total number of available
tankers to 100. The capital expenditure included further investment
in cylinders.

Support functions

Inflation, electricity cost increases, higher wages and increased
commodity prices, including steel and fuel prices, were challenges
for the Group from a selling price/cost recovery point of view in
2012. Other factors such as strikes and supply disruptions caused
more setbacks. Programmatically driven productivity improvements
lessened the negative impact these issues would otherwise have
had on profit.

CAPITAL EXPENDITuRE
Business review

The major opportunity we have in achieving our new business
objectives, are concentrated within the Afrox brand which commands
considerable respect within South Africa. This brand strength, combined
with the depth of expertise available within Afrox and the company’s
breadth of capabilities across the gases sector, provides the Afrox
team with strengths that will help us achieve comprehensive
market repositioning.
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Chief Executive’s review
continued
Customer service
The result of improved processes and capital investment must be
satisfied customers. Ultimately, the objective of meeting customers’
expectations requires measuring our efforts and successes.
A campaign to ensure that product deliveries remain within stipulated
time limits resulted in interesting statistics. Customers taking part in the
review process indicated that service levels rose steadily during the
year, with final results showing a 92% achievement rate. Continued
monitoring will ensure that future service levels are raised to higher
levels. Please refer to the Business review on pages 22 to 29 for more
information on this aspect of operations.
The Afrox National Customer Service Centre (NCSC) is a crucial link
between the company and its customers. The centre acts as a conduit
for the opening of business accounts, co-ordinating orders, invoicing,
revenue collection and resolving queries. The centre’s role assumed
a new significance as Afrox wants to secure improved service levels.
Reported failures to meet customer expectations are examined daily.
Covering all operational areas and extending the process to all Afrox
regions, the objective of the process is to understand customer
requirements. The process will also help to ensure that customers
understand and support processes relating to the delivery of
their products.
One of the duties of the NCSC is managing Afrox’s debtors book.
Reducing the number of debtor days was a major focus area in 2012.
To help achieve this, we appointed a team tasked with reducing
the present level by three days.
All aspects of Afrox’s book, including outstanding cylinder rentals,
are being examined. With the support of Afrox’s Information Systems,
we devised a programme to help the NCSC reconcile customer
accounts, consolidate pertinent information and despatch the
information to customers instantly.
A customer service team was established during the year to investigate
the root causes of all customer complaints. Our sales team interacts
with customers with follow-up discussions where necessary.
The customer retention process, introduced in 2011, proved extremely
valuable in 2012. The process was implemented in the service
department but involves using a questionnaire to assess complaints
and the effectiveness of Afrox’s follow-up activities.
Since June 2012, when the process was rolled out for all NCSC
activities, approximately 10 000 questionnaires were received from
customers. Overall, customers awarded Afrox a satisfaction rating
of 92%.
A major part of the NCSC’s commitment to the SHEQ process, with the
emphasis on quality, is to contact about 150 customers telephonically
each month and canvass opinions.
Customer approachability was increased by encouraging those that
use the Afrox Internet portal to contact the NCSC directly. Customers
now commonly request assistance about the availability of products
and use the site as a contact point.

In 2011, an electronic billing process was launched and the process
was completed in 2012. The system provides customers access to
an expanded My Account facility that allows direct access to all
account information and correspondence. The facility also allows
clients to lodge queries directly with the NCSC.
The credit application process was also adapted to an electronicallybased process. Retail customers wishing to open accounts at retail
Gas and Gear outlets, can request electronic assistance to complete
electronic applications.
The development of a customer scoring system in conjunction
with ITC, a major credit control and information bureau, aided the
evaluation of customers’ creditworthiness and to set appropriate
credit limits. The system also assists with the setting of appropriate
product pricing limits.

SHEQ
The provision of a safe, healthy working environment for all employees
is considered an operational imperative. Strengthening of the existing
safety, health, environmental practices and quality of our processes
and products was assessed during the year under review.
We have appointed a SHEQ General Manager, Stephen Moran, with
extensive international experience in the field within The Linde
Group, to place the required emphasis on these activities. Several
recommendations regarding the improvement of all procedures
have already been implemented. It is our objective to ensure that
Afrox, when benchmarked, will compare favourably to the standards
achieved by The Linde Group internationally.
One of the strategies adopted early in the SHEQ review process, was
the introduction of new standards for Afrox drivers, particularly
those driving tanker vehicles along South Africa’s major routes. In
the process, reduced driving hours and mandatory rest periods were
introduced and enforced.
Adoption of the strategies required re-examination of delivery
schedules and the introduction of appropriate steps to ensure that
deliveries were not compromised. Please refer to the section on
sustainability for more information on SHEQ programmes.

Structural changes
On 1 January 2013, we introduced a new company structure organised
on integrated business lines. This is driven by the need to ensure
that vital pillars of the business are supported by senior managers
with the skills required to deliver the business processes that will
be the focal points in the new financial year. The overall objective
of these changes is to realise improved financial returns in a
sustainable and growth-orientated business environment.
Following fact finding studies at all company operations and discussions
with staff, we determined that a move away from a matrix operating
model was required, to better align the organisation, but also to improve
performance and business focus.
The new operating model centres on a key integrated business
systems approach. This will allow us to deliver higher levels of
customer service. This premier level of service will be achieved
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An essential part of implementing the new process was identifying
the executive management team. In each case, selected people have
proven industry experience and the ability to deliver the benefits
of the new operating model.
A primary task of these managers will be to energise their teams to
achieve collective business goals sustainably. It will pave the way
to institute more informed and accurate market demand estimates
to contribute to improved efficiencies and productivity.

Outlook
Once the new structure is in place, the next phase will begin in
earnest. Together we will return Afrox to its rightful position as a
leader across the full spectrum of the gases industry. Areas for
improving performance have been identified and we will implement
the required actions to strengthen Afrox’s performance.
There is no doubt that, despite prevailing economic conditions,
these measures will bear fruit and provide a sound basis for further
expansion of our market share.

The rising costs of electricity are of serious concern to Afrox. These
costs impact our ability to control input costs and conduct business
competitively.
Afrox welcomes the recent restrained tariff increases of eight percent
tabled by NERSA. However, even this level of increase will have
consequences for Afrox and its large industrial customers.
Africa provides a logical growth point for our business. We are
currently engaged, with The Linde Group, in many of the emerging
countries within sub-Saharan Africa. Our focus in these countries
is the alignment of business practices to Afrox and Linde to the
benefit of operations in those countries. We are confident that
further investments in Africa will lead to increased financial reward.
The economic outlook for 2013 remains constrained and GDP growth
in South Africa is not expected to be in line with African emerging
markets. It is vital to resolve the present labour unrest plaguing the
mining and agricultural sectors to the benefit of all concerned. A
positive solution to the unrest and fragile labour issues, will help
South Africa concentrate on ‘business as usual’. If resolutions are
found, we could restore the confidence of local and international
investors in the country’s future.

Afrox has also submitted tenders for business in the state sector.
Success will reinforce our presence in this important area and
strengthen our position as a supplier, inter alia, to the state healthcare
sector and Transnet.

Despite these factors, we are cautiously confident that the changes
underway at Afrox will result in improved financial performance
during 2013.

The growing number of small LPG players is a matter of increasing
concern to Afrox. Many of those players may not necessarily operate
within the confines of stipulated safety regulations and they may
also cut their costs by pirating cylinders that belong to Afrox and
other mainstream LPG providers. Their activities place consumers at
risk and put pressure on margins of legitimate operators that bear
the safety and cylinder costs in a regulated market.

I thank the members of the Board and my Afrox colleagues at all
levels. The support during the year was strong and I have no doubt
that, given the commitment of our people, the company will go
from strength to strength.

Thanks

I look forward to an exciting and fulfilling 2013.

Afrox is playing a leading role within the industry to identify these
operators and to ensure that their activities are curtailed. We are
adamant that safety standards should be maintained and consumers
protected.
No prospective look at future success would be complete without
reference to the rising costs of energy. Our business is an energyintensive business that relies heavily on steady electricity supply.

Brett Kimber

Chief Executive Officer
28 February 2013
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through clearer accountability, improved decision-making and faster
execution of these decisions across the business.
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Notes to the financial statements
continued

Nick Thomson

Financial Director’s review
OvERvIEW
The finance team, together with our leadership group, have under
the sponsorship of the executive directors reviewed all components
of the Afrox business and have started to change the focus within
Afrox, with the emphasis on having a new foundation in place by
2014. This will facilitate the company’s commitment to reinforcing
its market leadership position across all operations through a
sustainable reduction in the company’s cost of doing business with
a far greater emphasis on effective cost management into the future,
the achievement of increased plant reliability through timeous
investment and maintenance and high levels of customer service.
The Financial Division has played a key supportive role in helping to
define parameters, assuming a strategic role in helping to achieve
corporate objectives during 2012, in what was a challenging and
competitive environment.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2012 was up six percent
to R5.6 billion (2011: R5.2 billion).
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)
increased three percent to R798 million (2011: R774 million).
Profit for the period was R283 million (2011: R195 million) and
headline earnings per share were 91.0 cents (2011: 91.6 cents).
Capital expenditure grew to R558 million (2011: R421 million).
Net borrowings were R615 million (2011: R716 million).
Gearing was 15.5% compared to 17.4% for 2011.
Cash generated from operations improved by 11% to R936 million
(2011: R844 million).

Sales volumes generally reflected the extremely difficult trading
conditions being experienced by our customers and the impact
of competition for market share. Revenue for the year ended
31 December 2012 was up six percent to R5.6 billion. The revenue
increase resulted largely from higher LPG selling prices as a result of the
increased oil price during the year and general selling price increases
across numerous industrial products which offset reducing volumes.
Overall, gas volumes have been under pressure for a number of
years. This has been partly due to the ongoing impact of the global
recession, which began in 2008 and has resulted in steep reductions
in demand for product from a broad spectrum of Afrox’s customers.
The ongoing downturn in the economy led many enterprises to examine
their sourcing practices and introduce a multi-sourcing approach to their
procurement that was based only on price. This led to considerable
pressure being applied to all companies operating within the gases
sector. Afrox was no exception to this new found reality.
Our main objective is to counteract this trend by winning back ‘lost’
volumes, by increasing service levels and building a new growth
platform that will see sales increasing steadily but at the same time
challenging our high footprint cost to significantly reduce our cost
of doing business and thus enhance our margins.
Medical atmospheric gases, provided to the state and private
healthcare hospitals, performed well with sales volumes growing
during the reporting period. This was also the case with packaged
industrial gases.
The demand for hard goods and welding consumables relies largely on
infrastructure development. Due to the reduction of major infrastructure
projects across the country, sales were sluggish during the year.
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Working capital at R472 million for 2012 improved from R568 million
in 2011.

In our results, Afrox has recognised all revenue due in terms of this
contract up to the financial half-year. Thereafter, Afrox has continued
to invoice ArcelorMittal in accordance with the underlying contract
but has not recognised the related revenue in its financial statements,
due to the fact that collectability is dependent on the outcome of
arbitration. The amount not included in 2012 revenue was R30 million.
Going forward, as the liquid oxygen and nitrogen contract has come
to an end, the ongoing effect will be restricted to the amount due
from argon of approximately R50 million per annum (plus escalation)
with this contract ending in December 2019.
During the financial year, the majority of Afrox’s long-term borrowings
had to be repaid.
At year-end, short-term bridging finance had been arranged. This
facility together with the remaining short-term portion of our longterm funding are now being reflected under current liabilities with
a negative impact on our current asset: current liability ratio. The
interest rates on the bridging facility are, however, significantly
lower than the borrowings it replaces.
Longer term borrowings are currently being negotiated, which will
replace this short-term debt. Afrox’s liquidity is still sound as is the
strength of the statement of financial position, thus the normal
level of cash dividends have been declared.
Once the long-term facilities have been put in place our current
ratio will normalise.
A decision was taken by the Board to dispose of the RECO business.
As a result, the annual financial statements reflect the property,
plant and equipment and inventory of RECO as available-for-sale.
Negotiations with a potential buyer are underway and the sales
agreement was finalised during February 2013.

In addition, R79 million (2011: R115 million) was invested in
commissioning the Pretoria ASu, the largest single investment Afrox
has made to date.
LPG is a major business activity for Afrox. To avoid winter shortages,
which have been common for several years, the company invested
in nearly 200 000 new 9kg cylinders, most of which were pre-filled
to eliminate supply chain bottlenecks and imported expensive LPG.
This improved Afrox’s ability to serve its customers, but did result
in margin erosion as imported LPG is more expensive than local
production and the regulated pricing mechanisms do not provide
for the recovery of the additional costs.
As part of The Linde Group initiative to become a high performance
organisation (in the finance arena similar to Sarbanes Oxley), the
finance community identified certain enhanced controls which were
put in place in the business ensuring that finance’s process controls
were at a global standard level.

OuTLOOK
Although overall trading conditions were challenging throughout
the year, the Group’s underlying business remains strong, supported
by a well-developed business footprint and distribution network.
While increased capital investment will continue, attention will be
paid to improving margins through greater efficiency, growth and
management of costs to levels that are appropriate to the business.
Afrox is poised from 2013 to move into the second phase of its
‘turnaround’ strategy, which will involve concentrating on growth.
Attention is to be focused to significantly improving the EBITDA
level from the current levels of 14%.
An integrated business system approach to planning Afrox’s activities
has been adopted, which will assist in identifying where investment
is required to increase customer service levels, as well as identifying
where future growth can be expected.
During this period, attention will be focused on market opportunities,
supported by investment in new projects. An anticipated R1.5 billion
will be devoted to the capital projects programme, which will boost
capacity and improve customer service in KwaZulu-Natal, Gauteng
and the Eastern Cape.

Nick Thomson

Financial Director
28 February 2013

Financial results and other information

As reported at our 2012 half-year results announcement, Afrox has
entered into a contractual dispute with ArcelorMittal, which has
elected not to honour the existing commercial contract. Although
ArcelorMittal has closed its Pretoria works, the company, in terms of
the existing contract, is required to make payments in compliance
with the take-or-pay provisions of the contract despite ArcelorMittal
not utilising the full quantity of product committed to procure from
Afrox. This matter is set down for arbitration, which is likely to be
heard in the last quarter of 2013 or first quarter of 2014.

Investments made during the year included improving plant capacity,
the acquisition of cylinders for the packaged and LPG businesses and
distribution vehicles to bolster service levels to customers and provide
a platform for future growth.

Sustainability

This improvement resulted from a continued focus on debt collection
and inventory management. However, working capital is still being
impacted by the state debt, which at an average of 125 days outstanding,
is a matter of some concern to Afrox.

Secondly, the Board has approved for Port Elizabeth, the acquisition
from Linde Engineering of a 150 tons-per-day GOX 3000 Air Separation
unit and allied storage and distribution equipment, for the production
of oxygen, nitrogen and argon at an estimated cost of R250 million.
This will allow Afrox to enhance customer offers in this important
region as well as to reduce the inherent risk arising from trucking in
bulk products over long distances. Work on the plant will commence
in 2013.

Support functions

The impairments were due to the economic circumstances of our
Kuilsriver plant resulting primarily from the consequence of the
ongoing closure of CISCO, its anchor customer; the lower than
required output of the Mondi plant requiring the continued buying
in of product to meet contracted commitments resulting in a minor
impairment being required. The impairment at RECO reflects the
likely position regarding the future consideration receivable. The
regulation of LPG domestic prices and the entry of small operators
into the market saw margins in the LPG business under pressure.

Two new significant capital investments were approved by the Board
during the 2012 financial year. These were: the land purchase in
Durban on which a campus comprising a new dissolved acetylene
plant, atmospheric gas filling plant, customer engineering workshop
and offices will be established. In due course, the (transfer from
Pinetown) establishment of a new LPG filling plant will also be
undertaken. It is anticipated the campus will be developed over the
next five years at a cost in excess of R500 million.

Business review

Basic earnings per share were favourably influenced by lower impairments of R31 million being recorded during 2012 (2011: R153 million).
The Mondi and Kuilsriver ASus were impaired by a total of R16 million
during the current year and the RECO business was impaired by
R15 million.
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Afrox products
PortaPak: The Afrox PortaPak is
engineered to take our cutting and
brazing skills anywhere. Portable
and robust, PortaPak keeps your
business mobile.

N

Nitrogen

Nitrogen is a colourless,
odourless, non-toxic, almost
totally inert gas comprising
approximately 79% by volume of
air. It is non-ﬂammable and will
not support combustion. Nitrogen
is supplied in cylinders
as a high pressure gas,
or in insulated containers
as a liquid.

Oxygen

O2

A colourless, odourless
and tasteless gas. Supplied
in high pressure steel cylinders.
Oxygen as a gas is slightly heavier
than air, but will dispense fairly
rapidly in a well-ventilated area.
However, it can remain for long
periods in cavities, trenches, pits
and vessels. Oxygen will also
remain for considerable periods
in clothing or similar
porous materials.

Saffire: Choosing the right
welding and cutting equipment
is your passport to a safe working
environment. Insist on Afrox gas
equipment and meet the highest
international performance and
safety standards. Buy Saffire, for
quality you can be sure of.

Argon
Argon is the third
most abundant of the
mixture of gases in the
air, the concentration being
approximately 0.94% by volume.
It is inert, non-toxic, colourless,
odourless and tasteless.
Supplied in high pressure
metal cylinders and
manifolded cylinder
packs.

Ar

HiQ: Precision matters in everything
we do, which is why our HiQ range
of gases and equipment provides
the accurate solution you need
for optimum control and minimum
impact on the environment.

AfroxPac 35i – SANS 1737:2008
compliant: There is no more
stringent testing ground than
a South African mine. The
new-generation AfroxPac 35i,
enhanced with new-age materials
and superior chemical containment,
embodies the already proven
success of the AfroxPac. More
robust and heat resistant than ever
before. unashamedly home grown
in the toughest mines on earth.
Sureserve: Sureserve provides
a full range of products from LPG
for cooking and heating, to Suremix
for beverages and Partigas for
balloons – but more than that,
Afrox is determined to deliver
what you need, when you need it.

Industrial: High power with
great performance. uncomplicated,
fully adjustable settings. Greater
control across welding applications,
including flux cored or gasless
welding. Afrox offers you a range
of heavyweight, efficient,
industry-leading MIG welding
machines.

CO2

Carbon dioxide

An odourless, colourless,
non-toxic, non-ﬂammable
gas. Supplied as a high pressure
liqueﬁable gas in metal cylinders.
It is 1.52 times heavier than air and
is very soluble in water, forming
carbonic acid. Solid carbon dioxide
known as dry ice will sublime
at atmospheric pressure and
-109°F to gaseous carbon
dioxide.

C2 H2
Acetylene
Acetylene is a highly
ﬂammable colourless gas of
distinct odour. The high solubility
of acetylene in acetone (300:1 by
volume at 1 100 kPa) enables it to
be supplied dissolved in acetone.
Acetylene cylinders are ﬁlled
with porous material which
carries the acetone.

Hydrogen

H2

Hydrogen is a colourless,
odourless, ﬂammable gas.
It is supplied as a permanent gas
at high pressure in metal cylinders.
Hydrogen is the lightest substance
known to man and is non-toxic,
although it does not support life.
It also burns, having a ﬂammability
range of 4-75% in air. Hydrogen is
useful to industry for three main
reasons: it is reactive, it burns
and it has a very low
boiling point.
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Helium

Scientiﬁc (HiQ) Pures, which are
of higher purity than the industrial
equivalent, sold under the HiQ
Lindesub-brand. These grades are
also known as ‘Baseline’ grade.
*Scientiﬁc made-to-order (MTO) mixtures.
*Scientiﬁc Process mixtures (stock items)
such as FoodFresh, Ripegas, etc.
*Scientiﬁc Regulator range,
for use with HiQ gases.
*Helium gas and liquid
Helium.

Refrigerants
Refrigerants are used in:
household air-conditioning,
commercial refrigeration
(e.g. supermarket, in medium
and low temperature range),
Industrial refrigeration, cold storage
room, frozen food display case, heat
pumps, transport cooling system,
chest freezers, automotive
air-conditioning, etc.
Afrox Refrigerants have
a broad spectrum
of applications

Vitemax: vitemax and
professional welders are the
power behind great achievements
in cities all over South Africa.
Often copied, but never equalled,
vitemax delivers the perfect weld
with a smooth and spatter-free
performance, ease of strikeability,
arc stability and excellent slag
release. Don’t compromise.
Team up with vitemax, the
champion electrode.

Ripegas: Afrox Ripegas allows
you to dramatically accelerate the
ripening process of fruit. Whether
the fruit has just been picked or is
taken from storage, you can go
from green to ripe in hours. That
means you can plan delivery to
coincide with the fruit’s optimum
texture, colour and flavour.

Financial results and other information

Scientiﬁc
and Helium

Transarc: Portable. Durable.
Functional. If you want
a do-it-yourself welding
machine, then choose Transarc.
This compact, lightweight
welding machine delivers
consistently, anywhere, anytime.

Sustainability

Chemicals
Chemicals covers both
Bulk Chemicals and Cylinder
Chemicals. Chemicals include,
Ammonia, Carbon Monoxide,
Ethylene, Methane, Methanol,
Hydrogen Chloride, Hydrogen
Sulphide, Sulphur Dioxide,
Sulphur Hexaﬂouride
and Propellants
(a mixture of propane
and butane)

Shielding Gases: By forming a
protective gas shield around the
welding contact point, Afrox
shielding gases prevent weld
defects. They are specifically
formulated and tested to deliver
the perfect weld. Prevent
structural integrity and aesthetic
appeal from being compromised
when working with sensitive
materials such as aluminium,
stainless steel and copper.

Support functions

Envirosols
New products
to replace toxic
products which will
be phased out.

FoodFresh: FoodFresh gases do
exactly what their name implies.
This innovative range of Modified
Atmosphere Packaging (MAP)
gases and gas mixtures lock in
food flavours, aromas and
colours. Forget about wastage –
FoodFresh extends shelf-life
dramatically.

Business review

Liquid helium has
a boiling point of
approximately –269ºC and is the
only substance that can be
practically used for deep low
temperature refrigeration. One of
liquid helium’s major uses is in the
cooling of superconducting
magnets, used in magnetic
resonance imaging (MRI)
systems and research
equipment.

Overview

HE2

Refrigerants: For cooling
applications, we are the gas
specialists. Supplying you with
convenient disposable and
refillable cylinders, so your
customers stay cool and
confident at all times.
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Business review
Afrox, as part of The Linde Group, one of the world’s leading providers
of gases, engineering and technology solutions, operates in South
Africa and in 11 other African markets, where it meets the demands
of a highly diversified range of customers involved in sectors that
range from heavy industry to healthcare and the hospitality industry.

AFROX ACHIEvED ITS AIM
OF A NATIONAL AvERAGE 92%
CuSTOMER SATISFACTION
RATING IN 2012.

Afrox manages five operations on behalf of The Linde Group in
Kenya, Zimbabwe, Nigeria, Tanzania and uganda. In all its markets,
Afrox is a leading supplier of large volume on-site and bulk gases,
cylinder gases, scientific and medical gases, refrigerants, packaged
chemicals as well as helium and associated products. It also serves
markets with their requirements for gas equipment, welding
consumables and industrial safety products.

THE AFROX RELATIONSHIP WITH THE LINDE GROuP
Afrox is managed according to Linde global best practice, encompassing
business processes, management, technology, environment, employment,
relations with suppliers, customers and society and in the manner
in which the Group is governed. The company benefits enormously
from being in a position to access a depth of worldwide expertise.
Afrox is not a wholly-owned subsidiary of Linde and is listed on two
stock exchanges, namely South Africa and Namibia. A relationship
agreement is in place to govern conduct between the majority
shareholder and the company according to rules and regulations
pertaining to South Africa and Namibia. A robust governance structure,
including the presence of a lead independent non-executive director,
ensures protection of all shareholders’ interests and of the other five
independent non-executive directors.
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Overview

main areas of business
Within this arm of the business, air separation technology is used for
the production of oxygen, nitrogen and argon. Leading technology
is also used within CO2 plants and for the production of special
gases through specialist facilities.

The supply of bulk, liquefied gas products is undertaken by road
tankers. Products transported by bulk tankers include liquefied
nitrogen, oxygen, argon and CO2.

Packaged gases range from dissolved acetylene for welding purposes,
through to scientific gases, some of which are used for calibrating
sensitive equipment and refrigerants. Other gases supplied include
helium, argon, oxygen, nitrogen, welding shielding gases, propellants
and packaged chemicals. Special products and chemicals include
refrigerants that are supplied in small quantities to specialised users,
or in bulk drums to industries. Gaseous chemicals are supplied in
bulk or cylinder form.
Afrox medical gases are produced for the healthcare sector, including
state and private hospital networks and home-based care. All Afrox
medical gases are registered with the Medicines Control Council as
pharmaceutical products in accordance with statutory requirements.
The company is proud that Afrox was the first gases company in South
Africa to achieve registration of all its products.

The sale of LPG in South Africa is regulated by the Department of
Energy (DoE), which controls all energy matters in South Africa,
including the control of selling prices. The DoE is also a stakeholder
in Petro SA, one of the nation’s largest refinery operations and
supplier of LPG.
The DoE also regulates imports of LPG and co-ordinates planned
maintenance closures of refineries in the country. These refineries
are the main suppliers of LPG to Afrox.
When shortages (due to planned or emergency shutdowns at
refineries) are anticipated, Afrox does import LPG to help stabilise
the market and ensure customers have access to LPG.

HARD GOODS
Hard Goods encompasses the supply of welding electrodes, MIG
wire and welding equipment for gas and arc welding requirements.
Regulators, torches and safety equipment are also supplied to countries
beyond the South African borders where Afrox conducts business.

REST OF AFRICA
Continental Africa is undergoing an investment boom as international
investors are committing vast sums to emerging markets where the
rapid development of infrastructures is creating new opportunities
for investors and local citizens alike.
A growing middle class across all markets supports the growth of
gas sales in sectors ranging from food and soft drinks to healthcare.
In all these market segments, Afrox is poised to play a major role as
demand increases for all its products and services.

Financial results and other information

Packaged gases, supplied to customers in cylinders, are used for
applications that include industrial, mining, commercial, domestic,
scientific and medical activities. The range of products available is
dictated by the wide-ranging applications.

Afrox is a major South African distributor of LPG. It supplies LPG to
bulk users in all major sectors of the South African market. Packaged
LPG, under the brand name Handigas, is supplied in cylinders to users
requiring smaller volumes.

Sustainability

Major consumers of gas products are supplied through over the
fence schemes, to ensure a constant product supply that is piped to
the respective premises from Afrox plants placed in close proximity
to consumer sites. This ensures that customers have stipulated
volumes of product available at their sites. Product supply is based
on long-term negotiated contractual periods of up to 20 years.

LIQuEFIED PETROLEuM GAS (LPG)
Support functions

Air separation units (ASus) are used for the production of high volume
gas products. These facilities are located in South Africa and other
areas of Africa to meet market demands and customer needs. Several
delivery mechanisms are used to ensure timeous delivery and
complete customer service.

Medical gases are also supplied to other sub-Saharan countries where
Afrox conducts operations. The supply of gases to these countries is
supplemented by the submission of legally required dossiers and
training materials.

Business review

ATMOSPHERIC GASES

24

African Oxygen Limited Annual Report 2012

Business review
continued
Overview
Despite its significant operational footprint in Africa, the foundation
of Afrox’s business remains in South Africa. This is still the dominant
economic region on the continent and remains a key link in the
overall African strategy of The Linde Group. Since 2008, the African
continent has enjoyed outstanding economic growth, albeit from a
low base in some countries. The growth in those countries exceeds
South African GDP growth which has been impacted by a number
of factors.
The most important limiting factor in South Africa’s economic growth
is the inability of Eskom, the national electricity provider, to keep pace
with economic development, resulting in a situation where electricity
costs have risen exponentially, placing pressure on business, particularly
within the industrial and manufacturing industries.
During the year, market activity remained depressed and cost
pressures continued as rising fuel and electricity prices affected
margins and production.
An unsettled labour environment, characterised by strikes and
violence, caused a production drop in key industries such as mining.
Labour action caused a reduced demand for gases and hard goods,
with negative implications for Afrox.
As a major supplier of products to the government sector, particularly
the public healthcare sector, past-due accounts receivables remain
a problem.
Despite increasing levels of competition in some mainstream sectors
and declining sales volumes in others, caused by economic factors,
the company’s revenue increased by six percent.
Although the manufacturing sector was in part subdued by prevailing
economic conditions, the loss of sales of packaged gases within
this sector was in part offset by demand from vital infrastructure
projects. The most important of these were Eskom’s ‘new build’
sites, for the construction of new power stations, and contracts with
Transnet Rail for the supply of oxygen, argon, CO2, LPG and welding
consumable materials.
The automotive sector continued to be a good source of income.
Supply problems experienced in this industry in 2011, were resolved
in 2012.
The food and beverage sector, a large consumer of CO2, was marked
by increased activity during the year. Sales to leading and smaller
independent soft drink bottling companies were up as a result.
Competition in the LPG sector increased sharply as small operators
took advantage of the ability to access refineries directly to secure
their product. Several LPG tenders are being considered and a
positive outcome could lead to a significant increase in the volume
of LPG sales in 2013.
The introduction of new products such as Lindoflamm, which offers
manufacturers and fabricators innovative preheating, flame
straightening and heat-treatment solutions, presents a solid sales
opportunity for 2013. Lindoflamm, although relatively new in the

market, is attracting serious attention and has been selected by
several customers that are bulk users of gases and welding consumables.
An internal focus on raising customer service levels to ensure
improved efficiencies undoubtedly played a part in stabilising our
market shares. Going forward, it is anticipated that further strides in
the service arena will supplement gains in our competitive markets.
This will not only strengthen relationships with existing customers,
but enhance the company’s position when acquiring new business.
Where possible, technology was introduced to improve inventory
control and delivery standards. The introduction of high-resolution
cameras at Afrox sites played a part in improving logistics. The systems
allow for automated cylinder counts and also matches product type
and quantities. This ensures that delivery mandates are complied
with quickly and efficiently. Advances in scheduling systems also
contributed to maximising transport logistics through increased
delivery efficiencies.
A new system of tagging and monitoring cylinders will improve
control of these assets. Many of the cylinders in circulation attract
monthly rental fees. Improved tracking systems to track the number
of cylinders at a customer, showing the number of cylinders returned
and the number of ordered cylinders, will improve revenue flows
from this source of income. The system will vastly improve control
of the cylinder asset-base.
Two business imperatives were identified and implemented in 2012.
The first business requirement was a focus on SHEQ issues relating
to Afrox’s fleet of delivery vehicles and driver training. Steps taken to
address serious SHEQ issues relating to the Afrox fleet are discussed
comprehensively in the SHEQ review. The review forms part of the
Sustainability section on page 38.
The second imperative was to increase customer service levels. It is
also one of the major requirements identified for continued attention
with the introduction of the new integrated business system
approach in 2013. Please refer to the Chief Executive’s review for
more information.
During the last two quarters of the 2012 financial year, Afrox achieved
its aim of a national average 92% customer satisfaction rating. All
sites are now required to measure their delivery success rates daily
to ensure that this service level is sustained and improved upon.
The figures obtained are analysed by the National Customer Service
Centre (NCSC). Any reported service failures are addressed and
rectified in consultation with the particular customer affected by
the failure to render service at the expected levels.
Similar measures are being introduced at Afrox warehousing facilities,
which are administered by an outsourced company.
A new range of energy-efficient freezing tunnels and spiral freezers
was launched during the year. The products are designed for use in
the food industry and use nitrogen for the freezing process.
The South African metals industry presents particular challenges.
The industry is under stress due to the dual pressure of high prices
and decreasing demand. Inevitably, the pressures affect Afrox as
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Prospects for the steel and non-ferrous metals industry in 2013 remain
uncertain. Afrox will be identifying ways of meeting challenges
within the industry and will explore other avenues to find buyers for
products that are normally absorbed by customers in this key
market segment.

Atmospheric gases
The year under review was challenging for the Atmospheric Gases
business. This sector is affected by several factors, which include
the rising costs of electricity and the reduced demand for products
in some sectors of the economy, especially the steel industry.
On the electricity front, Afrox is a member of the Energy Intensive
User Group. This is a liaison function initiated by Eskom, South Africa’s
state-owned supplier of electricity. As part of this initiative, Afrox
works closely with Eskom’s demand-side management team to
identify ways of efficiently reducing Afrox’s power consumption. The
measures include benefiting from the Eskom rate rebate programme
for reducing electricity demand during national peak periods.
The problems experienced in 2010 and 2011 with plant reliability at
the Witbank ASU complex which affected supply agreements with
Evraz Highveld Steel and Columbus Stainless Steel were not a factor
in 2012 as its Witbank plant operated to a high level of reliability.
Afrox will continue to supply products to Highveld for 18 months and
Columbus for up to five years under their existing contracts. There
are ongoing negotiations with Columbus on their future supply
requirements. Negotiations with ArcelorMittal in Pretoria continued
during 2012. The focus of discussions with this steel producer is the
resolution of contractual issues at the Pretoria plant involving a
dispute around the take or pay provision in the commercial contract.
Attention remained focused on the reliability of air separation units
(ASUs), crucial to the production chain. The ASUs are key to the
ongoing efficient supply of products to Afrox customers. Efforts in
2012 had a positive impact on plant reliability.
Production availability of ASU installations increased steadily to 98%
during the year. Energy management programmes played a part
in the efficient management of the facilities. The overall cost of
electricity at air separation operations account for up to 80% of all
Afrox’s energy costs. Those costs were reduced by approximately
eight percent during the year.
All planned investments to enable remote operating were completed.
This played a significant part in increasing plant reliability and aligned
Afrox with global Linde practice. Nearly all Afrox’s ASU installations
are now run from the UK, while some CO2 operations are being
monitored and controlled from the USA.
This geographic split ensures that engineers monitor operations
24 hours-per-day. All faults are reported to support staff in South
Africa to ensure appropriate action to rectify the situation.
Work was completed on the Pretoria ASU plant. This R193 million,
200 tons-per-day ASU plant will enhance Afrox’s capacity to meet
customer needs.
One of the major challenges that affected customer reliability and
product supply occurred when hydrogen contamination developed
in a line feeding CO2 from a Western Cape supplier to Afrox. Operational
safety required a shutdown of the Afrox facility. Customer obligations
were met by transporting liquefied CO2 by road tankers to customer
installations at significantly increased cost.
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a leading supplier of gases, particularly oxygen, consumed in the
manufacturing process in this industry.
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Business review
continued
Although merchant and ASU gases sales volumes decreased by
five percent in some areas within the segment, the decline was
offset by better sales in other areas. However, overall demand for
ASU gases remained under pressure in all sectors.
Sales volumes of industrial cylinder gases grew during the year under
review. Volume demand was driven by continued orders from the
infrastructure development sector. Demand from the manufacturing
sector, mirrored the prevailing economic situation, increasing only
within limited areas of activity.
Although merchant CO2 sales volumes remain the same as the prior
year, the sales value increased substantially especially in the Eastern
Cape due to supplier plant contamination and additional surcharges
being raised.
On the industrial side, good growth was reported, as demand for
shielding gases used in welding applications increased.
Afrox provides hospitals with medicinal gases in cylinders or bulk
tanks. Gases manufactured for use in wards, high-care units and
doctors’ rooms meet the diverse needs of medical practitioners and
range from medical oxygen to anaesthetics (medical nitrous oxide).
The medicinal gases also include products used for short-term pain
relief and conscious sedation of patients (Entonox).
Delivery to patients may be in cylinder form, or the gas may be piped
using wall outlets connected to bulk tanks.
Medical demand is not as vulnerable to downturns in economic
activity as other areas of demand. Demand for products and services
grew steadily during 2012, despite increased competition from new
entrants into the healthcare sector.
Volume growth benefited from hospitals undergoing refurbishments,
changing from cylinder supplies to bulk schemes.
During the year, a new product, the Inogen One G2 portable oxygen
concentrator, was introduced to improve the quality of life for mobile
and active chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients.
Due to the compact nature of this medical device, patients can take
it anywhere making it a significant factor in increasing quality of life
due to its portability.
In order to streamline access to homecare services, a seamless
order-to-cash process was introduced. This sped up delivery to
patients and also met the information and billing needs of various
medical aid funds.
In a drive to reduce costs, more medical aid funds started migrating to
a tender system, requiring suppliers to tender for the supply of products
and services for set periods of up to two years. Afrox, with its wide
range of products and the ability to deliver direct to homecare patients
at competitive prices, is well placed to win its share of these tenders.
State hospitals are a key segment of Afrox’s market. A new call for
tenders for a three-year contract period is expected to be awarded
early in 2013.
Looking forward, Afrox is well placed to take advantage of the
growing atmospheric gases business in the Eastern Cape, home
to most of the country’s automotive sector. Afrox’s position as the
leading supplier to motor manufacturers and others within Port
Elizabeth and surrounding areas will be strengthened through
commissioning an ASU plant and merchant facility.

Relocation of Afrox’s KwaZulu-Natal facilities from the crowded
Maydon Wharf area to a site near Umhlanga Rocks is running according
to plan. This R500 million facility will meet the demands of the region
for many years to come.
Other significant strategic investments are being pursued. Some of
these investments are in the form of competitive tenders for the
development of facilities in various parts of South Africa. We are
confident that Afrox, with its national footprint and access to local and
global expertise, will be a positive contender for many of these projects.
During the 2013 financial year, the emphasis within the bulk gases
business will be on introducing further product quality improvements.
Quality is crucial to the sustainability of Afrox’s operations. This is
particularly so when products, such as CO2, are used in the production
of beverages and food.
Operating at levels demanded by customers complying with the
requirements of the Global Food Safety Initiative (GFSI) is motivating
demand for improvements across all Afrox supply chain activities
related to the food industry. Afrox is meeting this requirement by
conducting a critical review of all its processes, ensuring that all
activities, from gases production management to delivery, comply
with the highest standards.
It is with considerable pride we report that in 2012 Afrox became
the first gases company in South Africa to receive the GFSI rating for
the production of CO2, the most widely used gas in the beverage
and food sectors.
Being in the tonnage business is an essential part of a full-fledged
gas company. The major risks associated with the production of bulk
gases at ASUs are process safety, quality systems and the availability
of skills.
Risk assessments and process safety reviews of production facilities
are conducted continually to mitigate risk. Quality systems are
subject to constant monitoring and upgrading. Afrox’s considerable
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The lack of locally available skills in all professional engineering
disciplines and a shortage of skilled artisans remain a concern. This
is being addressed through various programmes. Please read more
about these programmes in the Human Resources review on pages
31 to 35 of this report.

Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG)
During the 2012 review period, volumes were below previous years.
Sales revenue was up five percent due to increased LPG product
cost being passed onto customers.
Steady local production of LPG was restored in 2012, enabling markets
for LPG to stabilise. However, in reaction to the disruptions that
occurred in 2011, other market interventions were introduced. The
most important of these was increased liaison between the Department
of Energy (DoE), which regulates the LPG market in South Africa,
refining companies responsible for LPG production, major wholesalers
and retail sellers, such as Afrox.
The increased liaison enabled all parties to participate in plans to
mitigate the consequences of any product shortage and repetition
of the negative incidents that disrupted business in 2011.
For Afrox, customer security was improved in 2012 through the
build-up of reserves of imported LPG, initially purchased to partly fill
the local production shortfall. Although imported LPG may be available
at source at lower prices than local rates, this cost advantage is
nullified by the costs of transporting the product to South Africa and
the additional internal logistics cost of distributing the product.

The LPG market has always been competitive. During the year, more
suppliers entered the market. In an environment where maximum
prices are regulated for the domestic market, profit margins were
under pressure. Afrox was forced to closely evaluate cost-effective
ways to source products and reassess distribution costs to retain
and grow market share.
It is expected that competition will increase during the year ahead.
It is expected that a petroleum company that uses its retail service
stations as LPG distribution points, will divest itself from those
operations early in 2013. Such a move could mean that a new,
aggressive supplier may enter the market.
As part of its response to increased competition, Afrox examined its
present bulk distribution strategy and the various cost advantages
of moving some products to key supply points in the country by rail,
rather than by road tanker.
The levels of illicit LPG dealing are still a matter of major concern
within the industry. In many cases, these dealers may not adhere to
safety regulations that govern the filling of cylinders. They may also
not invest in their own cylinders, but use cylinder stock that belongs
to others.
As the LPG market leader, Afrox is most vulnerable to illegal or
irresponsible activities and suffers significant monetary losses due
to illegal use and theft of LPG cylinders. Afrox adopted policies
that apply to three levels of activity, to fight the growing illegal
LPG trade.
Firstly, the company investigates any complaints before confronting
illegal dealers. Secondly, where considered appropriate, Afrox
institutes legal steps against illegal operators. Finally, through industry
associations and its links with government, Afrox continues to work
for the enforcement of regulations to keep the industry safe.
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attention devoted to this operational requirement was rewarded by
obtaining the highly prestigious GFSI rating.
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Business review
continued

Our campaign was so
successful that some
illegal operators
approached Afrox,
requesting assistance
to become bona fide
operators.
In 2012, these efforts were enhanced by consumer awareness
media advertising campaigns, launched in areas where illegal trading
and cylinder use were prevalent. Concentrating on the risks associated
with using LPG cylinders that do not adhere to industry specifications,
the campaign urged consumers to buy LPG from authorised dealers
only. Our campaign was so successful that some illegal operators
approached Afrox, requesting assistance to become bona fide
operators.
Government sees LPG as a clean alternative cooking and lighting
fuel, offering poorer communities an opportunity to move away from
coal, paraffin and candles that pose inherent safety risks. Much has
to be done before anything concrete can be done to introduce LPG
to these communities.

Hard Goods
Overall, Hard Goods sales increased by six percent in the year under
review. This was achieved despite continued pressure on pricing and
increased competition from importers of low-cost products.
Significant investment in the Brits electrode factory during the past
two years resulted in new installed equipment. Scrap rates reduced
significantly. The continued increase in steel prices is a major
impediment to the production of low-cost welding products. In
trying to counteract the unavoidable cost increases, innovative
production techniques were introduced to increase outputs and grow
market share.
The focus on service, combined with strong products, renowned
brands and the quality of products within the Afrox stable, should
enable Hard Goods to grow, despite the entry of lower-cost global
suppliers into the South African market.
Strong customer back-up and the expertise offered to Afrox customers
will continue to be key elements that make Afrox a supplier of choice.
This is particularly true in South Africa where skills are limited and
customers often seek technical advice from suppliers.
This proactive approach means that Afrox took steps to enhance
the customer experience at all levels. This began with simplifying
the customer credit application process by introducing simpler
electronic systems and pre-approved credit limits, including stream
lined product delivery.

The major impediments, preventing common LPG use in homes,
include the price structures. LPG is a by-product of the price sensitive
petroleum refining process and as such it is difficult to absolutely
regulate prices. Replacing household appliances with gas ones will
be expensive and consumers are naturally reluctant to dispose of
existing electrical appliances.

Importing components for equipment assembled in the Gas Equipment
Factory (GEF) started during the year. Afrox sourced the required
components from several countries with low-cost manufacturing
capabilities and in that process Afrox significantly reduced input
costs related to these items. The ability to purchase components in
‘lots’ that match the required GEF outputs ensured vastly reduced
wastage and scrap levels.

LPG is marketed in cylinders of various sizes containing various
volumes of gas. The control of these cylinders, to ensure that there
are enough in circulation and that there is sufficient back-up stock,
is one of the major management requirements of the business.

During the year a new, modular assembly process was commissioned.
This process offers major production and quality advantages to Afrox,
allowing the company to enhance outputs while reducing costs.

Afrox continually liaises with its distributors about all aspects of
cylinder management. Systems were introduced to optimise the
efficient flow of cylinders. Afrox storage sites were examined and
measures were introduced to optimise storage and distribution.
The risks involved in storing and distributing a flammable product
is mitigated through several entrenched Afrox programmes. The
programmes ensure testing and maintenance of all cylinders. If bulk
liquid containers or cylinders are moved, purpose-built tankers and
cylinder vehicles are used to transport the containers or cylinders.
Driver training forms an important part of Afrox’s safety commitment.
Afrox also designs and installs LPG systems and manifolds used within
the hospitality industry. The company is preparing a safety video to
be supplied to users in an attempt to further increase awareness of
the safe use and maintenance of these systems.

Development of an Afrox-designed new regulator was a highlight
of the year. The regulator enjoys global recognition as a major
advance in the manufacturing of these devices. According to
expectations the device, as soon as it becomes readily available,
will open new markets for Afrox. Most of the produced units are
expected to be exported.
Research and development activities led to the launch of the
Transarc 1630 range of welding consumables. The range is proving
to be very popular among welders and has already carved a niche
for itself in the local market.
The AfroxPac, a self-contained, self-rescuer commonly used by miners,
was redesigned in 2012. The modifications make it one of the most
advanced units available on the market. In recognition of this, a
major mining concern ordered 26 000 units for delivery in 2013.
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Africa continued to reflect its status as a favoured international
investment destination for investors. Some investors are still wary of
the economic downturn in many developed countries and accordingly,
they continue to invest in the development of infrastructure, industry,
commerce, mining and agriculture on the African continent.
One of the main factors influencing growth is the wide range of
commodities mined in Africa and the exploitation of newly discovered
oil and natural gas reserves. For Afrox these activities translated into
a year of sustained growth, generating revenues of R849 million.
The region Gross Profit After Distribution Expenses (GPADE) was
R314 million which translates into 21% of the Group’s GPADE.
Afrox subsidiaries in Africa, as well as the five countries managed
on behalf of Linde, are well positioned to benefit from the full range
of gases and welding equipment offered, especially where the
available ranges are in high demand in those countries.
The African prosperity translated into the development of burgeoning
middle classes. This leads to a direct demand for consumer products,
beverages and improved healthcare. Afrox remains a preferred supplier
in all those areas.
Market acceptance of Afrox gases and products was supported
by the high level of brand recognition. In all markets, products are
regarded as products of the highest quality, because they are
produced by a company with high operational, safety and ethical
standards, committed to operations in host countries. The brand
recognition and sound history augurs well for Afrox in a market
where competition from other suppliers increases rapidly.
In some countries distribution capacity was improved. Where required,
facilities were upgraded. During the year, ASUs, dissolved acetylene
plants and cylinder filling stations were upgraded. Maintenance
and preventive management procedures were improved to ensure
continued operations.
Several economies, particularly those of Kenya, Nigeria, Namibia
and Angola are expected to grow considerably faster due to the
positive exploration of their natural resources. The need to upgrade
infrastructure in these and other countries will open solid opportunities.
The commitment of many countries to establish investor-friendly
environments through a review of legislation and regulations will
undoubtedly add impetus to economic development and Afrox’s
growth strategies.

In Nigeria, construction of an ASU was approved. This will mark Afrox’s
entry into the lucrative oil and fuel sector of the Nigerian economy.
Despite reduced international demand for copper, Zambia continued
to prosper and secure increased growth through its mining sector.
Mozambique benefited from the discovery of sustainable coal deposits
and is on the verge of exploiting its natural gas reserves. It is a soughtafter investment destination. Growth, led by investment from South
Africa, means Afrox is well positioned to grow market share.
During the year under review, Afrox, as the source of much-needed
industry expertise, concentrated on introducing policies and systems
designed to streamline and standardise business practices. One of
the main policies involved the campaign to align information systems
and reporting procedures within all Afrox businesses. This involved
many aspects, including alignment of accounting packages and
practices, effective e-mail systems and the development of Internet
connectivity. See Information Services review on page 30.
Changes to the overall organisational and management structures
within the African sphere, strengthened operations by creating
facilities where managers are fully versed in operational requirements,
corporate governance standards and procedures.
The benefits of these changes resulted in increased transparency,
improved operational outputs and higher levels of governance. Afrox
now has a strong base from which to capitalise on growth opportunities
as they arise. The commitment of The Linde Group to participate in
further investment in Africa augurs well for sustained growth.
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Support functions
INFORMATION SERvICES REvIEW

THE MAJOR CHALLENGE DuRING
THE YEAR WAS EXPANDING THE
AFROX NETWORK INTO AFRICA
AND ENSuRING RESILIENT,
REAL-TIME CONNECTIvITY
ACROSS ALL OPERATIONS.

The Information Services (IS) function within Afrox drives implementation
and support of globally strategic, best of breed systems and processes
in support of the business drive to become a high performance
organisation. 2012 has seen significant growth of the IS footprint
geographically, as well as expansion of the systems and solutions
supported within the IS arena through successful project deployment
of new solutions. The speed of change within developed economies
has been significant over the recent few years. IS strives to enable
our business to evolve successfully within this dynamic environment.
All change, however, is required to be delivered in a controlled
environment and Afrox IS prides itself in its strict adherence to the
Group project methodology for successful project delivery and in
compliance of best governance practices including compliance to
King III recommendations and global Linde Group exacting standards
for security and compliance. Despite significant growth in the
coverage of Information Services, the cost to deliver has been reduced
over the past two consecutive years. This has been achieved through
optimising resources, challenging costs and mothballing or downgrading
support functions in line with latest business requirements and
priorities. Our relationship with our outsourced partners has delivered
good value-add benefits for both parties, enabling growth of services
in line with requirements without spiralling costs.

EXTENDING THE FOOTPRINT
The most significant change to the IS scope of coverage was delivered
in 2012 with the deployment of network connectivity across our entire
African region, bringing 11 new countries into the Global Linde domain.
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Overview

Governance and controls are continually being strengthened and
improved by incorporating best practices from external parties and

HuMAN RESOuRCES REvIEW
After setting a firm base with implementation of plans developed in
2011, Human Resources (HR) focused on the following mandates in
2012: People development; performance management; leadership
development and flawless execution of these procedures across the
African business.

Financial results and other information

Leveraging the international buying power of The Linde Group
on core strategic solutions has delivered significant synergistic
benefits, both in favourable pricing and support models with
global suppliers. On the sustainability front, Afrox moved onto a
global telecommunications platform, partnering at The Linde Group
level with AT&T as a global provider for all global and wide area
networks. Both hard and soft benefits are being realised from this
global arrangement for the net benefit of the Afrox business.

Energy-savings initiatives have been introduced within Afrox’s IS
operations leading to electricity usage reduction in excess of 30%
by changing cooling fan systems in server rooms. Further savings
are being delivered through the recent introduction of motion sensors
in the IS offices to regulate power consumption on lighting and airconditioners. This initiative, once proven, will be considered across
all Afrox sites where relevant. Further initiatives, including investigation
into energy-efficient monitors and fully managed print solutions, are
also ongoing to further reduce power consumption, toner consumption
and paper consumption.

Sustainability

The expansion of IS is not restricted to enabling growth in Africa.
Paragon, the global HPO solution for distribution scheduling of our
Industrial cylinder and Hard Goods fleet, was introduced to drive
efficiencies in our distribution process. This was successfully deployed
in South Africa, as part of a global deployment, leading to a significant
reduction in our distribution cost per nominal delivered. Within the
financial space a new, best of breed, planning and forecasting tool
was successfully deployed into the business, leveraging off a solution
previously implemented in Region uK. TM1 was deployed in time to
significantly improve our 2013 budget process, and has since been
utilised to give the business transparency and granularity in 24-month
forward looking sales, volume and financial forecasting. Assistance
to the sales teams was delivered by way of the Pricing Margin Tool,
which provides the sales force with an online tool to gain the
necessary workflow authorisation to approve new contracts under
negotiation with major customers. We also enabled shortened lead
times to introduce a new customer through the locally developed
online customer application form. New customer EDI on-boarding
has taken place, to significantly increase our volume of automated
sales interactions with key customers. A significant development
was delivered into our homecare business with the Optilife programme,
automating the interaction between Afrox, our nurses and the medical
aids, improving efficiencies and reducing rework or rejections. Finally,
global convergence has been delivered on our Internet platform
with the introduction of the global Web Content Management System
(WCMS) enabling a single integrated Internet platform across the
entire Linde Group.

Support functions

INNOvATION

other Linde Group regions. We leverage the guidance of The Linde
Group through close alignment with the Global Security Officer who
provides and monitors compliance of best practice and dictates
policy changes which the wider Group, including Afrox, will adopt
as appropriate. Compliance checks are undertaken annually by The
Linde Group’s specialist IT Corporate Internal Audit division, providing
significant impartial guidance and recommendations for good
governance. 2012 audits, as with previous years, returned a
relatively clean bill of health albeit with some good value-add
recommendations to further improve security and governance. All
previous recommendations, where relevant, have been adopted
and closed, or are on track to close out once associated implementation
projects have been deployed. Quarterly security reviews are undertaken
on the network, including resilience testing. Significant improvements
have been demonstrated over the past 12 months, with excellent
resilience now being demonstrated. Risk management is an ongoing
process, reviewed within the line on a quarterly basis by the IS
regional management team. Focus on single points of failure are
discussed and rectified, as are issues regarding access and authorisation,
governance, support and systems or network integrity. The high
cost of bandwidth in South Africa and up into sub-Saharan Africa is
of concern. Our network traffic is estimated globally to grow by
approximately 20% annually, which would constitute significant
cost increase in Region Africa if not monitored and managed
appropriately. Smart solutions to minimise bandwidth utilisation are
constantly evaluated and, where appropriate, implemented. With
the imminent withdrawal of extended support for Windows XP and
Windows 2003 server operating systems, work has begun on the task
of refreshing our end user and server environment. This initiative is
being driven in association with our Group IS counterparts as a
perfect opportunity to develop and deliver a global hardware image
and single hardware provider. This is expected to further reduce the
cost of support in the business. This is being deployed locally along
with a centrally managed hardware and software asset solution
through the deployment of Microsoft SCCM and globally managed
anti virus through ePO. Locally we will further enhance our King III
compliance through deployment of CIBECS backup solution to ensure
the protection of our information assets and information property
on all end user devices.

Business review

This was a significant IS challenge due to the relative immature
nature of the telecommunications market in Africa. A single supplier
across the wider region still comes with challenges of sub-contracting,
non-standard service levels and sub-optimal reliability and resilience.
Strong vendor management enabled deployment and stabilisation
to be achieved in the year to providing a springboard to launch the
business in its growth initiative into emerging Africa. The benefits
of this network integration are now being realised with the deployment
of global tools and applications to all countries. The instant benefits
from Group collaboration via a common mail and instant messaging
platform have already justified the challenges. This is just the
beginning. Subsequent initiatives followed rapidly including the
centralisation of ERP platforms into a centrally hosted and supported
data centre, leveraging regional disaster recovery infrastructure
and support. Best practice standardised support processes were
implemented and governance principles enforced. ultimately, this
will deliver significant synergy benefits as the business delivers its
growth initiative in a controlled system environment across Africa.
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Support functions
continued
Within these areas the role of HR was interpreted as:


SHEQ:
Inclusion of SHEQ performance measurements in the short-term
incentive plans within performance contracts for all senior managers.
This process was successfully completed during the year under
review. This reinforced the importance of SHEQ and stressed its
role in assisting Afrox to achieve its business objectives.



Supporting the business:
Supporting activities required to maintain the Level 3 B-BBEE rating,
which remains central to Afrox retaining and expanding its business
with state departments and state enterprises.



Mitigation:
HR’s primary role within the mitigation strategy is seen as
contributing to cost control through projects focused on reducing
the cost of labour, a major operating cost for the company.
Overtime and standby costs were focused on, producing savings
of approximately R2.5 million. The introduction of new procedures
and processes are expected to contribute further to this success.



HR processes and transformation:
An ‘HR Roadmap’, first introduced during 2010, provided annual
guidelines for HR’s achievement of performance, development
and cultural transformation within Afrox. Activities in these three
categories are graded, with achievements being monitored as
projects move from ‘foundation level’ to ‘standard level’, on to
‘advanced level’ and finally to the leading category, indicating
that the company has attained globally benchmarked standards.

Global Employee Survey
Honest employee feedback is crucial for our HR activities. The Linde
Group conducts a bi-annual employee survey to measure employee
perceptions across a number of dimensions. Following the evaluation
of the survey results, team meetings were held in the business areas
to assess the current status and plan binding improvement actions
for more than 85% of all identified aspects.
In 2012, the Global Employee Survey was conducted across Region
Africa with all permanent employees, both electronically and paperbased. The final participation rate was 82% versus 69% achieved in
2010, therefore a significant improvement. The key dimensions that
are measured are:


Employee Engagement;



Strategy;



Ability to execute;



People excellence;



Process excellence;



Customer focus;



Safety, health, environment and quality;



Integrity;



Survey impact;



Visible leadership; and



Culture.
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Six key areas were identified as performance priorities for the 2012 financial year. The areas identified, targets and actual achievements were:
Area

Target

Actual

Further action

People
development

80% of identified critical roles
have at least one successor
identified and ready in less
than two years.

77% of requirements met.

 oll out of Assessment Centres for
R
high potential leaders and employees.

100% of attendees for selected
training interventions in first and
second line management as well
as senior management
development.

100% achieved.

Performance
management

90% of performance management
appraisal completed and on record
in HR for Band 1+.

90% of 2011 performance
100% of all employees have
management appraisal received as at performance contracts, interim
end of April 2012 and 100% for 2012. reviews and final appraisals for 2012.

Diversity and
transformation

Maintain Level 3 rating.

Level 3 rating achieved in 2012
Empowerdex audit.

Leadership
capability


Maintenance
of graduate and artisan
development programme.
S ubscribed numbers of senior
managers attend Global Leadership
Development Course and Global
Talent Circle programmes.
E xecutive training programmes
implemented for the executive.

More than 150 line managers
trained in ER.
ICAS utilised to help employees
manage life/work balance.
Streamline
recruitment
process

Implement an e-recruitment
offering and reduce recruitment
cost.

Established scalable process across
business units.

Use of database to identify employees
with potential within organisation.

Introduced new applicant tracking
system.
Reduced recruitment fees by
approximately R2.6 million.
928 vacancies filled, 253 being
new hires.

HR practices

Transformation

As a leading industrial company, Afrox recognises that its employees
are entitled to the fundamental human rights enshrined in South
Africa’s constitution. It therefore recognises that employees have a
right to:

Transformation of the business remains a key priority. This is measured
primarily through the company satisfying the requirements of a
B-BBEE Level 3 rating. To achieve this performance measure, Afrox
utilises its B-BBEE scorecard and tracks achievements across all
categories of the scorecard. Elements assessed in these categories
include ownership, control and employment equity and skills
development, amongst others.





Freedom of association:
Employees are free to join any organisation, forum or trade union
they choose. Presently, 30.5% of employees belong to trade
unions. Employees are represented by colleagues who are elected
to represent them in bona fide consultative forums that meet
regularly and provide a platform for worker representation in
decision-making.
Equal opportunities and fair treatment:
As stated in its Code of Ethics, Afrox encourages tolerance and
sensitivity between cultural groups. The company is committed to
ensuring that the workplace remains free of discrimination based
on race, creed, culture, nationality and gender, sexual or marital
status. Employees are selected on their ability to perform jobs
and physical disability is not regarded as a barrier to employment.

HIV/Aids
Afrox’s HIV/Aids policy has been in place since 2003 and is based
on ensuring that employees have access to the information and
support they require to cope with the impact of the virus. Peer
education training is offered to employees wishing to assist their
colleagues. To date, 100% of identified Peer Educators and more
than 75% of all employees and line managers have received training.
HIV/Aids awareness training is part of all induction programmes for
new employees and line managers receive training to deal with
issues that may arise when they interact with staff that are infected
with the virus or impacted by it in some way.
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Support functions
continued
Employees with the virus are encouraged to register on the confidential
HIV/Aids management programme, which is an external programme
offered through an Aid for Aids centre. Affected employees also
receive anti-retroviral therapy.

Learners with disabilities are offered opportunities that includes
NQF Level 2 Call Centre Management training and NQF Level 2
Wholesale and Retail qualifications. During the year, 61 learners
were enrolled on these courses.

Employee support

Remuneration policies

Through an independent specialist, Afrox offers staff an employee
support programme that offers immediate members of employees’
families support with legal matters, financial management, family
or work issues, stress, trauma and substance abuse.

Afrox’s remuneration policies are accessible to all employees through
the company Intranet. Compensation and benefits include, but are
not limited to:

Employees can either choose telephonic counselling or face to face
sessions with appropriate specialists. In all cases, help is offered in
the employee’s language of choice.

Employee development
Employee development at Afrox is offered through a number of
initiatives. These programmes range from leadership and management
development programmes, graduate and in-service bursar development,
opportunities for artisans to increase their skills and tailored courses
for learners with disabilities.
Leadership and management development is offered to candidates
in collaboration with the Linde University, which provides a range
of leadership programmes that are aligned with the challenges
faced by leaders in the gases industry.
Senior managers’ development needs are catered for by the Global
Leadership Development Circle. Developed in conjunction with
Oxford University’s business school in the UK, the programme is
delivered by leading academics from chosen fields.
Line management programmes are in place to assist managers to
make the transition from corporate functions to leadership positions.
Middle and junior managers are required to attend first-in-line and
second-in-line programmes. The overall programme takes seven
months to complete and requires managers to undertake pre- and
post-programme work that is supplemented by classroom training
and e-learning resources supplied by Harvard Business School.
During 2012, 122 managers attended both leadership and management
training. Of those attending, more than 50% were candidates selected
to advance the company’s employment equity plans.
Bursar, in-service and graduate development schemes ensure that
talented individuals are available to undertake important technical
roles within the company. Most of the bursars are drawn from the
ranks of those studying within operationally critical engineering
disciplines, while others study at the same time as gaining practical
experience with the company. During 2012, there were 10 bursary
holders studying engineering, two in-service trainees and nine
graduates completing specialised technical training schemes.
Development of artisans is crucial to the future competitiveness of
the company. Co-ordinated by the Training and Development Unit,
training is diverse and varies from trades that range from instrument
mechanics, to electricians and millwrights to chemical fitters.



Pay reviews;



Allowances;



Education assistance;



Housing schemes;



13th cheques and bonuses;



Leave benefits;



Retirement funds;



Medical aid schemes; and



Retention programmes.

The company’s remuneration policies cover all categories of permanent
employment, including executives, but exclude independent contractors
or other categories of contract workers.

Board committee
A Nominations, Governance and Management of Resources (NGMR)
Committee is empowered by the Board to ensure that the remuneration,
resource management strategies and policies within the Group are
aligned to industry standards.
The Committee is also charged with:


 etermining the Group’s overall remuneration philosophy and
D
general policy on executive and senior management remuneration;



Considering and recommending for approval of the Board the
remuneration of the Chief Executive and other executives, including
bonus and other incentive schemes;



C onsidering and making recommendations to the Board on the
proposed fees for non-executive directors, prior to these being
submitted to shareholders for approval;



Approving salary increases for non-bargaining and establishing
mandates for negotiations with trades union; and



The NGMR Committee uses incentive or variable pay to assist
with meeting Afrox’s strategic goals. Incentive pay schemes are
available to employees at selected levels and are based on the
achievement of individual goals that relate to the company’s
objectives and overall performance.

The total reward strategy includes:


Base pay and benefits designed to attract and retain talented,
high-performing people;



Short-term incentives in the form of performance bonuses that
support and reinforce desired behaviour and delivery at all levels;
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Long-term incentives that are aligned with shareholder thinking
and are designed to attract and retain staff; and



Recognition by supporting and reinforcing a culture of belonging
and performance.

Determinants of remuneration
A number of factors are considered when determining remuneration.
These factors are based on:




A job complexity measurement tool using the HAY Job Evaluation
Methodology. Individual pay levels are therefore based on the
level of responsibility in the company and the requirements of
the job;
The company’s defined market position, which is the 50th percentile
or the median;



Remuneration bands that are determined for each job, based on
prevailing market forces;



Individual performance and contribution; and



The allocation of a market premium percentage where market
surveys indicate that a particular job is not aligned with market
competitors.

The view is that employees who perform consistently and exceed
expectations in their roles should be remunerated at the higher-end
of the remuneration range. Conversely, employees who are new to
their roles, or do not meet role expectations, should be paid to the
lower quartile of the pay range.

Employee benefits
Afrox provides employees with a range of benefits that exceed those
legally required by the Basic Conditions of Employment Act, 1997.
These benefits include providing primary care clinics and canteens at
selected sites. Subject to benefit rules, employees have access to
various paid leave categories, disability grants, medical aid, pension or
provident funds and DIY loans through approved financial institutions.
Educational assistance is offered to employees and their dependants.
Employees are assisted with formal education where this benefits
the company. The following bursaries are offered:


Full-time bursaries;



Partial bursaries to attend registered educational establishments;
and



Fully-paid assistance to employees to further their education up
to Bachelor Degree level. The course of study selected must be
in line with an employee’s development plan or appropriate to
a specific succession plan.

High performance
The journey towards becoming a high performance organisation
(HPO) remained on track, with several objectives for 2012 being
met as the company continued to inculcate the elements required
to create a performance-driven and results-oriented culture.

The Growth and Performance (GAP) programme, the strategy to
ensure that sustainable productivity improvements are achieved on
a year-on-year basis, saw 96 projects delivered. Solid productivity
improvements were recorded at cylinder filling sites, where production
planning programmes were introduced.
A Project Review Board (PRB) was established towards the end of 2011
to enforce project governance, optimal project resource management
and conflict resolution.
Important projects from all business areas were tracked by the PRB
to ensure successful delivery of strategically important projects.
Thirty-two key projects were tracked and monitored in 2012. Of this
number, 21 were completed and the remainder are still active.
To become competitive a company must ensure efficiency and
implementation of world-class processes.
In 2011, with a few exceptions, Afrox’s level of business process
maturity was assessed to be at Foundation level. Many fundamental
changes were then introduced to move the company towards a
Standard level of process maturity. This level was achieved during
2012, with pricing and contract management processes assessed to
be at Advanced level in The Linde Group.
To ensure delivery of HPO milestones during 2012, 83 process
improvement priorities were tracked across different process areas,
with 96% being completed during the year.
The Lean Six Sigma (LSS) deployment gained further traction with
the certification of four Black Belts and 12 Green Belts, Afrox’s first
since the deployment of LSS in 2008.
Fifty-eight projects were managed by the Six Sigma team. Of these,
38 were completed, the remaining are still ongoing and one on hold.
Among the projects undertaken in 2012 were the optimisation
of the export process, with implementation of best commercial
practices and improvement of the Deliver-In-Full-On-Time (DIFOT)
key performance indicator.
The DIFOT process was improved through the elimination of waste
and improved data quality and resulting in enhanced customer
experience. Yellow Belt training was also undertaken in Zimbabwe
to equip the business at all levels with consistent basic problemsolving skills.
True to the concept of HPO, which is a journey not an event, further
commitments have been made to reduce costs through process
improvement and related efficiencies from 2013 to 2016.
The overall objective is to improve Afrox’s margins. Processes will
have to improve further to Advanced levels and further deployment
of LSS resources into the organisation will be central to achieving
this objective.
For more on HPO, please see the Afrox Company Profile 2013.
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Support functions
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Communications
The purpose of Communications is to build and promote understanding,
trust and a one-voice culture within Afrox and our businesses across
Africa. Communications is mandated to engage with several differing
audiences, including employees, customers, the media and the wider
groups of stakeholders including the communities in which we operate.
Internal communications
Our internal communications are geared to keep the business fully
informed and engaged with the company, its strategic goals and
challenges. This support function is a key enabler for change within
the organisation and supports the communication efforts of operational
units across sub-Saharan Africa. In line with current business
requirements, a major part of Communications’ activities are focused
on HR and SHEQ, formulating and driving appropriate messages
and campaigns to support crucial initiatives. The department is
also involved in updates for our Intranet, employee briefings and
orchestrating internal events. Assistance is provided to business to
ensure all communication materials, presentations and marketing
requirements meet corporate identity and brand standards.
Messages are tailored across groups within Afrox, with information
cascaded through the company to business units. The needs of each
group are met through the provision of appropriate media, which range
from electronic newsletters and e-mail, for the rapid communication
of policy issues, through to The Leader, a regular printed newsletter
that is available to all employees. An in-house studio ensures that
messages can be disseminated at short notice, either via DVD, webcast
or conference call. The process is underway to extend communications
so that employees can be contacted quickly via their cell phones on
a 24-hour-a-day basis. The purpose of this is to ensure that if a
major event occurs, all employees can be reached almost instantly.
Regular employee surveys ensure that all internal communications
media are assessed and adapted to meet requirements.
External communications
External communications are vital in this age of instant messaging,
the Internet, radio and television, and a crucial part of the function
involves clarifying key messages in the media. It is also about
understanding the external impressions people have of our company
and ensuring the benefits our products and services bring to the
African economy, and to our channel partners, businesses and
customers, are clearly understood.
The increased emphasis on stakeholder communication, meeting
international reporting standards and the requirements of King III,
have seen the nature of communications undergoing major changes
across the South African business sector as a whole.
At Afrox, these challenges have been met by taking appropriate
steps to ensure the involvement of all categories of stakeholders.
Community involvement takes many forms.
Town hall meetings are called with local community representatives
when the development of facilities is considered. As is presently
the case in Durban, KwaZulu-Natal, the community is kept informed
about the required environmental impact assessment studies, the
proposed Afrox site and all facets of the business that could impact
on local residents.

Maintaining Afrox’s corporate reputation involves planned interfaces
with the media and NGOs regarding financial events and major
developments within the company. These are supplemented by
meetings and presentations to key interest groups such as the
Investment Analysts Society.
At a product and service level, interaction takes place with specialist
trade press. Media releases are sent to selected publications on a
regular basis, creating an ongoing awareness of Afrox’s products
and the expertise and support available within the company.
As leaders in our markets, Afrox provides speakers for industry events
and conferences and the company regularly participates in mainstream
trade shows, which are targeted opportunities to meet with customers
and create awareness about products and services.
In addition, Afrox employs a range social media and other electronic
platforms to communicate offers to current and future markets and
interest groups. All Afrox media mentions are monitored and tracked
on a 24/7 basis and responded to as appropriate.
The investment media is informed of financial and other events at
Afrox through the publication of JSE-required interim and year-end
financial statements and trading and shareholder notices as required
by business developments.
All major events are made public through the Stock Exchange News
Service (SENS). Group results, as well as being advertised, are presented
to shareholders at the annual general meeting. This follows the
publication and distribution of Afrox’s annual report to shareholders
and the placement of the document on the company website for
public information.
Financial analysts, stockbrokers and the financial media are invited
to regular briefings, which are arranged through the auspices of the
Investment Analysts Society.
The Chief Executive and Financial Director meet major shareholders
and other interested parties up to twice yearly.
Afrox’s website, www.afrox.com, is updated regularly to make sure
that the information regarding the company, copies of essential
financial notices, media releases and other documents are up-todate and offer a true representation of company activities. Anyone
can access the Afrox website at any time of day or night.
Customers and business partners
These two groups are important to Afrox’s business and play a role
in ensuring the company remains a relevant supplier of products
and services to its selected markets.
Where there are economic or other events that may impact on
customer and partners’ ability to source products, such as industrial
action or product shortages, Afrox alerts all parties via media
releases about the challenges and the steps being taken to remedy
these situations.
Product brochures, a comprehensive product manual and CDs for
electronically enabled customers are supplied through Afrox’s
comprehensive website. Specialist media publications, serving defined
customer groups, are provided with information covering the latest
developments and products emanating from the company.
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The retail Gas & Gear branches across the country are also main
outlets for published material and product manuals for customers.
Stakeholder engagement covers diverse groups of people which
include employees, the investment community, customers, suppliers,
business partners and the broader South African community.

Shareholders,
market analysts
and the media

Typical engagements encompass the following:
The benefits of Communications’ messaging across all Afrox’s core
activities ensures that employees, customers, suppliers, communities
and stakeholders are involved and understand the role of Afrox in all
its business disciplines and will continue to be the focus of attention.
A full discussion on Afrox’s social interventions and support programmes
can be found in the Sustainability review of this annual report.

The investment media is informed of financial and other events at Afrox through the publication of JSE-required
interim and year-end financial statements and trading and shareholder notices as required by business
developments. All major events are made public through the Stock Exchange News Service (SENS).
Supplementary media releases covering developments within the company, the introduction of new products
and other matters of interest are distributed as required.
Group results, as well as being advertised, are presented to shareholders at the annual general meeting. This
follows the publication and distribution of Afrox’s annual report to shareholders and the placement of the
document on the company website for public information.
Financial analysts, stockbrokers and the financial media are invited to regular briefings, which are arranged
through the auspices of the Investment Analysts Society. The Chief Executive and Financial Director meet major
shareholders and other interested parties at least twice yearly.
Afrox’s website, www.afrox.com, is updated regularly to make sure that the information regarding the company,
copies of essential financial notices, media releases and other documents are up-to-date and offer a true
representation of company activities.

Customers and
business partners

These two groups are important to Afrox’s business and play a role in ensuring that the company remains a
relevant supplier of products and services to its selected markets.
Anyone can access the Afrox website at any time of day or night. Where there are economic or other events that
may impact on their ability to source products, such as industrial action or product shortages, Afrox alerts all
parties via media releases about challenges and the steps being taken to remedy these situations.
Product brochures, a comprehensive product manual and CDs for electronically enabled customers are supplied
through Afrox’s comprehensive website. Specialist media publications, serving defined customer groups, are
provided with information covering the latest developments and products emanating from the company.
Technical articles are placed to enhance the company’s reputation for excellence and assist customers with
product choices.
The retail Gas & Gear branches across the country are major outlets for published material and product manuals
to customers.

Employees
and unions

Communications with this group are facilitated through a number of engagements. These include:
Regular shop-floor and team briefings and management briefings;
Internal newsletters and posters;
 E-mail material from executives;
 The Afrox Leader publication;
 Multi-media presentations and a DVD news programme;
 Communication of SHEQ policies and programmes; and
 Regular meetings with unions representing employees.



Communities
and NGOs

Communication with communities from which Afrox derives its profits are conducted primarily through the company’s
comprehensive corporate social investment programme. Employees are active participants in these events.
A full discussion on Afrox’s social interventions and support programmes can be found in the Sustainability review.
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Technical articles are placed to enhance the company’s reputation for
excellence and assist customers with product choices.
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Sustainability
SAFeTy, HeAlTH, envIROnmenT AnD QUAlITy (SHeQ)

PROCeSS SAFeTy, THe
mAnAgemenT OF mAJOR
ACCIDenT HAzARDS, WAS
STRengTHeneD THROUgH A
nUmBeR OF PROgRAmmeS.

Safety, Health, the environment and Quality are non-negotiable items
in Afrox. Although it has to be acknowledged that the company did
not perform satisfactorily in all these areas, with transport-related
issues responsible for most reported safety exceptions, strong
corrective action has been taken to ensure sustainable improvement.
All risks that could impact on employees, the communities in which
Afrox operates, contractors working on company premises and the
environment have been identified, assessed and are now being
managed appropriately.
SHeQ is an integral part of Afrox’s business practices. Its importance
as a function that crosses all spheres of activity within the company,
is underscored by the fact that it is regarded as one of the values
fundamental to the wellbeing of staff, suppliers, contractors and all
visitors to Afrox sites across all operations.
To meet the SHeQ challenges presented by Afrox’s multi-faceted
operations, a new general manager, Stephen moran, an international
specialist with experience within The linde group, was appointed
during the year.
His task is to formulate, introduce and monitor new SHeQ policies
and actions designed to improve Afrox’s SHeQ record so that it can
be positively benchmarked against The linde group and international
best practice. This task requires that SHeQ programmes across our
sub-Saharan businesses be aligned to present and future demand
and launched from a common, stable platform.
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Three essential work streams were identified for action. These were
the transport safety plan, the We Care programme and the ActSafe
behavioural safety programme.

The ongoing acceptance by employees of the new SHeQ initiatives
will continue to be dependent on effectively driving programmes
that are relevant to specific business areas and backing them with
visible leadership.

The achievement of the interdependent goal will see all employees
recognising that they are dependent on each other and that caring
for each other is vital in achieving safe work practices. This will
involve infusing SHeQ into the DnA of the company at all levels.
Process safety, the management of major accident hazards, was
strengthened through a number of programmes and will involve the
introduction of internationally benchmarked activities in key areas.
Simultaneously, within these initiatives, consideration is being given
to the incorporation of the SHeQ 7 golden Rules, which are essential
to identifying and preventing the occurrence of major incidents. The
golden Rules are used, among other things, to manage contractor
behaviour on Afrox sites, assess risks, manage incidents and instil
SHeQ values into the line.
Working hand-in-hand with the golden Rules is the adoption of
consistent consequence management within the business. This
ensures that, when the golden Rules are breached, there is a
consistent application of consequences applied in the operational
segment involved.
Afrox complies with all statutory requirements regarding SHeQ practices
in its business and is also prepared to comply with additional measures
as these are introduced by regulatory bodies.

The alignment of management systems to add value to SHeQ
operations, including risk, value adding and other focused audits
as well as an integrated loss control system, are being considered
for the future.
These measures will be invaluable in maintaining internal standards
and ensuring that Afrox customers bear the fruits of improved SHeQ
standards in the form of higher standards of service and the consistent
delivery of quality products.

TRAnSPORT SAFeTy
The primary item on the agenda is the wellbeing of employees.
During the year under review, transport safety was a dominant area
of concern. The company operates a major fleet composed of road
tankers and specialised vehicles that accumulate millions of kilometres
annually as they crisscross the nation’s highways and rural road network.
During 2012, Afrox and contractor trucks travelled 29 629 821 kms
(6.2% less than that travelled in 2011) and cars 19 572 610 kms
(4.7% less than that travelled in 2011).
Activities during 2012 were therefore focused on reversing the
2010 and 2011 experiences that saw the company recording nine
transport-related deaths. Although the company was operating its
fleet in accordance with regulatory requirements and had instituted
policies regarding driver training and vehicle maintenance, it was
felt that an overview of the entire system was required. This began
by increasing visible leadership and strengthening supervision across
all transport disciplines.
Unfortunately, despite new measures being introduced, there were
six major incidents during the year. One involved a head-on collision
of an Afrox tanker and another vehicle which swerved across the
median and into the path of the tanker. The tanker caught fire and
the driver escaped injury. Unfortunately, two occupants in the other
vehicle died of their injuries.
In a second, similar incident, in the Western Cape, a driver of a vehicle
died when his vehicle crossed the road and collided with the Afrox
vehicle. In a third incident a driver was dismissed for breaking speed
limits and rolling a vehicle.
The overall objective of the new approach is to improve safety and
also reduce the number of customer run-outs.
During the year, initiatives that were introduced included:

Financial results and other information

A SHeQ Roadmap, used successfully within The linde group operations
in other geographies, will be used in Afrox to assist with the
deployment of strategies in a consistent manner across the
organisation. The key to the roadmap is to move Afrox from being a
dependent organisation to an independent organisation and, finally,
on to an interdependent organisation level.

As part of this management drive, rationalisation of Afrox’s nitrous
oxide plants has taken place. This involved implementing improved
engineering measures to further reduce the potential of exposure
taking place.

Sustainability

A consultation process, which involved leadership at the highest
levels within the company, was instigated early on in the process.
This saw senior and executive management meeting with the SHeQ
team and identifying the key operational areas where change was
required. The objectives identified were introduced in a comprehensive
plan that will guide SHeQ policy and programmes to 2016.

The exposure of employees to potential hazards such as nitrous
oxide, silica, asbestos, hazardous chemicals and noise is a major
SHeQ focus.

Support functions

early successes were achieved in distribution and transport, where the
severity of recorded incidents showed a significant decline. Particular
gains were also realised through instilling the values of the ActSafe
programme with Afrox’s drivers and central engineering functions.

Afrox operates within recognised ISO management systems and
internationally recognised environmental standards. Increasing the
number of Afrox sites operating according to these standards will
remain a SHeQ focus into the future.

Business review

Improving the safety record during 2012 involved assessing the
present SHeQ status in a number of areas and then identifying
where these lagged desired levels. Following the identification of
systemic issues, root causes were identified and work streams
created to address these concerns.

40
 

African Oxygen Limited Annual Report 2012
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continued
Afrox’s commitment to making advanced driving standards nonnegotiable was tested after completion of the training and tracking
installation.
Additional measures, such as reversing cameras, are being introduced
as required to further bolster driver performance and reduce minor
incidents by a targeted 50%.


In 2012 Afrox focused on the rollout of an Act Safe Driver Behavioural
Safety Programme.
The core aims of the programme were for:
• Drivers to identify hazardous situations.
• Drivers to be able to assess the risks.









Upgrading technology in the fleet by incorporating services such
as lane assist and driver-cameras to assist drivers and monitor
performance. These technologies, common in many luxury sedans
had an immediate, positive impact on driving habits. Cameras
automatically become operative when harsh driving or speeding
and hard braking occurs, recording events as they unfold;
Afrox became the first company in South Africa to introduce rollover training to help drivers master driving habits and preventative
techniques aimed at reducing the possibility of vehicles rolling
during emergency situations. The programme, which involved
creating local partnerships with key providers and international
support, required an investment of R9 000 per driver, but set
new industry standards in South Africa. By the end of the year
nearly 420 drivers had completed the training process using
vehicles specially developed to simulate loss of control and rollovers. Before the training, Afrox was recording an incidence of
2.1 rollovers per million kilometres. Post-training, this decreased
to 0.2 and 0.102 by end of 2012;
 rivers’ hours were reassessed. Driving was prohibited between
D
23:00 and 05:00 on identified red routes – roads where accident
statistics were the highest. Compliance with this policy is now
enforced through the use of tracking systems which monitor
truck operating hours in real time. The Afrox policy on hours of
driving pre-empts pending legislation on the issue. However,
the proposed legislation is less restrictive regarding driving hours
than the Afrox guidelines; and
 educing hours impacted on drivers by reducing their overtime
R
pay, which many had come to rely on. Afrox, to adjust for these
mandatory stops, reassessed and the difference in pay was
compensated for by increased basic wages.

This practice, although it enhanced driver safety during high accident
hours, impacted severely on fleet availability by reducing truck
availability and therefore product delivery, by 30%. This lost capacity
was compensated for by commissioning the building of 21 additional
tankers that were brought into service.
The ultimate test after undertaking these changes was a reassessment
of the run-out rate. It was gratifying to note that this had dropped
to 0.3 per 1 000, aligning Afrox with international best practices.
Despite the later impact of a national driver’s strike, which brought
many industries to a virtual standstill during 2012, these high levels
of service were maintained, with run-out rising to only 0.16 per 1 000.

• Drivers will be able to make the correct decisions.
This is a three-year plan up to 2015. To date, approximately 262 drivers
have been trained in Act Safe. Approximately 800 to 1 000 Afrox and
contractor drivers will attend this programme up to 2015.

Health and Occupational Hygiene
Afrox’s aim is to ensure that health and occupational hygiene is
integrated into all our management systems and core operations
and to prevent occupational illnesses. Our occupational health
programmes focus on minimising the major risks in the workplace
which includes noise exposure, manual handling and hazardous
chemical exposure. A well-defined medical surveillance programme
is in place to monitor the health of employees engaged in certain
types of activities.
To ensure that Afrox personnel stay healthy and fit for their jobs,
occupational health clinics operate at eight sites within South Africa
and at four sites in other African countries. Well-trained medical
personnel operate these clinics and contribute towards ensuring
that high health standards are maintained throughout the company.
Furthermore, mobile occupational health clinics operate at smaller sites.

The environment
As a company operating primarily in the arena of industrial gases,
Afrox harnesses technology to draw many of its products literally
from the air surrounding us.
Afrox is therefore conscious of the role it must play in ensuring that
it operates responsibly, with due emphasis placed on minimising
the environmental impact its activities have on the environment.
It undertakes these responsibilities by using internationally accepted
standards to rate and ameliorate potential environmental damage
caused by its operations.
Through application of these standards, Afrox works to prevent
pollution; mitigate climate change and promote sustainable use of
resources. Environmental standards have been developed and
implemented in order to ensure that specific impacts applicable to
water, air, waste, industrial effluent and hazardous chemicals are
responsibly managed.
During the year, expenditure on environment programmes included:


Consultancy fees for environmental impact assessments, external
audits and legal advice;
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The planting of trees at most sites to celebrate Arbor Day.

All environmental management controls are well developed and fully
integrated into Afrox’s comprehensive SHEQ system. Underpinning
all efforts is an Integrated Management System Standards (IMSS)
based on the internationally accredited principles attached to coveted
ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001 and other relevant legislative
requirements. The system allows for integrated SHEQ audits, risk
assessments and management reviews.
Using the management system as a basis, the environmental focus
during 2012 included:


Maintenance of and working towards ISO 14001 certifications;



Reviewing environmental permits and licences to ensure compliance;



Communicating within the business on trends and analysis and
proposed corrective actions for external ISO 14001 audit findings;



Updating internal legal compliance checklists;



Reviewing environmental authorisations;



Ensuring compliance with asbestos regulations;



Auditing and approval of hazardous waste service providers; and



Applications for Air Emissions Licences.

Afrox operates on the premise that prevention of pollution at source
is more cost-effective and sustainable than to clean-up or remediation
after pollution has occurred.
Every 12 months, all sites report on a range of environmental data.
The data monitored includes water consumption; electricity consumed;
raw materials utilised; use of packaging materials; levels of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes produced and by-products generated.
The data submitted is used by The Linde Group to compile submissions
to the global Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP).
To prepare for all eventualities, all sites identify possible emergencies
that could result in pollution through their Emergency Preparedness
and Response Plans. As part of their preparations, sites must conduct
emergency drills for site-specific environmental emergencies at least
once a year. Spill prevention and other emergency equipment are
available at sites where such risks exist.
Afrox’s primary source of energy is electricity, with air separation
units and CO2 plants using approximately 80% of the total Afrox
electricity usage of approximately 45 578 MWh per month. LPG,
diesel and petrol meet secondary requirements.

448 841

Process and infrastructural modifications; and

2012



445 744

Upgrading chemical and waste storage areas;

2011

Spill prevention equipment;



470 496



2010

Updating the Afrox SHE Legal Register;

Afrox plants harness maximum demand and specific power controls.
The energy used per ton of product produced is monitored and is
reported on every month. Production sites have also introduced
‘power factor correction’ to make optimum use of electricity.
To date, significant investment and resources have been made
available within Afrox to reduce our electricity consumption.
Actions taken to date include:


Three meters were installed at major sites in 2012;



Training of employees to understand their roles and responsibilities;



Development of detailed action plans for each plant to reduce
consumption;



One process efficiency review (PER) was conducted against a target
of 1 at an ASU site in 2012;



12 growth and performance projects identified and implemented
in 2012; and



Analysis and preparatory work was done in 2012 for the new
Pretoria ASU tariff change; a 22% reduction per year is expected.

Afrox acknowledges the changes in the national legislative and
policy environment with regards to climate change and will ensure
that plans are in place to address all requirements with regards to
energy as well as emission reduction targets.
Afrox has become a signatory to the National Business Initiative and
Department of Energy Efficiency Pledge.
Reducing water consumption
Water is used in Afrox’s processes for:


Manufacturing of gases like acetylene and nitrous oxide;



Functioning of cooling systems;



Hydrostatic testing of vessels and cylinders;



Emergency deluge systems; and



Office purposes.
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Afrox sites discharge industrial effluent to the municipal sewer system
under permit conditions. Fifteen sites have permits issued by the
local authorities. These sites monitor the quality of the effluent
regularly and have management interventions in place to ensure
compliance with permit conditions. No permit contraventions were
reported in 2012.

Climate change
The production of acetylene and electrode paste manufacturing in
South Africa is now listed under the new National Environment
Management: Air Quality Act 2004. Afrox is in the process of obtaining
the emission licences now required under the new Act.
Afrox undertook an assessment of its greenhouse gas emissions.
Following this, a strategy will be developed to reduce emissions.
In order to achieve its objectives of reducing greenhouse gas emissions,
the following actions will be taken:


A full climate change strategy will be developed;



Defined targets for CO2 reduction will be set;



Afrox’s carbon footprint will be recalculated in 2013 and then on
an annual basis, enabling year-on-year progress to be monitored;



The Special Gases facility is planning to obtain ISO 17025 accreditation
which will enable Afrox to support industry in its efforts to meet
legislated emission targets;



Afrox will continue to support the South African government’s
commitment to phasing out HCFCs in the market according to the
timeframes outlined in the Kyoto Protocol;



Air Emissions Licences for sites with listed activities as per National
Environmental Management: Air Quality Act 2004; and



Energy audits to be conducted at relevant sites.

490 105
49 732

2012

480 373

383 436

375 331
48 106

2011

445 776

438 868
6 908

2010

2012

Our activities do not have a significant effect on any water resource,
natural habitats or related ecosystems. Afrox sites are required to
monitor their water consumption monthly and trends are analysed.
Water savings initiatives have been implemented at various sites
and these have contributed to the 2.5% decrease in water consumption
in 2012.

Emissions
GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS (Tons)

1 222 010

1 253 570

2011

2010

WATER CONSUMPTION (m3)

1 290 067

continued

n Total Indirect CO2 emissions
for multiple sites
n Total Direct CO2 emissions
for multiple sites
n Total CO2 emissions

Afrox supports the phase out of ozone depleting substances as per
the Montreal Protocol. We have identified R427A as the most suitable
and environmentally responsible HFC alternative which will support
industries in the phase out of R22. To show our commitment towards
a sustainable environment, we will be converting all our R22 with
R427A by 2015.
In 2012, we have also committed to an HCFC Phase Out Plan as per
legislated requirements.
Sustainable use of resources
The development of an approach to the acquisition of resources
from sustainable sources and their most effective use underpins all
actions in this arena. Throughout the business a process has been
adopted to ensure that suppliers meet Afrox’s precise business
needs. In addition, all selected suppliers must meet Afrox standards
where health, safety and the environment are concerned.
Waste management
Most of Afrox’s releases to land result from waste generation. The
company standard for waste management governs the storage,
treatment and disposal of general and unavoidable hazardous waste
legally and responsibly.
The standard makes provision for the responsible handling, legal
storage, recycling and disposal of waste streams such as scrap
cylinders, carbide sludge, waste oil, empty chemical containers,
asbestos and spent fluorescent tubes.
Contractors used for the transportation and subsequent disposal
of Afrox’s hazardous waste streams are approved by the SHEQ
department and have their operations audited regularly.
Stringent measures are in place to safely handle and dispose of
asbestos-containing waste from scrapped acetylene cylinders.
Afrox complies with the regulations for the Prohibition of the Use,
Manufacturing, Import and Export of Asbestos Containing Materials
(2007) and has submitted an asbestos phase-out plan to the Minister
of Environmental Affairs. This phase-out plan has been accepted by
the authorities and the required external annual audits have provided
a positive outcome.
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The Afrox approach to product safety is clearly defined through a
Product Stewardship process, which is defined as ‘the ethical and
responsible management of the safety, health and environmental
(SHE) risk of all products manufactured and distributed by Afrox’.
The core focus of the Afrox Product Stewardship programme began
with the high-risk gas products and the packaged chemicals portfolio.
This included potentially hazardous products such as ammonia,
sulphur dioxide, ethylene, sulphur hexafluoride, Ripegas, Insectgas,
hydrogen chloride and carbon monoxide. Additional products are
being added to the list on an annual basis, as required.

Quality
The Quality Management System (QMS) in Afrox is designed to
ensure that all products and services are supplied to predetermined
international, national and company standards. These standards
are housed in the electronic, on-line IMSS system. To ensure that
products meet required standards, the specifications of the system
mandate the testing frequency, required minimum standard as well
as the test equipment to be used. Performance is managed through
continuous improvement, with all employees, as a condition of
employment, taking responsibility for safety.

Process Safety

All company behaviours are based and benchmarked on accepted
international standards of doing business, particularly those adopted
by Afrox’s parent, The Linde Group. The Afrox Code of Conduct and
its Code of Ethics, which are in accordance with accepted principles
of good conduct in all situations, provide day-to-day guidance and
are enforced regardless of whether they prove challenging.
Within its markets, Afrox adopts a value-driven management style,
with business policies that are aligned with the interests of the
company, its shareholders and its stakeholders and the provision of
end-to-end, in-depth technical solutions.
The company is firmly committed to free and fair competition and
handles competitors and business partners in accordance with the
Afrox Code of Ethics. Promotion of good corporate governance involves
constantly strengthening the sense of responsibility that governs
Afrox’s management and supervisory activities.
All activities regarding Afrox’s sustainability activities, of which
corporate social investment is a core part, are underwritten by the
Board, which has in turn placed overall responsibility for all aspects for
its achievement with Afrox’s Chief Executive. He, in turn, has delegated
authority to the general managers responsible for ensuring economic,
social and environmental and employee sustainability performance
through company standards, directives and strategic direction.

Process safety is one of the major areas for the management of
safety on sites. It focuses on minimising the risk of incidents involving
the release of hazardous materials, energy, fires and explosions at
production plants.

The Linde Group’s Corporate Responsibility Council is the central
decision-making authority on issues regarding sustainability and
defines the cornerstones of the corporate responsibility strategy.
Decisions reached by the Council are binding on all members of The
Linde Group.

Legal compliance

Reporting to the Board

A company-wide framework is provided to facilitate SHE legal
compliance. This includes a company SHEQ Legal Register, SHEQ Legal
Compliance Checklist and regular legislative updates. Through the Afrox
Information Centre’s subscription SANS Standards, as well as regular
legal updates from other service providers, the company is constantly
informed of any changes that could impact on its activities.

The Afrox Board is kept informed of the company’s sustainability
compliance and high-level risks through regular reports and
presentations to the Board’s Social, Ethics and Transformation
Committee.

Auditing
SHEQ performance, improvements and compliance with internal
and legal requirements are assessed through regular audits. SHEQ
audits are performed annually as part of the company’s integrated
management system audit.

Corporate citizenship
Afrox believes that as a responsible corporate citizen, it has an
obligation to its employees, stakeholders and the broader South
African community. As such, the company accepts that it is accountable
for its actions and has a duty to be transparent and operate with
integrity, particularly when its decisions may impact on the environment
and society in general.
For purposes of its programmes across various spheres, Afrox accepts
that its stakeholders are composed of diverse groups. These include
shareholders, colleagues and customers as well as other individuals
or groups that may have rights, claims or other interests in the business.

The Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee’s activities are
governed by a social and ethics framework which considers
shareholders, the requirements of various Acts, Codes and company
reporting procedures, Board and annual general meetings. In executing
its mandate, it considers ethics assurance and whistle-blower
information, processes and reports suggested through various sources
such as the Global Reporting Initiative, uses compliance monitoring
reports and advises the Board.
In addition, it contributes to the corporate citizenship and sustainability
statement in the annual financial statements and tables a report on
its activities at the company’s annual general meeting.
The company meets its obligations through the adoption of policies
and procedures that impact on major areas. These are:


Society;



The environment;



Fostering sustainable growth of small and B-BBEE businesses;



SHEQ; and



Quality.
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Afrox’s people
Essential to sustainability is the company’s acknowledgment of the
role employees play in ensuring that company policies regarding
operational procedures, safety and health are adhered to. Afrox, in
turn, acknowledges that it has an obligation towards its employees.
It meets these obligations through operating in an environment in
which human rights are recognised.

are addressed through confidential, off-site counselling services, the

Remuneration and benefit programmes that reward performance
and loyal service are a mainstay of Afrox’s Human Resources policy.

Comprehensive Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) policies

Comprehensive programmes provide employees with access to training
and tertiary education courses linked to jobs. Health and wellbeing

provision of medical aid healthcare benefits and support for those
with HIV/Aids.
Full details on all aspects of employee policies and benefits are
provided in the Human Resources review on pages 31 to 35.

are in place at all facilities to provide safe working conditions for all
and are addressed in this review.
For more information, please see the Afrox 2013 Sustainability Report.
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As an organisation and a responsible corporate citizen, Afrox is
committed to the South African government’s policy of Broad-Based
Black Economic Empowerment (B-BBEE). Afrox’s transformation
programme is focused on the Department of Trade and Industry
(DTI) Codes of Good Practice as promulgated in 2007 and not sectorspecific charters. Evidence of this commitment is the fact Afrox
has continually improved its B-BBEE rating and, in 2012, Afrox was
recognised as the 31st listed company on the stock exchange in the
Financial Mail’s Top 100 Empowerment Companies. Afrox achieved
a Level 3 rating as a Value Adding Enterprise.
A number of programmes and initiatives support targeted improvements
across the various elements in the DTI B-BBEE scorecard. These
include a drive to increase the number of learnerships offered to
the disabled and the promotion of small black owned suppliers.
During 2012, Afrox joined forces, under the auspices of the South
African Supplier Diversity Council, with other corporates to address
the challenges around spend on black women-owned and blackowned businesses. Further opportunities are routinely evaluated for
opportunities within Afrox’s channel to market and value chain to
promote participation of previously disadvantaged South Africans in
the economy.
Benefit to customers:


B-BBEE status for 2012 is level 3, a Value Adding Enterprise;



Afrox offer a procurement recognition level of 137.5%;



Black Ownership of 48.55%; and



Black Women Owned 9.86%.

Community involvement and development

Donations were disbursed as follows:
Rand
Education
Engineering bursaries
Maths and science
Welding schools
Environment
Product donations
CIP Bambanani
General donations

3 185 996
530 000
1 000 000
116 000
100 000
210 000
628 371
184 251

Total

5 954 618

Education and culture
Afrox supports the real economic needs of our future leaders by
offering an intensive 24-month graduate training scheme in mechanical,
chemical and industrial engineering. A comprehensive bursary scheme
is offered to those in the disciplines of metallurgy (physical), mechanical
engineering, chemical engineering, industrial engineering and electrical
engineering (heavy current).
Community involvement
This national, employee-driven programme focuses on staff identifying
and supporting disadvantaged children drawn from local communities
surrounding various Afrox sites. Presently, staff support and manage
40 projects in South Africa and a similar number in sub-Saharan
countries beyond South Africa’s borders.
The objective of this programme is to create meaningful and lasting
experiences for children. The commitments made continue from
year-to-year and impact on the lives of disadvantaged children.

The objective of the community involvement and development
programme is to assist wisely and constructively by building on the
commitment of Afrox’s people to selected community-based projects,
thereby making a sustainable difference to society. Economically and
socially strong communities enhance Afrox’s success and therefore
align with the company’s long-term business objectives.

In addition to these locally-driven programmes, on a national basis,
four campaigns are selected annually for employees to support. During
the 2012 financial year, these were the Warmer Winter Campaign;
the Tin Drive to collect food in celebration of Nelson Mandela Day;
Stationery Drive and a Toy Drive.

The commitment and success of Afrox’s diverse interventions within
society, the economy and the environment are reflected by the
company’s selection as one of the publicly-listed companies to be
included in the JSE’s Socially Responsible Investment (SRI) Index
for 2012.

Undoubtedly the annual highlight of employee involvement is
Bambanani Day. Drawn from the Zulu, meaning Let’s build
together, the programme has run for 15 years and is a day of fun,
games and special trips out for the children. The events are held in
every country across sub-Saharan Africa in which the company
operates.

Key areas supported by Afrox include:
Donations
The Afrox donation programme is based on donating more than one
percent of the previous year’s after-tax earnings to identified causes.
In the year under review, financial donations totalled R5.9 million
(two percent of 2012 profit after tax).
Donations are governed by a formal policy based on ‘investing in
the future’ with emphasis on ‘our children, their education and their
environment’. No donations were made to political parties in South
Africa or the other African countries in which the company operates.

General initiatives
Support is offered for a number of other causes. These include:


F eeding schemes, through donations of LPG for cooking purposes.
Where LPG is supplied, those involved with programmes are
trained in the safe use of the product;



T raining of employees at customer sites on improved process
welding skills; and



 here possible, suppliers from previously disadvantaged communities
W
are selected to supply material and goods to the company.
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Corporate governance
Introduction
The Board of directors of African Oxygen Limited and the Boards of its
subsidiaries recognise that principles of good corporate governance,
together with open honest and comprehensive business practices,
are essential to protect the interests of all stakeholders. These
principles are integrated into the organisational culture to ensure that
they become a way of life within the Group. Governance principles
are incorporated into all the Group structures, systems and policies
and these structures, systems and policies are constantly reassessed
and reviewed to ensure that continuous compliance and best practice
is applied and practised.

The King III Report on Governance for South Africa (King III or King III
Report) has focused the Group’s efforts to ensure that sound leadership,
sustainability and corporate citizenship are included in its business
structures and policies.

Statement of compliance
The Listings Requirements of the JSE require JSE-listed companies report
on the extent to which they comply with the principles incorporated
in the King III Report. The Board of directors believes that the Group
applies the King III Report and the JSE’s Listings Requirements save
in the following instances detailed below:

King III recommendation

Explanation

The Chairman of the Board is an
independent non-executive director

Afrox’s current Chairman, Mike Huggon, is a non-executive Chairman and a representative
of Afrox’s majority shareholder. While he is not an independent non-executive, as per the
recommendations of King III, Afrox has appointed a lead independent director to compensate
for the lack of an independent non-executive Chairman.

A combined assurance model is
applied to improve efficiency in
assurance activities

Processes are being put into place, but have not been completed to ensure fully implemented
integrated reporting, IT governance and integrated risk management.

Board
Changes during the year
In the year under review, Frederick Kotzee resigned as Financial
Director, effective 31 March 2012. Nicholas Thomson was appointed
as Financial Director with effect from 2 April 2012, Richard Gearing as
a non-executive director with effect from 10 September 2012; and
Christopher Wells and Sipho Maseko as independent non-executive
directors with effect from 22 November 2012.
Board of directors
Board meetings are held formally four times a year and ad hoc
meetings are arranged whenever necessary. Where directors are
unable to attend any particular Board meeting, they communicate
comments they may have regarding the agenda and general items
to the Committee Chairperson to be raised at the relevant meeting.
The agenda and relevant supporting documents are distributed to
the directors well before each Board meeting and, during the
meeting, the appropriate executive director explains and motivates

Three executive directors
BD Kimber – Chief Executive
NA Thomson – Financial Director
J Narayadoo – MPG Operations General Manager

Four non-executive directors
MS Huggon – Chairman
M von Plotho
DM Woodrow
RJN Gearing

Six independent non-executive directors
LL van Niekerk – lead independent
Dr KDK Mokhele
DM Lawrence
M Malebye
SN Maseko
CF Wells

business items where decisions are required. The directors have

The Chairman and Chief Executive

unrestricted access to all company information and records. Where

The Chairman is an executive of the controlling shareholder, Linde
AG. The Chairman has no executive functions, but provides overall
leadership of the Board and its committees. He, in conjunction with
the Nominations, Governance and Management of Resources (NGMR)
Committee, monitors and evaluates the performance of the CEO to
ensure that the strategic and operational objectives of the company
are achieved. The roles of the Chairman and the CEO are separate to
ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no one individual
has unfettered powers of decision-making.

directors are based abroad and are not able to attend, video or
teleconferencing facilities allow them to participate in the debate
and conclusions reached.
The attendance schedule for the year is on page 51.
Composition of the Board
The Board comprises 13 directors and is constituted as follows:
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Selection and succession planning
The NGMR Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of executive and non-executive directors and on the
composition of the Board. The Board, having due regard for the
recommendations of the Committee, makes such appointments to
the Board as it may deem appropriate, subject to the approval of
shareholders being obtained at the ensuing annual general meeting.
Directors are appointed on the basis of skills, acumen, experience
and their actual or potential level of contribution to and impact on
the activities of the Group, as well as racial and gender diversity.
All directors have access to management, including the Company
Secretary, and to information required to enable them to carry out
their duties and responsibilities fully and effectively.
The Board Charter
The Board operates under an approved charter which regulates the
way business is conducted by the Board in line with the principles
of sound corporate governance. The Board Charter, which is aligned to
principles recommended by King III, details the powers of the Board,
provides that the Board has ultimate accountability and responsibility
for the Group’s performance and affairs. The Charter is updated annually
to keep up with best practice and will be amended to take into account
any changes brought about by new legislation.
Performance assessment
Directors are required to dedicate sufficient time to be able to monitor,
evaluate and comment effectively to the Board and management on
the financial and operational information supplied to the Board.
The Company Secretary
The Company Secretary provides the Board with guidance in respect
of the discharge of their duties and responsibilities as well as in
respect to legislation and regulatory and governance procedures and
requirements. The Board has full access to and is fully aware of the
responsibilities and duties of the Company Secretary and has committed

itself to ensure that the Company Secretary is afforded the support
required in order to perform his/her duties. The Company Secretary
is, among others, responsible for the following:


Providing assistance and advice to the Board on matters of good
governance and ethics;



Providing advice to directors on their duties and responsibilities
to the company;



Induction of directors;



Updating the Board on new developments in applicable laws,
regulations and standards; and



Overseeing shareholder relations in respect of company notices,
correspondence, shareholder meetings and ensuring that the
company complies with the relevant legislation. The Company
Secretary acts as secretary to all Board committees.

Dealing in securities
The Group has a policy in place to ensure compliance with all
legislation and regulations governing insider trading and prohibited
periods. This policy complies with the JSE Listings Requirements and
restricts directors, officers and employees from dealing in company
securities prior to any announcement in respect of its financial
results or during any period surrounding the disclosure of any pricesensitive information.
In terms of the policy, the Chairman approves all transactions in
company securities and prior to any such transactions and the
policy is reviewed from time to time to ensure continued compliance
with the legislation.
Board committees
While the Board remains accountable and responsible for the
performance and affairs of the company, it delegates to management
and Board committees certain functions to assist it to discharge its
duties properly. Each Board committee acts within agreed, written
terms of reference. The Chairman of each Board committee reports
and provides minutes of committee meetings at scheduled Board
meetings. Most of the Board committees’ members are independent
non-executive directors and the Chairman of each Board committee
is an independent non-executive director. The executive directors
attend Board committee meetings by invitation. The established
Board committees are as follows:
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Rotation of directors and confirmation of new appointments
At the annual general meeting to be held on 23 May 2013, shareholders
will be asked to confirm the re-appointment of J Narayadoo, MS Huggon,
Dr KDK Mokhele and DM Woodrow, who will retire in accordance with
the company‘s Articles of Association but who, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election. The appointments of BD Kimber,
RJN Gearing, SN Maseko and CF Wells will also be confirmed.
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Corporate governance
continued
Committee

Purpose

Composition

Meetings

Executive directors attend on invitation, non-independent, non-executive directors by standing invitation.

Audit
LL van Niekerk (Chair)
M Malebye
DM Lawrence

Details of the Committee are contained in the Audit Committee
report on page 52.

NGMR

Management Resources

DM Lawrence (Chair)
LL van Niekerk
Dr KDK Mokhele

• To determine and make recommendations to the Board on the
framework, policy and costs of executive and senior management
remuneration. Determines and recommends the remuneration
strategy to ensure that executive directors and other senior
employees are adequately remunerated.
• Refers specific recommendations for independent director
remuneration to the Board for deliberation. No person is
involved in any decision as to his or her own remuneration.
• Reviews and advises on the general principles under which
compensation, pension, training, succession plans and
performance management are applied to senior employees
of the Group.
• Reviews the rules of any share option, share appreciation
rights or share rewards scheme operated by the company.
• Monitors and reviews the company‘s retirement funds to
ensure compliance with current best practice standards,
industry practices and legislation.
Nomination and Corporate Governance
Monitors and reviews the company’s policies, practices and
compliance with corporate governance principles and regulations.
It serves as a Nomination Committee and as part of its function:
• prior to the annual general meeting, the Committee reviews
and makes recommendations on the retirement and re-election
of directors by rotation;
• identifies, evaluates and nominates candidates to fill vacancies
for executive, non-executive and independent directors of the
company for approval by the Board as a whole;
• reviews the size of the Board, committee structures and director
assignments; and
• once every three years an independent assessor evaluates
the Board’s effectiveness, and its performance as a whole.
However, at certain intervals the Board, through the Committee
conducts self-performance evaluations.

Three independent
non-executive
directors

Meets at least three
times a year

Three independent
non-executive
directors

Meets three times
a year
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Purpose

Composition

Meetings

• Ensures that the management of safety, health, environment
and quality within Afrox is aligned with the overall business
strategy of the company and is geared towards compliance and
fulfilment of its commitments and obligations in these fields.

Five non-executive
directors and the CEO

Meets three times
a year

Two non-executive
directors and the CEO

Meets three times
a year

SHEQ
Dr KDK Mokhele
(Chair)
LL van Niekerk
DM Woodrow
MS Huggon
BD Kimber

• Reviews the policies and performance of Afrox and the
implementation of safety, health, environment and quality
policies.
• Considers and provides guidance to the Board on major safety,
health, environmental and quality projects.
• Ensures that the Board is informed about all significant impacts
on the company in the safety, health, environment and quality
field and how these processes and activities are managed.
• Considers substantive national and international regulatory
and technical developments in the field of safety, health,
environment and quality.
• Monitors the company’s safety, health, environment and quality
performance progress on continuous improvement.

Social, Ethics and Transformation
Dr KDK Mokhele
(Chair)
MS Huggon
BD Kimber

To formulate and monitor a range of strategies to ensure the
successful transformation of Afrox, in the areas of Broad-Based
Black Economic Empowerment, sustainable development and
good corporate citizenship, by assessing the company’s performance
against the following criteria:
• black equity participation;
• employment equity;
• management transformation;
• skills development;
• affirmative procurement;
• enterprise development; and
• corporate social responsibility.

Public and shareholder communications

Going concern

Communication to the public and shareholders embodies the principles
of balanced reporting, clarity and openness. Positive and negative
aspects of both financial and non-financial information are provided.
The company maintains an active dialogue with its key financial
audiences, including institutional shareholders and investment analysts.
It is the company’s policy to present to investors, fund managers
and analysts twice a year after the release of company results. The
executive directors conduct regular road shows and presentations
and maintain contact with fund managers and institutional investor
representative bodies on socially responsible investment and triple
bottom-line issues and initiate one-on-one interactions and briefings
with interested investors, both locally and from overseas.

The directors, having considered all relevant factors, are of the opinion
that the annual financial statements set out on pages 67 to 129 have
been prepared on a going-concern basis. They believe that the
Group has adequate resources in place to continue in operation for
the foreseeable future.

The Board encourages shareholders to attend its forthcoming annual
general meeting, notice of which is contained in this annual report.
This meeting provides an opportunity for shareholders to question
the Board, including the Chairmen of the various Board committees.
Shareholders have opportunity to cast their votes at the annual
general meeting.

Code of ethics
Inextricably linked to good corporate governance is the company’s
Code of Ethics. The Group has always espoused the highest ethical
standards of business conduct and full compliance with applicable
laws, regulations and industry standards.
The Group aims to earn the trust of customers, shareholders, colleagues,
suppliers and communities through honesty, performance excellence,
good corporate governance and accountability. The Group expects
people to respect confidential information, company time and assets.
The Group believes in open and honest communication, fair treatment
and equal opportunities and supports the fundamental principles of
human rights.
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Committee
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Corporate governance
continued
While common sense, good judgement and conscience apply in
managing a difficult or uncertain situation, the Code of Ethics assists
in detailing the standards and priorities within the Group, as well as
specific rules covering human rights, safety at work and environmental
and supply management.
Guiding principles or core values within the Code define our
responsibilities towards and what we expect from:


Directors;



Employees;



Local communities and the public;



Customers, suppliers and markets; and



Shareholders.

Allegiance to the Code of Ethics is the starting point from which
employees draw inspiration and guidance for behaviour within a
group, society or the organisation. An integrity line has been established
to enable employees to report contraventions of the Code of Ethics.

Risk management report
The Board is ultimately responsible for risk management and is assisted
in its responsibilities by the Audit Committee. The day-to-day
responsibilities for the design and implementation of risk management
processes and systems are the responsibility of management.
A Risk Management Policy, an enterprise-wide Risk Management
Framework and Risk Management Plan are in place and periodically
reviewed. The company risks are updated quarterly into the Active
Risk Manager database. This requires that risks are assessed in
terms of impact and probability against defined criteria in line with
risk tolerance set by the Board.
A risk owner is assigned who is responsible for implementing and
tracking progress on the mitigation plans. Key risks are escalated
and reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Board quarterly.
The table below summarises the risks currently being faced by the
company and the mitigation strategy after considering effectiveness
of mitigation plans and existing controls.

Risk description

Mitigation

Global economy and consequent reduction in industrial
output from South Africa further exacerbated by an
increase in industrial action across various sectors:
Global economic crisis as well as a slowdown in South
African economy could lead to softening in demand for
products.

Increase the company’s resilience to economic downturns

Sustainability of supply position: Risk that Afrox cannot
capitalise on future upside or meet customer demand
due to lack of timely investment in productive assets.

Inadequate LPG strategic storage: Options to increase storage facilities to further
reduce supply chain risk under evaluation, together with continued focus on
optimising importation supply chain.

• Continue to manage cash flow
• Make further efficiency gains
• Continue with drive to improve customer service experience.
The integrated business lines model adopted at the end of 2012 will support
delivering on the above objectives.

Atmospheric Gases: Execute planned investment to ensure the company will
be able to service the growing demand in:
• Eastern Cape: air separation unit in Port Elizabeth, COEGA IDZ
• KwaZulu-Natal, Durban Campus
• The commissioning of the new Pretoria air separation unit will improve
supply position in the interior of South Africa.
Talent capability/capacity: Risk the already noted
Turnaround improvements cannot be sustained and that
achievement of strategic objectives are not possible
without increase in talent capacity/capability.

• Retain key skills

Leveraging existing African footprint: Not growing
current position in a number of African countries increases
risk to meeting growth ambitions and retaining leadership
position.

Good progress on improving corporate governance and integrating IS, Financial
and SHEQ systems and standards in countries outside South Africa.

• Realign existing talent to strategic priorities
• Progress the People Excellence HR roadmap.

Good progress on developing business cases for further investments in the
Rest of Africa; announcements in this regard expected in 2013/14.
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Comprehensive insurance remains in place and is reviewed annually
with assistance of insurance broker.
The company provides information to KPMG Germany as part of
their audit of The Linde Group to assess the effectiveness of risk
management. In addition, internal audit reviews risk management
practices as part of audit cycle.

Executive managers review the SHEQ policy regularly, which is a
key part of overall company strategy and operating policy. The
policy states that the company will develop its SHEQ capabilities to
world-class standards by manufacturing, marketing and supplying
quality products that are safe and do not pose a risk to people or to
the environment. In addition, the Group is committed to compliance
with all external regulations as well as ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and
OHS 18001.
In 2008, the Board established a SHEQ Committee to give strategic
direction on all SHEQ-related matters. For more information on SHEQ
refer to the safety, health, environment and quality section on
page 38.

Management of safety, health, environment
and quality (SHEQ) risk
The Board has the ultimate responsibility for monitoring the effectiveness
and efficiency of the SHEQ process. SHEQ performance is governed
through self-regulation, communicating and encouraging adherence
to safe practices. A dedicated SHEQ department ensures that the
Group has a deliverable policy, is proactive in its risk assessment
and professional in its remediation.

Carnita Low

Company Secretary
28 February 2013

2012 Reporting cycle

Directors

Scheduled
Board
meetings
attended

Special
Board
meeting
Audit
attended Committee

Special
Audit
Committee
Meetings meetings
NGMR
attended attended Committee

Meetings
SHEQ
attended Committee

Social, Ethics
and TransMeetings formation
attended Committee

Meetings
attended

Independent
non-executives
LL van Niekerk
DM Lawrence
KDK Mokhele
M Malebye
SN Maseko
CF Wells

5/5
4/5
5/5
5/5
1/2
2/2

0/1
1/1
1/1
1/1

Chairman
Member

4/4
3/4

4/4 Member
4/4
3/4 Chairman

3/4

1/1 Member
1/1 Chairman
Member
0/1

Member

5/5
5/5
4/5
2/2

1/1
1/1
1/1
1/1

Invitee

4/4

1/1

Invitee

4/4

Invitee

3/4

0/1

5/5
4/4
5/5

1/1
1/1
1/1

Invitee
Invitee

4/4
3/3

1/1
1/1

Invitee
Invitee

4/4
3/3

4/4
4/4

Chairman

3/3

Member
Member
Member

4/4
4/4
2/2

Member

2/3

Member

3/3

Member
Invitee

3/3
3/3

Non-executives
MS Huggon
DM Woodrow
M von Plotho
RJN Gearing

Executives
BD Kimber
NA Thomson
J Narayadoo
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The company’s assessment of business opportunities considers not
only the technical risks but also developing geo-political, economic
trends and customer trends. Risks are classified as either pure or
speculative allowing for refinement of the mitigation strategy and
for improved decision-making on risks that previously might not
have been viewed as within the company’s risk tolerance.
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Audit Committee’s report
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended
31 December 2012.



Reviewed the interim and year-end financial statements, culminating
in a recommendation to the Board;

The Audit Committee is an independent statutory committee
appointed by the shareholders and further duties are delegated to
the Audit Committee by the Board of directors of the company. In
addition to having specific statutory duties to the shareholders in
terms of the Companies Act, 2008, we assist the Board through
advising and making submissions on financial reporting, oversight
of the risk management process and internal financial controls,
external and internal audit functions and statutory and regulatory
compliance of the company. The role of the Committee and how it
achieved its responsibilities is described in its charter.



Reviewed the External Auditor’s reports, after the interim and
year-end financial audits;



Reviewed the Internal Audit and Risk Management reports and
made recommendations to the Board;



Reviewed the updated Levels of Authority for the company and
its subsidiaries; and



Reviewed the Document Retention Policy.

Reviews included the following:


Taking appropriate steps to ensure that the financial statements
are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS);



Considering and, when appropriate, making recommendations
on the effectiveness of internal controls;



Authorising the audit fees in respect of both the interim and
year-end audits;



Evaluating the effectiveness of risk management, controls and
the governance processes; and



Acting as the Audit Committee of the company and all its
subsidiaries although, some subsidiaries also have local Audit
Committees;

Audit Committee terms of reference
As members of the Committee, we have conducted the Committee’s
affairs in compliance with its applicable terms of reference and
have discharged the responsibilities contained therein. As a standing
agenda item, we review the terms of reference annually to ensure its
remains current and to identify areas where there may be shortcomings
in discharging our responsibilities.

Composition of audit committee
The Audit Committee has maintained its composition for the last four
years which consists of three independent members who are nonexecutive directors of the company: M Malebye; DM Lawrence, and
LL van Niekerk, who chairs the Audit Committee. The profile of these
directors can be found on pages 6 to 7 in the annual report.

Meeting attendance
The Audit Committee is required to meet at least three times a year
as per its terms of reference. For the 2012 financial year, we met on
four occasions at meetings held on 22 August 2012 and 20 November
2012, 15 January 2013 and 27 February 2013. Attendance statistics
of the members can be found on page 51.
The Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, Financial Director,
Head of Internal Audit, External Auditor and other assurance providers
attend meetings by invitation only. Other members of the Executive
Management Committee were invited to present at some of the
meetings. The Audit Committee has had closed sessions with the
Internal and External Auditors at the end of each meeting, without
management being present.
Further to the formal meetings, as Chairman of the Audit Committee,
I have met with the External Auditor and the Head of Internal Audit
on a regular basis, independently of each other and management.
In addition, I have had meetings with the Financial Director regarding
matters concerning the company.

Role and duties
The Audit Committee’s role and duties include statutory duties per
the Companies Act, 2008, and further responsibilities assigned to it
by the Board. In execution of its duties during the past financial
year, the Committee performed the following functions during the
year under review:

dealt with concerns or complaints relating to:


Accounting policies;



Internal and external audit;



The audit or content of annual financial statements;



Internal controls; and



Related matters.

External Auditor appointment and independence
We are satisfied that the External Auditor appointed has remained
independent of the company. Requisite assurance was sought and
provided by the auditor that internal governance processes within the
audit firm support and demonstrate its claim to independence. The
Audit Committee further believes that the appointment of KPMG Inc.
complied with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2008.
The Committee, in consultation with executive management, agreed
to the terms of engagement, audit plan and budgeted audit fees
relating to the 2012 financial year-end audit. Details of the External
Auditor’s fees are set out per note 22 on page 107 of the annual report.
As per the terms of reference, the Audit Committee governs the
process whereby the auditor is considered for non-audit services.
For all non-audit services above R500k these need to be pre-approved
by the Audit Committee. For the year under review, the External
Auditors continued to provide non-audit services in the form of an
Export and Import undertakings audit. These were assessed and
approved by the Committee.
The Committee has nominated, for election at the annual general
meeting, KPMG Inc. as the external audit firm, for the 2013 year.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting policies and the
financial statements of the company and is satisfied that they are
appropriate and comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards. With regards to any concerns and complaints received
from management, Internal Audit and External Audit relating to the
accounting reporting practices and internal audit of the company,
the content or auditing of its financial statements and internal
financial controls of the company, no matters of significance have
been raised in the past financial year to the Audit Committee. Based
on the processes and assurances obtained, the Audit Committee
believes that significant internal controls are effective.

Governance of risk
The Board has assigned oversight of the company’s risk management
function to the Audit Committee. We fulfil this role as an integral
component of the company’s enterprise-wide risk management
process as described in our terms of reference. The Committee has
reviewed the company’s top risks and evaluated the status of
implementing the associated mitigation actions.

Preventing and detecting fraud
The Audit Committee received an overview regarding forensic
investigations conducted by the Manager for Loss Control, Security
and Investigations and by Internal Audit. The Committee recognises
management’s effort in adopting a zero tolerance in the fight
against fraud.

Going concern

Finance function

The Audit Committee has reviewed a documented assessment, including
key assumptions, prepared by management of the going-concern
status of the company and has made recommendations to the Board
in accordance. We concur that the adoption of the going-concern
premise in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

As required by the JSE Listings Requirements 3.84(i), we are satisfied
that the Financial Director has appropriate expertise and experience
to meet his responsibilities in the position. The evaluation also
considered the appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of
resources of the Finance function.

Internal audit

Regulatory compliance

The members of the Audit Committee are satisfied that the company’s
Internal Audit function is independent and has the necessary resources,
standing and authority within the company to enable it to discharge
its duties. Furthermore, the Committee oversees co-operation between
the Internal and External Auditors and serves as a link between the
Board of directors and these functions.

The Audit Committee, with another Board committee focusing on
governance, has begun implementing the requirements of King III
where gaps have been identified. For example, IT governance has
been delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee, which is now an
annual standing agenda item. The IT Governance report is enhanced
annually to ensure it contains relevant information for the Committee.

The Internal Audit Charter is well supported by a comprehensive
Internal Audit manual that has been in place for the past four years.
The Internal Audit function’s annual audit plan was approved by
the Audit Committee.

Louis van Niekerk

Chairman of the Audit Committee
27 February 2013
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Financial statements, accounting practice
and internal financial controls
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These annual financial statements have been
prepared under the supervision of the Financial
Director, Nick Thomson (CA)SA.
These annual financial statements, as set out on
pages 56 to 129 have been audited by KPMG Inc
in compliance with section 30 of the Companies
Act, 2008.
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Value added statement
for the year ended 31 December 2012
This statement is a measure of the wealth created by the Group through its various business activities.
The statement and charts show the total wealth created, how it was distributed and retained to finance future growth.
2012
Group

R’m

2011
%

R’m

Wealth created
Revenue
Cost of goods and services

5 558
(3 637)

5 246
(3 513)

Value added
Finance income
Income from investments

1 921
133
4

1 733
168
3

2 058

1 904

Wealth distributed and retained
Employees
Salaries and benefits
Community
Donations
Providers of capital

%

1 148

56

1 109

58

6
324

–
16

3
319

–
17

Finance costs
Non-controlling interests
Ordinary dividends

157
13
154

8
1
7

214
12
93

11
1
5

Taxation
Retained in Group activities

136
444

6
22

100
373

5
20

328
116

16
6

283
90

15
5

2 058

100

1 904

100

Depreciation and amortisation
Retained income

3 248
10

3 288
36

Revenue per average permanent employee (R’000)
Value added per average permanent employee (R’000)

1 701
588

1 572
519

Employees

Providers of capital

Taxation

5

17

20

Retained

Employees

Providers of capital

Taxation

6

16

22

Retained

58

Permanent
Short-term and contractors

WEALTH DISTRIBUTED AND RETAINED (%)
2011

3 324

56

3 258

WEALTH DISTRIBUTED AND RETAINED (%)
2012

Value added ratios
Number of employees
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Five-year financial review
for the year ended 31 December 2012
2009
R’m

2008
R’m

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Other non-current assets
Retirement benefit assets
Deferred tax assets
Current assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents)
Assets held-for-sale

2 854
241
348
15
1 588
44

2 657
273
601
6
1 574
–

2 637
304
544
11
1 463
–

2 729
357
653
10
1 438
–

2 817
417
591
6
2 023
–

Total assets

5 090

5 111

4 959

5 187

5 854

Equity and liabilities
Total equity attributable to owners of parent
Non-controlling interests
Borrowings (including net cash and cash equivalents)
Deferred tax liabilities
Current liabilities (excluding interest-bearing borrowings)

2 804
27
615
528
1 116

2 827
38
716
524
1 006

2 695
32
842
514
876

2 827
32
914
562
852

2 741
39
1 532
519
1 023

Total equity and liabilities

5 090

5 111

4 959

5 187

5 854

5 558

5 246

4 721

4 795

5 666

SUMMARISED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SUMMARISED INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue

798
(328)
(31)

774
(283)
(153)

606
(283)
(104)

801
(301)
(18)

943
(257)
–

439
(24)
4

338
(46)
3

219
(63)
6

482
(116)
2

686
(54)
2

419
(136)

295
(100)

162
(56)

368
(125)

634
(207)

Profit for the year

283

195

106

243

427

Attributable to equity holders of the company
Non-controlling interests

270
13

183
12

94
12

232
11

412
15

Attributable to equity holders of the company
Dividends declared

270
(154)

183
(93)

94
(117)

232
(136)

412
(272)

116

90

(23)

96

140

439
936
546
12
(115)

338
844
416
5
(126)

219
606
294
–
(72)

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Net finance expense
Income from associate
Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Retained income/(loss)

Cash flow summary
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Cash generated from operations
Total capital expenditure (tangible)
Acquisition of intangible assets
Change in funding requirements

482
1 233
293
14
(618)

686
665
540
63
507

Financial results and other information

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation
and impairments (EBITDA)
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments

Sustainability

2010
R’m

Support functions

2011
R’m

Business review

2012
R’m

Group
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Five-year financial review
continued
2012

2011

2010

2009

2008

309
309

309
309

309
309

309
309

309
309

87.5
91.0
45.0
1.9
2.0
1 170

59.2
91.6
45.0
1.3
2.0
1 134

30.5
55.5
27.0
1.1
2.1
1 143

75.2
74.6
38.0
2.0
2.0
1 190

133.7
133.5
67.0
2.0
2.0
1 372

Profitability and asset management
EBITDA margin (%)
EBIT margin (%)
Return on net assets (%)
Net asset turn (times)
Return on shareholders’ equity (%)
Return on capital employed (%)
Effective rate of taxation (%)

14.4
7.9
12.4
1.6
10.1
10.9
32.5

14.8
6.4
9.6
1.5
7.1
8.3
33.9

12.8
4.6
6.1
1.3
3.8
5.2
34.6

16.7
10.1
5.5
1.2
8.7
10.5
34.0

16.6
12.1
5.7
1.5
15.6
15.1
32.6

Liquidity and leverage
Interest cover (times)
Liability ratio
Current ratio
Gearing (%)

18.3
0.6
1.4
15.5

7.3
0.6
1.6
17.4

3.5
0.6
1.7
20.6

4.2
0.7
1.7
21.1

12.7
0.8
2.0
31.7

3 248
1 701

3 288
1 572

3 388
1 383

3 439
1 268

4 124
1 421

128

88

47

97

159

StatISTICS
Total number of shares in issue (excluding treasury
shares) (millions)
Weighted average number of shares in issue (millions)
Ordinary share performance
Basic earnings per share (cents) (Note 26)
Headline earnings per share (cents) (Note 26)
Dividends declared per share (cents) (Note 27)
Dividend cover – basic earnings (times)
Dividend cover – headline earnings (times)
Net asset value per share (cents)

Value added
Number of permanent employees
Revenue per average permanent employee (R’000)
Profit before taxation per average permanent
employee (R’000)

DEFINITIONS OF RATIOS AND TERMS UTILISED FOR RATIOS AND STATISTICS
Basic earnings
per share
Headline earnings
per share

Dividend cover

Dividend declared
per share
Net asset value
per share
EBITDA margin

attributable profit for the financial year (net of tax)
weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year
attributable profit for the financial year (net of tax),
excluding impairments and profit and loss
on disposal of property, plant and equipment
weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year
attributable profit for the financial year
total dividends paid or declared out of net
profit for the year
interim dividend per share paid plus final
dividend per share declared
net asset value
number of ordinary shares in issue at year-end

EBITDA
revenue
EBIT margin
EBIT
revenue
Return on net assets EBIT
average net assets
Net asset turn
revenue
average net assets
Net assets
total assets (excluding cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets and retirement benefit assets)
less current liabilities (excluding interest-bearing
borrowings)

Return on
shareholders’ equity

attributable profit for the financial year
average shareholders’ equity

Return on capital
employed

EBIT
average capital employed

Capital employed

Shareholders’ equity, total interest-bearing
borrowings, deferred tax and non-controlling interests

Borrowings

net interest-bearing debt

Effective rate
of taxation

income tax expense
profit before taxation

Interest cover

EBIT
net finance (expense)/income

Liability ratio

gross borrowings and current liabilities
total equity and liabilities (excluding borrowings
and current liabilities)

Current ratio

current assets
current liabilities

Gearing

borrowings
total capital employed

Revenue per
employee

revenue for the financial year
average number of permanent employees

Profit before taxation profit before taxation
per employee
average number of permanent employees
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 December 2012
The directors have pleasure in submitting the Group annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2012.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

LISTINGS

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The results of the Group’s operations for the year are set out in
the income statements on page 77.
A summarised five-year review of the Group’s statement of financial
position, income statement and cash flow statement are presented
on page 57.
The results for the year ended 31 December 2012 show revenue of
R5 558 million with earnings before interest and tax at R439 million
and net profit attributable to the equity holders of the company at
R270 million. Basic and diluted earnings per share was 87.5 cents.
The statement of financial position continues to reflect that the Group
is in a strong financial position with cash generated from operations
for the period of R936 million. Gearing is at a very acceptable 15.5%.

SHARE CAPITAL
The company’s authorised share capital remained unchanged. As at
31 December 2012, the company’s issued share capital is reflected
in the following table:

17 500 000

342 852 910
7 147 090

17 142 646
357 354

34 285 308

1 714 265

DISTRIBUTION TO SHAREHOLDERS
Details of dividends paid and declared to shareholders are set out in
note 27 to the financial statements. An interim dividend of 27 cents
per ordinary share was paid on 15 October 2012.
A final dividend of 18.0 cents per ordinary share before the dividend
taxation of 15% has been declared. The final dividend will be paid on
Monday, 22 April 2013. The Board is satisfied that the Group’s capital
remaining after the payment of the final dividend will be sufficient to
support the current operations and to facilitate the anticipated future
development of its businesses during the year ahead.

PARENT COMPANY
The parent company of Afrox is BOC Holdings and the ultimate parent
company is Linde AG. Afrox is incorporated in the Republic of South
Africa. The Linde Group is incorporated in Germany and is listed on
all the German Stock Exchanges (where it forms part of the DAX 30
share index).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board currently comprises three executive directors, four nonexecutive directors and six independent non-executive directors.
Directors who served in office during the year under review are as
follows:
Executive directors
Brett Kimber (Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed 1 January 2012)
Nick Thomson (Financial Director) (British) (appointed 2 April 2012)
Frederick Kotzee (Financial Director) (resigned 31 March 2012)
Jonathan Narayadoo (General manager MPG Operations)
Non-executive directors (The Linde Group appointees)
Mike Huggon (British) (Chairman)
Richard Gearing (British) (appointed 10 September 2012)
Matthias von Plotho (German)
Dynes Woodrow (British)
Independent non-executive directors
David Lawrence
Morongwe Malebye
Sipho Maseko (appointed 22 November 2012)
Dr Khotso Mokhele
Louis van Niekerk
Christopher Wells (appointed 22 November 2012)

Financial results and other information

In line with its terms of reference approved by the Board of directors
and the requirements of section 94 of the Companies Act, 2008,
the Audit Committee confirms that it has discharged all of its
mandated responsibilities (refer to page 52 for details of functions
performed by the Audit Committee). Afrox aspires to apply all the
principles of the King Code of Governance Principles for South Africa,
2009 (King III Code).

Treasury shares

350 000 000

Sustainability

Afrox has its primary listing on the JSE Limited (JSE) and its secondary
listing on the Namibian Stock Exchange (NSX). The abbreviated name
under which the company is listed on the JSE is ‘AFX’ and on the NSX
is ‘AOX’. The company’s JSE clearing code is ISIN: ZAE000067120.

Issued
Unissued

R

Support functions

Afrox is an integrated, full spectrum industrial gases, welding products
and liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) business, operating in sub-Saharan
Africa. We provide solutions and services to meet the needs of
customers and deliver product service offerings to targeted market
segments. The business comprises large gas supply schemes, bulk
industrial gas, packaged cylinder gases, welding products and liquefied
petroleum gas, this includes products such as medical gas products,
scientific gases, refrigerants, packaged chemicals and helium, gases
and services and safety products and services.

Authorised ordinary shares

Number

Business review

In the context of the financial statements, the term ‘Group’ refers to
African Oxygen Limited (Afrox) as the company and its subsidiaries.
A list of the subsidiaries and associate appears on pages 128 and 129.

2012 and 2011
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Directors’ report
continued
INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

ADMINISTRATION

There were no contracts of significance during, or at the end of, the
financial year and up to the date of this report in which any director
of the company had any material personal interest.

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited is the share transfer
secretary of the company. The JSE sponsor is One Capital and the
NSX sponsoring broker is Namibia Equity Brokers (Pty) Limited.

SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDERS

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of significant shareholders appear on page 81 of this
annual report.

Information regarding the Group’s subsidiaries is set out in note
4 and of the interest in its associate in note 5.

SERVICE CONTRACTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

No service contracts exist between the company and any of its
directors having a notice period exceeding six months or providing
for compensation and benefits (excluding share-linked benefits
vesting in terms of the applicable rules of the scheme) in excess of
six months’ salary.

The independent auditors, KPMG Inc will continue in office for the
ensuing period in accordance with section 84(4)(b) of the Companies
Act, 2008.

SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS SCHEME (SARs)
The Group changed its share appreciation rights scheme from a
cash-settled to equity-settled scheme during the year (refer note 34).
In terms of the rules of the various share schemes, the aggregate
number of share appreciation rights together with forfeitable shares
shall not exceed the equivalent of 10% of the company’s issued
ordinary share capital from time to time and no one individual may
hold in excess of the equivalent of 1% of the company’s issued
share capital.
The executive directors who held office on 31 December 2012 had
a direct interest in 352 522 share appreciation rights in the company,
granted at an average price of R23.63 per share.

FORFEITABLE SHARE PLAN (FSP)
The FSP was introduced during the year, with effect from 1 January
2012. Executive directors who held office on 31 December 2012
had an indirect interest in 63 800 forfeitable shares granted at an
average price of R19.75 per share. The release of certain of the
shares is conditional only upon the directors being employed by the
company at the vesting date and for other shares granted both on
continued employment and on reaching predetermined performance
conditions (refer note 34).

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms C Low is the Company Secretary and her business and postal
addresses appear on page 131 of this annual report.

BORROWING FACILITIES
The Group’s net borrowings at December 2012 amounted to
R615 million (2011: R716 million). Details of the long-term borrowings
are set out in note 17. There are no restrictions on the company’s
borrowing capacity contained in the Articles of Association.
The Group has negotiated a short-term bridging facility of R600 million
to facilitate a programme of re-financing its current funding sources
on a long-term basis. Substantial interest has been expressed by both
institutional investors and the group’s commercial bankers to provide
a range of funding instruments with duration ranging from three
years to seven years. The directors are comfortable that the Group
will have access to sufficient funding to meet its operational growth
requirements.

LITIGATION STATEMENT
A claim of R207 million has been made by a customer against the
Group. This claim refers to supply disruptions, predominantly as a
result of power outages and equipment failures. The Group has sought
legal advice and the Board of directors is still of the opinion that
various robust defences exist in respect of this claim and material
success in the matter by the claimant is improbable. Arbitration in
respect of this matter is set for the first half of 2013.

GENERAL
To the best of our knowledge no other significant formal litigation
has been instigated against the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
The sale of RECO was completed in February 2013.
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Company Secretary’s certificate
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Support functions

C Low
Company Secretary

Business review

In my capacity as the Company Secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of the Companies Act, 2008, that for the year ended 31 December
2012 the company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such returns as are required of a public company
in terms of this Act and that all such returns are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, correct and up to date.

Johannesburg
28 February 2013

Sustainability

for the year ended 31 December 2012
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of
African Oxygen Limited, comprising the statements of financial
position at 31 December 2012, the income statements and the
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash
flows for the year then ended and the notes to the financial
statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and SAICA Financial Reporting
Pronouncement as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards
Council and the requirements of the Companies Act of South
Africa. In addition, the directors are responsible for preparing the
Directors’ report.
The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate accounting
records and an effective system of risk management, as well as the
preparation of the supplementary schedules included in these
financial statements.

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the company
and its subsidiaries to continue as going concerns and have no reason
to believe that they will not be going concerns in the year ahead.
The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the consolidated
and separate annual financial statements are fairly presented in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
The consolidated and separate annual financial statements of
African Oxygen Limited, as identified in the first paragraph, were
approved by the Board of directors on 28 February 2013 and are
signed by:

BD Kimber
Authorised director
Managing Director
Johannesburg
28 February 2013

NA Thomson
Authorised director
Financial Director

Financial results and other information

Approval of the financial statements
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Independent auditor’s report
for the year ended 31 December 2012
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AFRICAN OXYGEN LIMITED
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements
of African Oxygen Limited, which comprise the statements of financial
position at 31 December 2012, the income statements and the
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash
flows for the year then ended and the notes to the financial
statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes as set out on pages 67 to 129.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements
of the Companies Act of South Africa and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated and separate financial position of African
Oxygen Limited at 31 December 2012 and its consolidated and
separate financial performance and consolidated and separate cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies
Act of South Africa.
Other reports required by the Companies Act
As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2012, we have read the Directors’ report, the Audit
Committee’s report and the Company Secretary’s certificate for the
purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies
between these reports and the audited financial statements. These
reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on
reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies
between these reports and the audited financial statements. However,
we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express
an opinion on these reports.

KPMG Inc
Registered Auditor

Per NH Southon
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor
Director
28 February 2013

KPMG Crescent
85 Empire Road
Parktown
Johannesburg
2193
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Group structures

Equity method
A method in which the investment is initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the share of
net assets of the investee. Profit or loss includes the share of the
profit or loss of the investee.

Group
The Group comprises African Oxygen Limited and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the Group) and the Group’s interest in
an associate.

Subsidiary
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the parent. Control is the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls the other entity.

GENERAL ACCOUNTING TERMS
Accounting policies
The specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied
in preparing and presenting financial statements.
Accrual basis of accounting
The effects of transactions and other events are recognised when
they occur rather than when the cash is received or paid.
Acquisition date
The date on which control in subsidiaries, special purpose entities
and significant influence in the associate commenced.
Actuarial gains and losses
The effects of differences between the previous actuarial assumptions
and what has actually occurred, as well as changes in values resulting
from changes in actuarial assumptions.
Amortised cost
The amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured
at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation, using the effective interest method, of any

Carrying amount
The amount at which an asset or liability is recognised in the
statement of financial position.
Cash flow hedge
A hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable
to a particular risk associated with an asset, or a liability that could
affect profit or loss or a highly probable forecast transaction that
could affect profit or loss.
Cash-generating unit
The smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets.
Change in accounting estimate
An adjustment to an asset or a liability or the amount of the periodic
consumption of an asset as a result of new information or developments.
Constructive obligation
An obligation that derives from an established pattern of past practice,
published policies or a sufficiently specific current statement such that
it creates a valid expectation on the part of other parties that the
obligation will be met.
Consolidated financial statements
The financial results of the Group which comprise the financial results
of African Oxygen Limited and its subsidiaries, special purpose entities
and its interest in the associate.
Contingent asset
A possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will
be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the entity.
Contingent liability
A possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
entity, or a present obligation that arises from past events but is not
recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient
reliability.
Costs to sell
The incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset,
excluding finance costs and income tax expense.
Date of transaction
The date on which a transaction first qualifies for recognition in
accordance with IFRS.

Financial results and other information

Special purpose entity
An entity established to accomplish a narrow and well defined
objective (at this stage limited to the ISAS Trust).

Borrowing costs
Finance and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Sustainability

Foreign operation
An entity whose activities are based or conducted in a country or
currency other than those of the reporting entity.

Asset
A resource controlled by the entity as a result of a past event from
which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity.

Support functions

Company
A legal business entity registered in terms of the applicable legislation
of that country.

difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount,
minus any reduction for impairment or uncollectability.

Business review

Associate
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
associate but with no control or joint control over these policies.

Overview

Glossary of financial reporting terms
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Glossary of financial reporting terms
continued
Depreciation or amortisation
The systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over
its useful life. The depreciable amount of an asset is the cost of the
asset, or other amount substituted for cost, net of residual value.
Derecognition
The removal of a previously recognised asset or liability from the
statement of financial position.
Discontinued operation
A component of the entity that has either been disposed of or is
classified as held-for-sale and represents a separate major line of
business or geographical operational area or is part of a single
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operation or a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resell.
Disposal group
A group of assets to be disposed of collectively (by sale or otherwise),
as a group in a single transaction and liabilities directly associated
with those assets that will be transferred in the transaction.
Employee benefits
All forms of consideration given in exchange for services rendered
by employees.
Expenses
The decreases in economic benefits in the form of outflows or depletion
of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in equity,
other than those relating to distributions to equity participants.
Fair value
The amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability
settled, between knowledgeable and willing partners in an arm’s
length transaction.
Fair value hedge
A hedge of exposure to changes in fair value of a recognised asset,
recognised liability or unrecognised firm commitment.
Financial instrument
A contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument in another entity.
Finance lease
A lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an asset to the lessee.
Financial results
Comprise the financial position (assets, liabilities and equity), financial
performance (revenue and expenses) and cash flows of the Group
or an entity within the Group.
Financial risk
The risk of a possible future change in a specified interest rate,
financial instrument price, commodity price or rate, credit rating or
credit index or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial
variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract.
Firm commitment
A binding agreement for the exchange of a specified quantity of
resources at a specified price on a specified future date or dates.

Functional currency
The currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates.
Going-concern basis
The assumption that the entity will continue in operation for the
year ahead.
Government grant
Assistance by government in the form of transfers of resources to an
entity in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions
relating to the operating activities of the entity.
Gross investment in lease
The aggregate of the minimum lease payments receivable by the
lessor under a finance lease and any unguaranteed residual value
accruing to the lessor.
Headline earnings
Earnings excluding ‘separately identifiable remeasurements’, net
of related tax and related non-controlling interest, other than
remeasurements specifically included in headline earnings.
Hedged item
An asset, liability, firm commitment, highly probable forecast
transaction or net investment in a foreign operation that exposes
the entity to risk of changes in fair value or future cash flows and is
designated as being hedged.
Hedging instrument
A designated derivative or non-derivative financial asset or liability
whose fair value or cash flows are expected to offset changes in the
fair value or cash flows of a designated hedged item.
Hedge effectiveness
The degree to which changes in the fair value or cash flows of the
hedged item that are attributable to a hedged risk are offset by
changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument.
Held-for-trading financial asset or financial liability
Financial asset or financial liability that is acquired or incurred
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term or as a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking or a derivative
(except for a derivative that is a designated and effective hedging
instrument or a financial guarantee contract).
Impairment loss
The amount by which the carrying amount of an asset or a cashgenerating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.
Income
Increase in economic benefits in the form of inflows or enhancements
of assets or decreases of liabilities that result in increases in equity,
other than those relating to contributions from equity participants.
Key management personnel
Those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the entity including
any director.
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Liability
A present obligation arising from a past event, the settlement of
which is expected to result in an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits.

Presentation currency
The currency in which the financial statements are presented.
Prospective application
Applying a change in accounting policy to transactions, other events
and conditions occurring after the date the policy changed, or
recognising the effect of a change in accounting estimate in the current
and future periods.

Net investment in the lease
The gross investment in the lease discounted at the interest rate
implicit in the lease.

Related party
Parties are considered to be related if one party directly or indirectly
has the ability to control or jointly control the reporting entity or
exercise significant influence over the reporting entity or is a member
of the key management of the reporting entity.

Onerous contract
A contract in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to accrue
under it.

Other comprehensive income
Comprises items of income and expenditure (including reclassification
adjustments) that are not recognised in profit or loss and includes
the effect of translation of foreign operations, cash flow hedges,
available-for-sale financial assets, changes in revaluation reserves
and actuarial gains or losses.
Owner-occupied property
Property held by the owner or by the lessee under a finance lease
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes.
Past service cost
The increase or decrease in the present value of the defined obligation
for employee service in prior periods resulting, in the current period,
from the introduction of, or changes to, post-employment benefits
or other long-term employee benefits.
Post-employment benefits
Employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are payable
after the completion of employment.
Post-employment benefit plans
Formal or informal arrangements under which an entity provides
post-employment benefits to employees. Defined contribution benefit
plans are plans where there are no legal or constructive obligations
for the employer to pay further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to
employee services in the current and prior periods.
Defined benefit plans are post-employment benefit plans other
than defined contribution plans.

Research and development cost
Research costs, being the original and planned investigation undertaken
with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge
and understanding.
Development costs, being the application of research findings or other
knowledge to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially
improved materials, devices, products, processes, systems or services
before starting commercial production or use.
Residual value
The estimated amount that an entity would currently obtain from
disposal of an asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal,
if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected
at the end of its useful life.
Retrospective application
Applying a new accounting standard to transactions, other events
and conditions as if the policy had always been applied.
Revenue
Gross inflow of economic benefits during the period arising in the
course of the ordinary activities of an entity when those inflows
result in increases in equity, other than increases relating to
contributions from equity participants.
Segment assets and liabilities
Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and
consist principally of operating cash, receivables, inventories and
property, plant and equipment and investments, net of allowances.
Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist
principally of trade payable and accrued liabilities. Segment assets
and liabilities do not include deferred tax, income tax and postemployment assets and liabilities.
Segment revenue and expenses
Segment revenue and expenses that are directly attributable to the
segments or are allocated to those segments.

Financial results and other information

Operating lease
A lease other than a finance lease.

Regular way purchase or sale
A purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract, the terms of
which require delivery of the asset within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.

Sustainability

Recoverable amount
The amount that reflects the greater of the fair value less costs to
sell and value in use that can be attributed to the asset as a result
of its ongoing use by the entity.

Support functions

Minimum lease payments
Payments over the lease term that the lessee is or can be required
to make, excluding contingent rent, costs for services and taxes to
be paid by and reimbursed to the lessor, including, in the case of a
lessee, any amounts guaranteed by the lessee or by the party
related to the lessee or, in the case of a lessor, any residual value
guaranteed to the lessor by the lessee, a party related to the lessee
or a third party unrelated to the lessor that is financially capable of
discharging the obligations under the guarantee.

Business review

Legal obligation
An obligation that derives from a contract, legislation or other
operation of law.
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Significant influence
The power, to participate in, but not exercise control over, the financial
and operating policy decisions of an entity so as to obtain economic
benefit from its activities.
Tax base
The tax base of an asset is the amount that is deductible for tax
purposes if the economic benefits from the asset are taxable or the
carrying amount of the asset if the economic benefits are not taxable.
The tax base of a liability is the carrying amount of the liability less
the amount deductible for tax purposes in respect of that liability in
future periods.
Temporary differences
The differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability
and its tax base.
Treasury shares
An entity’s own equity instruments held by the entity or other
members of the consolidated Group.
Transaction costs
Incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial liability.
Unearned finance income
The difference between the gross investment in the lease and the
net investment in the lease.
Useful life
The period over which an asset is expected to be available for use
by the entity or the number of production or similar units expected
to be obtained from the asset by the entity.
Value in use
The present value of the future cash flows, expected to be derived
from the continuing use and disposal at the end of its useful life of
an asset or cash generating unit and the continuing use and disposal
thereof, at the end of its useful life.

Effective interest rate
The derived rate that discounts the expected future cash flows over
the expected life of the financial instrument to the current net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
Equity instrument
Any financial instrument that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Financial asset
Cash or cash equivalents, a right to receive cash, an equity instrument
of another entity or a right to exchange financial instruments under
favourable conditions.
Financial instruments classified as held-for-trading
Acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
it in the near term; on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which
there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee
contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument).
Financial liability
A contractual obligation to pay cash or cash equivalents or transfer
other benefits or an obligation to exchange financial instruments under
unfavourable conditions.
Monetary liability
A liability which will be settled in a fixed or determinable amount
of money.
Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liability that meets either of the following conditions: It
meets the definition of held-for-trading, or upon initial recognition
it is designated by the entity at fair value through profit or loss.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT TERMS

Held-to-maturity investment

Available-for-sale financial assets
A non-derivative financial asset that is so designated or is not
classified as:

A financial asset with a fixed maturity and fixed or determinable
future payments, that management has the positive intent and ability
to hold to maturity.



a loan and receivable;



a held-to-maturity investment; or



a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents
are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
Derivative
A financial instrument:


whose value changes in response to movements in a specified
interest rate, commodity price, foreign exchange rate or similar
variable;

that requires no initial net investment, or an initial net investment
that is smaller than would be required for other types of contracts
that would be expected to have a similar response to change in
market factor; and
 whose terms require or permit settlement at a future date.


Loans and receivables
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market and exclude:


those that the Group intends to trade in, which are classified as
held-for-trading and those that the Group designates as at fair
value through profit or loss;



those that the Group designates as available-for-sale; and



those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its
initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration, which
are classified as available-for-sale.

Monetary assets
An asset which will be received in a fixed or determinable amount
of money.
Monetary liability
A liability which will be settled in a fixed or determinable amount
of money.
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Basis of preparation

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1 Basis of preparation of financial results

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements are prepared using the historical
cost basis, except derivative financial instruments that have been
measured at fair value and liabilities for cash settled share-based
payment arrangements that are required to be measured at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the going
concern basis.
2 Basis of consolidation of financial results
The consolidated financial statements reflect the financial results of
the Group and the Group’s interest in an associate. All financial
results are consolidated with similar items on a line by line basis
except for the investment in the associate, which is included in the
Group’s results as set out below.
Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses
between entities are eliminated on consolidation. In respect of the
associate, unrealised gains and losses are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
Subsidiaries
The Group financial statements include the financial statements of the
company and its subsidiaries. Where an investment in a subsidiary is
acquired or disposed of during the financial year its results are included

A non-controlling interest is measured at its share of the identifiable
assets and liabilities, which are generally at fair value.
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities,
income, expenses and cash flows of the subsidiaries.
The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Loss of control
On the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interest and the other components
of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the
loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any
interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at
fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted
for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial
asset depending on the level of influence retained.
Associate
The consolidated financial statements incorporates investments in
the associate, income and expenses of the associate using the equity
method of accounting from the acquisition date to the disposal date,
being the date that significant influence commenced to the date that
significant influence ceased. Significant influence is presumed to exist
when the Group holds between 20 and 50 percent of the voting
power of another entity. In this method the investment is initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition
change in the share of net assets of the associate. The consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of equity accounted investee.
In the financial statements of the company, the interests in the
associate is measured at cost less impairments.
Associate accounting policies have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. The
reporting dates of the associate are not aligned to the reporting
dates of the Group. The Group recognises its share of the net profit
or loss of the associate up to the Group’s reporting date.
If the Group’s share of losses of the associated company exceeds the
carrying amount the investment would be carried at R Nil. Additional
losses would only be recognised to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or has made payments on
behalf of the associate.

Financial results and other information

Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated annual financial statements are presented in
South African Rands (‘Rands’), which is the company’s functional
and presentation currency. All financial information presented in
South African Rands has been rounded to the nearest million (R’m)
except for when otherwise indicated.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination are generally measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of acquisition plus
recognised amount of non-controlling interest over the individual
net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition
plus recognised amount of non-controlling interest is less than the
net recognised amount of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Sustainability

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently
to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements
and have been applied by all the Group entities.

The cost of acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange. Costs directly attributable to the acquisition
are expensed as incurred.

Support functions

Statement of compliance
The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
the SAICA Financial reporting pronouncements issued by the Financial
Reporting Standards Council and the requirements of the South
African Companies Act 71 of 2008.

from the date control commences to the date control ceases. In the
financial statements of the company, the interests in subsidiaries
are measured at cost less impairments.

Business review

Reporting entity
African Oxygen Limited is a company domiciled in South Africa. The
address of the company’s registered office is 23 Webber Street, Selby,
Johannesburg, South Africa. Its parent company is BOC Holdings Limited
(registered in the United Kingdom) a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Linde AG. The ultimate holding company is Linde AG (registered in
Germany). The consolidated financial statements of African Oxygen
Limited, as at 31 December 2012 and for the year ended 31 December
2012 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the Group) and the Group’s interest in an associate. The Group
is primarily involved in the manufacture and distribution of gases
and welding products.

Overview

Accounting policies
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3 Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
are recognised at the exchange rates ruling on the transaction dates.

Land is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment loss where
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be lower than
its carrying amount.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the reporting date.
Gains and losses arising on these exchange differences are recognised
in profit or loss.

Depreciation is based on cost less residual value and is recognised in
profit or loss so as to write off the depreciable amount of the assets,
over their estimated useful lives using a method that reflects the
pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefits are expected
to be consumed by the entity.

Translation differences on equities held at fair value through profit
or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets,
are included in other comprehensive income.

Where significant parts of an item have different useful lives or
patterns in which future economic benefits are expected to be
consumed to the item itself, these parts are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives.

Foreign operations
The financial statements of entities (none of which has the currency of
a hyperinflationary economy) whose functional currencies are different
to the Group’s presentation currency are translated on consolidation:


Assets, including goodwill, and liabilities: At the closing exchange
rates for each reporting date presented;



Income and expense items: At the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions; and



Equity items: At the exchange rates ruling when they arose.

Resulting exchange differences are classified as a foreign currency
translation reserve and recognised in other comprehensive income
and presented in equity in foreign currency translation reserve. If
the foreign operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, then the
relevant proportion of the translation difference is allocated to noncontrolling interest.
On disposal of a foreign operation the related amount in equity is
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale. When
the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant
proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to the noncontrolling interest.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
company and translated at the closing rate at the reporting date.
4 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment comprise tangible items that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for rental
to others, or for administrative purposes and are expected to be
used during more than one accounting period. Land and buildings
are factories and offices.
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All
repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
Assets under construction are stated at cost which includes cost
of materials and direct labour and any directly attributable costs
incurred in bringing the assets to their present location and condition.
Government grants are recognised at fair value when there is reasonable
assurance that the grants will be received. Government grants are
included in the carrying amount and recognised in profit or loss over
the useful life of the related item of property, plant and equipment.

The methods of depreciation, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.
The expected useful lives were as follows for current and prior years:
Freehold properties
Cylinders
Valves and re-lifing
Plant and equipment
Vehicles
Furniture and fittings

40 years
15 – 20 years
10 years
5 – 25 years
7 – 25 years
5 years

Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life
of the related asset or to the date of the next major renovation,
whichever is sooner. When part of an asset is being replaced, the
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing net
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss.
5 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost if acquired separately
or internally generated or at fair value if acquired as part of a business
combination. If assessed as having an indefinite useful life, they are
not amortised but are tested for impairment annually and impaired
if necessary. If assessed as having a finite useful life, they are
amortised over the estimated useful lives using a straight-line basis
and assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting date.
Trademarks and licences are recognised initially at cost. They have a
finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to amortise the cost of trademarks and
licences over their estimated useful lives, from the date that they are
available for use.
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives or the
licence period, whichever is shorter.
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.
All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes
are recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly
associated with the production of identifiable software products
controlled by the Group and that will probably generate economic
benefits beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Directly
attributable costs include employee costs and an appropriate portion
of relevant overheads are included in the cost of software development.
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Capitalised computer software is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

The methods of amortisation, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.
The expected useful lives of intangible assets are as follows for
current and prior years:
Computer software development costs – not exceeding eight years,
using the straight-line method.



Computer software – over five years, using the straight-line method.



Trademarks, patents and licences – not exceeding eight years, using
the straight-line method.

Goodwill on acquisition of associate is included in the carrying
amount of the associate.
For goodwill acquired in a business combination for which the
agreement date was before 30 September 2004 and which was
previously amortised on a systematic basis over its estimated useful
life, the accumulated amortisation prior to that date was set-off
against the cost.
7 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the estimated cost of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.
The first-in-first-out method is used to arrive at the cost of items
that are interchangeable.
8 Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction
costs. However, transaction costs in respect of financial assets
classified as at fair value through profit and loss are expensed.
Financial assets other than those at fair value through profit or loss
or available-for-sale are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less impairment losses.

When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes
the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss.
Financial assets are recognised as assets when the entity becomes
a party to the contract and has a right to receive cash.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented
in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group
has legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The Group classifies its financial assets into the following categories:


Fair value through profit or loss (measured at fair value and changes
therein, which takes into account any dividend income, are
recognised in profit or loss).



Loans and other receivables (initial recognition at fair value plus
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment losses).

The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition.
Financial assets or parts thereof are derecognised, by removing them
from the statement of financial position, when the contractual rights
to receive the cash flows have been transferred or have expired or if
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have passed.
Where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have not
been transferred or retained, the financial assets are derecognised if
they are no longer controlled. However, if control in this situation is
retained, the financial assets are recognised only to the extent of the
continuing involvement in those assets.
9 Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred on the date that they are originated. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and redemption value is recognised over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period.

Financial results and other information

6 Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as outlined in item 2 above. Goodwill is allocated
to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each
cash-generating unit to which goodwill is so allocated, shall not
be larger than any operating segment as defined in IFRS 8 before
aggregation. It is not amortised but is tested for impairment annually
and impaired if necessary. It is recognised as an asset and is measured
at cost less impairment losses.

Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on
an individual basis. The remaining financial assets are assessed
collectively in groups that share similar credit characteristics (including
those tested individually and not impaired).

Sustainability



The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. At
each reporting period the Group assesses whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Support functions

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are
amortised over their estimated useful lives.

Impairment losses on these financial assets are established when
there is objective evidence that one or more events have had a
negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that
can be measured reliably. The amount of the impairment loss for
loans and receivables is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment
in respect of an available-for-sale financial asset is calculated by
reference to its current fair value.

Business review

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of
new or substantially improved products and processes. Development
expenditure is capitalised only if the cost can be measured reliably,
the product or process is technically and commercially feasible and
future economic benefits are probable and the Group intends to and
has sufficient resources to complete development and use or sell the
asset. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.
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Other financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs on the date that the Group becomes a party to the contract.
Transaction costs in respect of financial liabilities classified as at fair
value through profit or loss are expensed.
Financial liabilities that are not classified as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the relevant obligation
has been discharged, cancelled or has expired.
10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statements of
cash flows include cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks,
other short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of three
months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included
within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial
position. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.
11 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the financial statements.
A deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax loses and tax credits
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent it is no longer probable that
they will realise.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date and are expected to
apply when the related temporary difference reverse.
The Group recognises a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except to
the extent that both of the following conditions are satisfied:
 The Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference; and
 It is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
No deferred tax liability is recognised for temporary differences arising
on the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally
enforce able right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and
they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle
current liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and
liabilities will be realised simultaneously.
12 Post-employment benefit obligations
Contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised in profit
or loss as an employee benefit expense as they accrue when the
services are rendered by the employee.
The cost of providing defined benefits is determined using the
projected unit credit method. Valuations are usually conducted
every three years and interim adjustments to those valuations are
made annually.

Gains or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit
plan are recognised in profit or loss when the Group is demonstrably
committed to the curtailment or settlement.
Past service costs are increases or decreases in the present value of
the defined benefit obligation for employee service in prior periods
resulting from the introduction of, or changes to, post-employment
benefits or other long-term employee benefits, are recognised
immediately in profit or loss to the extent that the benefits have
already vested. Otherwise they are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the average period until the amended benefits become vested.
The amount recognised in the statement of financial position
represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation as
adjusted for unrecognised past service costs, reduced by the fair
value of plan assets. Any asset is limited to the cumulative
unrecognised past service cost plus the present value of available
refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.
The Group recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising from
defined benefit plans in other comprehensive income.
13 Shareholders for dividends
Dividends to equity holders are only recognised as a liability when
declared. Secondary tax on companies in respect of such dividends
is recognised as a liability when the dividends are recognised as a
liability and are included in the tax charge in profit and loss.
14 Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Transactions relating to the acquisition and sale of treasury shares
in the company, together with the associated costs, are accounted
for in equity.
Equity shares in the company held by any Group company are
classified as treasury shares. These shares are treated as a deduction
from the issued and weighted average number of shares. The
consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental
costs, is deducted from equity until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. When such shares are subsequently sold or
re-issued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs is included in equity attributable to the
company’s equity holders. Dividends received on treasury shares are
eliminated on consolidation.
15 Provisions
Provisions are recognised for environmental restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made for the
amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at reporting date. Where the effect of discounting is
material, provisions are measured at their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of
the time value of money and the risks for which future cash flow
estimates have not been adjusted.
16 Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable net of VAT, cash discounts, rebates and settlement discounts.
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Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant
risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, when the
amount of the revenue and the related costs can be reliably
measured, no continuing management involvement with the goods
and when it is probable that the debtor will pay for the goods.

Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings,
unwinding of discount on provisions and deferred consideration,
losses on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, fair value
losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
contingent consideration, impairment losses recognised on financial
assets (other than trade receivables), losses on hedging instruments
that are recognised in profit or loss and reclassifications of net
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income.
20 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are capitalised only for qualifying assets where the
construction period will be in excess of one year. The capitalisation
of the borrowing cost will cease as soon as the plant has been
commissioned and it produces 25% of its capacity.
21 Taxation
The tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.
The charge for current tax is based on the results for the period as
adjusted for income that is exempt and expenses that are not
deductible using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted that are
applicable to the taxable income as well as any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, unless it relates to a
transaction recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred
tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

If an effective hedge of a highly probable forecast transaction
subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or
financial liability, the associated gains or losses recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated equity are recognised
in profit or loss in the same period in which the asset or liability
affects profit or loss.
If a hedge of a highly probable forecast transaction subsequently
results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the associated gains or losses recognised in other comprehen
sive income and accumulated in equity are included in the initial
measurement of the acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the
asset or liability.
Hedge accounting is discontinued on a prospective basis when the
hedge no longer meets the hedge accounting criteria (including
when it is no longer highly effective), for cash flow hedges, when
the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, when the
hedge designation is revoked or when the hedge instrument is
sold, terminated or exercised.
Derivatives, not designated in a hedge relationship that qualifies
for hedge accounting, are initially recognised at fair value on the
date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value. Fair value changes are recognised in
profit or loss.
23 Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date the carrying amount of the Group’s nonfinancial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are
assessed to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets may have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount (greater of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use) of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs is estimated. Value in use is estimated
taking into account future cash flows, forecast market conditions
and the expected useful lives of the assets.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is
reduced to the higher of its recoverable amount and zero. Impairment
losses are recognised in profit or loss. The loss is first allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of goodwill and then to the other assets
of the cash generating unit on a pro rata basis. Subsequent to the
recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation or amortisation
charge for the asset is adjusted to allocate its remaining carrying
value, less any residual value, over its remaining useful life.

Financial results and other information

19 Finance income and finance expense
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including
available-for-sale financial assets), gains on the disposal of availablefor-sale financial assets, fair value gains on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, gains on hedging instruments that are recognised
in profit or loss and reclassifications of net gains previously recognised
in other comprehensive income. Interest income is recognised as it
accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are recognised
as cash flow hedges.

Sustainability

18 Employee benefit costs
The cost of short-term employee benefits is recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which the service is rendered and is not discounted.
The expected cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments is recognised
as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past practice to make such payments as a result of past
performance and the amounts can be reliably measured.

If a cash flow hedge meets the conditions for hedge accounting,
the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that
is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in other
comprehensive income and presented in a hedging reserve in equity.
The ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss.

Support functions

17 Cost of sales
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount is recognised in
profit or loss as part of cost of sales. Any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value and all losses of inventories or reversals of
previous write downs or losses are recognised in cost of sales in the
period the write-down, loss or reversal occurs.

22 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
If a fair value hedge meets the conditions for hedge accounting, any
gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is
included in the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognised
in profit or loss.

Business review

Revenue from the rendering of services is measured using the stage
of completion method, based on the services performed to date as
a percentage of the total services to be performed, and is recognised
when the amount of the revenue, the related costs and the stage of
completion can be measured reliably and when it is probable that
the debtor will pay for the services.
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If an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount but limited to the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or
depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and the
cash generating units to which these assets have been allocated are
tested for impairment annually even if there is no indication of
impairment, and whenever there is an indication of impairment, and
impaired if necessary. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
24 Leases
Where the Group is the lessee
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequently,
the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy
appropriate to the assets. Each lease payment is allocated between
the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges and short-term portion are
included in other long-term payables.
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term if there is no reasonable certainty that lessee obtains ownership
by end of lease term.
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases. Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives received by the
lessee) are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease. Contingent rentals are recognised in profit
or loss as they are incurred.
Where the Group is the lessor
When assets are leased under a finance lease the present value of the
minimum lease payments is recognised as the receivable. The
difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the
receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Finance income
is recognised over the term of the lease on the lessor’s net investment
in the lease, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.
Assets leased to third parties under operating leases are included in
property, plant and equipment in the statement of financial position.
They are depreciated over their expected useful lives on a basis
consistent with similar property, plant and equipment. Rental income
(net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straightline basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals are recognised in
profit or loss as they are earned.
25 Equity settled share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at
the date of the grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of

the equity-settled share-based payments is charged as employee
costs, with a corresponding increase in equity, on a straight-line basis
over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled
to the options, based on management’s estimate of the shares that
will vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market-based vesting
conditions. These share options are not subsequently revalued.
26 Cash settled share-based payments
Share appreciation rights, which are settled in cash, granted to
employees for services rendered or to be rendered are recognised
as a liability and a corresponding expense is recognised in profit or
loss immediately or, if vesting requirements are applicable, over the
vesting period. The liability is measured annually at fair value until
settled and any changes in value are recognised in profit or loss.
27 Segment reporting
The principal segments of the Group have been identified as business
segments. This basis is representative of the internal structure used
for management reporting.
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in
business activities from which it may earn revenue and incur expenses,
including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any
of the Group’s other components.
Business segments are identified on the basis of internal reports
that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s and company’s chief
decision making body, the Executive Committee (EXCO), in order
to allocate resources to the segment and assess its performance.
Inter-segment transfers: Segment revenue, segment expenses and
segment results include transfers between business segments. Such
transfers are accounted for at competitive market prices charged to
unaffiliated customers for similar goods. These transfers are eliminated
on consolidation.
28 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share represent the profit on ordinary activities
after taxation attributable to the ordinary equity shareholders of the
parent entity, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year, adjusted for own shares held.
The calculation of headline earnings per share is based on the net
profit attributable to ordinary shareholders; after excluding separately
identifiable re-measurements net of related tax and related noncontrolling interests, divided by the weighted average number of
shares in issue during the financial period. An itemised reconciliation
of the adjustment to earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders
is provided in the notes to the financial statements. Diluted earnings
per share is calculated by adjusting the earnings and number of
shares for the effects of dilutive options and other dilutive potential
ordinary shares.
29 Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that may affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.
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Impairment of trade receivables – Note 12
Accounting for arrangements containing a lease – Note 8
Deferred tax assets – Note 10
Asset useful lives, depreciation and amortisation methods and
residual values – Note 1 and 2

Post-employment benefit obligations – Note 9
Valuation of financial instruments – Note 31

Standards and interpretations
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

31 Future changes in accounting policies
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and inter
pretations have been issued that are not yet effective for the period
ended 31 December 2012 and have not been applied in preparing
these financial statements.

Details of amendment

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
IAS 19 Employee Benefits

The amended IAS 19 includes the following requirements:
 actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income;
this change will remove the corridor method and eliminate the ability for entities to
recognise all changes in the defined benefit obligation and in plan assets in profit or loss,
which currently is allowed under IAS 19; and
 expected return on plan assets recognised in profit or loss is calculated based on the rate
used to discount the defined benefit obligation.
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements

IAS 27 (2012) supersedes IAS 27 (2008). IAS 27 (2012) carries forward the existing accounting
and disclosure requirements for separate financial statements, with some minor clarifications.
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

IAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures

IAS 28 (2012) supersedes IAS 28 (2008). IAS 28 (2012) makes the following amendments:
IFRS 5 applies to an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or a joint
venture that meets the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale; and
 on cessation of significant influence or joint control, even if an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the entity does not remeasure
the retained interest.
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

The amendments to IAS 32 clarify that an entity currently has a legally enforceable right to
set-off if that right is:
 not contingent on a future event; and
 enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the entity and all counterparts.
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014

Financial results and other information

The amendments do not address which items are presented in other comprehensive income
or which items need to be reclassified. The requirements of other IFRSs continue to apply in
this regard.

Sustainability

The amendments:
require that an entity present separately the items of other comprehensive income that
would be reclassified to profit or loss in the future if certain conditions are met from those
that would never be reclassified to profit or loss;
 do not change the existing option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income
in two statements; and
 change the title of the statement of comprehensive income to the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. However, an entity is still allowed to use other titles.


Support functions

Impairments of non-financial assets, intangibles and goodwill –
Note 1, 2 and 3

30 Assets held-for-sale
Assets and liabilities which meet the definition of held-for-sale
under IFRS 5 Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued
operations, except for assets excluded from the scope of IFRS 5 for
measurement purposes, are stated at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use.

Business review

Information about critical estimates and judgements in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is
included in the following notes:
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Standards and interpretations

Details of amendment

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

The amendments contain new disclosure requirements for financial assets and financial
liabilities that are offset in the statement of financial position; or are subject to enforceable
master netting arrangements or similar agreements.
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Standard issued in November 2009 (IFRS 9 (2009))
IFRS 9 (2009) is the first standard issued as part of a wider project to replace IAS 39.
IFRS 9 (2009) retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes two
primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost and fair value. The basis
of classification depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial asset. The guidance in IAS 39 on impairment of financial
assets and hedge accounting continues to apply.
Prior periods need not be restated if an entity adopts the standard for reporting periods
beginning before 1 January 2012.
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Standard issued in October 2010
IFRS 9 adds the requirements related to the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities to the version issued in
November 2009.
It also includes those paragraphs of IAS 39 dealing with how to measure fair value and
accounting for derivatives embedded in a contract that contains a host that is not a financial
asset, as well as the requirements of IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives.
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements IFRS 10 introduces a new approach to determining which investees should be consolidated
and provides a single model to be applied in the control analysis for all investees.
An investor controls an investee when:
it is exposed or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with that investee;
 it has the ability to affect those returns through its power over that investee; and
 there is a link between power and returns.


Control is re-assessed as facts and circumstances change.
IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27 (2008) and SIC–12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
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Details of amendment

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11 focuses on the rights and obligations of joint arrangements, rather than the legal form
(as is currently the case). It:



distinguishes joint arrangements between joint operations and joint ventures; and
always requires the equity method for jointly controlled entities that are now called joint
ventures; they are stripped of the free choice of using the equity method or proportionate
consolidation.

Business review

Standards and interpretations

IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 and SIC–13 Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary Contributions
by Ventures.
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities

IFRS 12 contains the disclosure requirements for entities that have interests in subsidiaries,
joint arrangements (i.e. joint operations or joint ventures), associates and/or unconsolidated
structured entities, aiming to provide information to enable users to evaluate:



the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities; and
the effects of those interests on the entity’s financial position, financial performance and
cash flows.

Support functions

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

Sustainability

IFRS 13 replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRSs with a
single source of fair value measurement guidance. It defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value
measurements. It explains how to measure fair value when it is required or permitted by
other IFRSs. It does not introduce new requirements to measure assets or liabilities at fair
value, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value measurements that
currently exist in certain standards.
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
IFRIC 20 considers when and how to account separately for the benefits arising from the
stripping activity in surface mining operations, as well as how to measure these benefits
both initially and subsequently. IFRIC 20 only deals with waste removal costs that are
incurred in surface mining activity during the production phase of the mine (production
stripping costs).
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

The Group is still determining the impact of the amendments on the financial statements.

Financial results and other information

IFRIC 20 Stripping costs in the production
phase of a surface mine
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Statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2012
Group
Notes

Company

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

3 458

3 537

3 898

3 973

2 854
90
16

2 657
110
19

21
6
108
348
15

19
11
114
601
6

2 461
89
11
899
1
6
83
348
–

2 265
108
11
888
1
11
88
601
–

1 885

1 817

1 498

1 403

685
841
26

678
830
7
9
50
243

585
654
26
26
5
21
181

588
651
7
25
8
41
83

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Investments in subsidiaries
Investment in associate
Other investments
Lease receivables
Retirement benefit assets
Deferred tax assets

1
2
3
4
5
7
8
9
10

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Receivables from fellow subsidiaries of holding company
Receivables from Group companies
Short-term portion of lease receivables
Taxation receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

11
12
32
32
8
13

6
30
297

Assets held-for-sale

14

44

–

40

–

5 387

5 354

5 436

5 376

2 831

2 865

3 068

3 068

552
95
2 157

552
234
2 041

554
159
2 355

554
280
2 234

2 804
27

2 827
38

3 068

3 068

660

970

624

927

132
528

446
524

132
492

433
494

1 896

1 519

1 744

1 381

834
209
5
30

770
194
5
12

738
38
42

502
25
11

726
179
5
30
34
728
–
42

656
164
5
12
31
502
–
11

5 387

5 354

5 436

5 376

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital and share premium
Reserves
Retained earnings

15
16

Total attributable to equity holders of the company
Non-controlling interests
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

17
10

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other short-term financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Payables to fellow subsidiaries of holding company
Payables to Group companies
Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
Taxation payable
Bank overdrafts
Total equity and liabilities

18
19
20
32
32
17
13
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Income statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012
Group

Company
2011
R’m

5 558
(4 760)

5 246
(4 472)

4 499
(3 795)

4 225
(3 522)

798
(328)
(31)

774
(283)
(153)

704
(298)
(17)

703
(260)
(124)

439
(157)
133
4

338
(214)
168
3

389
(138)
123

319
(214)
163

419
(136)

295
(100)

374
(82)

268
(47)

Profit for the year

283

195

292

221

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company
Non-controlling interests

270
13

183
12

292

221

Profit for the year

283

195

292

221

87.5

59.2

Revenue
Operating expenses

21

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation
and impairments (EBITDA)
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT)
Finance expense
Finance income
Income from associate
Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share (cents)

22
24
24

25

26

for the year ended 31 December 2012
Group

Company

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive (loss)/income after tax

283
(154)

195
48

292
(129)

221
15

Translation differences for foreign operations
Translation differences relating to non-controlling interests
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges
Deferred tax relating to cash flow hedges
Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit funds
Deferred tax relating to actuarial losses/(gains)

(18)
(7)
6
(2)
(184)
51

Notes

9

23
5
9
1
13
(3)

–
–
6
(2)
(184)
51

–
–
4
1
13
(3)

Total comprehensive income for the year

129

243

163

236

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the company
Non-controlling interests

123
6

226
17

163

236

Total comprehensive income for the year

129

243

163

236

Financial results and other information

Statements of comprehensive income

Sustainability

2012
R’m

Support functions

2011
R’m

Business review

2012
R’m

Notes

78

African Oxygen Limited Annual Report 2012

Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2012
Group
Share
capital Incentive
scheme
and
share
share
premium reserve
R’m
R’m
Balance at
1 January 2011
Recognised in other
comprehensive income
Cash flow hedges,
net of tax
Actuarial gains,
net of tax
Translation differences
Profit for the year
Transactions with
shareholders
Change in subsidiary
shareholding
Dividends paid
Balance at
31 December 2011
Recognised in other
comprehensive income
Cash flow hedges,
net of tax
Actuarial losses,
net of tax
Translation differences
Profit for the year
Transactions with
shareholders
Shares purchased on
behalf of employees
Share-based
payments, net of tax
Dividends paid
Balance at
31 December 2012

Attributable to owners of the company
Actuarial
Foreign
gains/
Share(losses) currency
based
payment Hedging on defined translation
reserve
funds
reserve
reserve
R’m
R’m
R’m
R’m

Total
R’m

Noncontrolling
interests
R’m

Total
equity
R’m

1 952

2 695

32

2 727

Retained
earnings
R’m

552

–

–

(10)

277

(76)

–

–

–

10

10

23

–

43

5

48

–

–

–

10

–

–

–

10

–

10

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

10
–

–
23

–
–

10
23

–
5

10
28

–

–

–

–

–

–

183

183

12

195

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(1)
(93)

(1)
(93)

(1)
(10)

(2)
(103)

552

–

–

–

287

(53)

2 041

–

–

–

4

(133)

(18)

–

–

–

–

4

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–

–

–

–

–
(133)
–
–

–
–
(18)
–

–
–
–
270

2 827
(147)
4

38
(7)
–

2 865
(154)
4

(133)
(18)

–
(7)

(133)
(25)

270

13

283
–

–
–
–
552

(14)
–
–
(14)

–

–

–

–

22
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

22

4

154

(71)

–
–
(154)
2 157

(14)
22
(154)
2 804

–
–
(17)
27

(14)
22
(171)
2 831
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Company

(12)
5

277
10

2 116
–

2 935
15

–
–

5
–

–
10

–
–

5
10

–

–

–

–

221

221

–

–

–

–

–

(103)

(103)

554

–

–

(7)

287

–

–

–

4

(133)

–

(129)

–
–

–
–

–
–

4
–

–
(133)

–
–

4
(133)

–

–

–

–

–

292

292

–
–
–

–
–
(171)

(14)
22
(171)

554
–

–
–

–
–

Cash flow hedges, net of tax
Actuarial gains, net of tax

–
–

–
–

Profit for the year
Transactions with shareholders
Dividends paid

–

Balance at 31 December 2011

Balance at 1 January 2011
Recognised in other comprehensive income

Recognised in other comprehensive income
Cash flow hedges, net of tax
Actuarial losses, net of tax
Profit for the year
Transactions with shareholders
Shares purchased on behalf of employees
Share-based payments, net of tax
Dividends paid
Balance at 31 December 2012

Hedging
reserve
R’m

–
–
–

(14)
–
–

–
22
–

–

554

(14)

22

(3)

–

154

2 234

2 355

3 068

Sustainability

Total
equity
R’m

Sharebased
payment
reserve
R’m

Support functions

Retained
earnings
R’m

Incentive
scheme
share
reserve
R’m

Business review

Actuarial
gains/
(losses)
on defined
funds
R’m

Share
capital
and share
premium
R’m

3 068

Financial results and other information
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Statements of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2012
Group
Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Dividends received
Normal taxation paid
Secondary taxation on companies paid

2012
R’m

Company
2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

28
24
24
32
29
29

936
4
(94)
–
(53)
(7)

844
10
(104)
–
(118)
(9)

750
–
(75)
139
(11)
(7)

616
5
(103)
133
(63)
(9)

30

786
(154)
(17)

623
(93)
(10)

796
(171)

579
(103)

615

520

625

476

(546)
–
6
22
–
–
5
(12)
25

(416)
(26)
17
–
(1)
–
2
(5)
35

(489)
–
(2)
22
–
(11)
5
(12)
18

(380)
–
16
–
(1)
–
2
(5)
27

(500)

(394)

(469)

(341)

427
(505)
(14)

77
(263)
–

427
(502)
(14)

70
(263)
–

Net cash outflow from financing activities

(92)

(186)

(89)

(193)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

23
232

(60)
292

67
72

(58)
130

255

232

139

72

297
(42)

243
(11)

181
(42)

83
(11)

255

232

139

72

Cash available from operating activities
Dividends paid to owners of the parent
Dividends to non-controlling interests
Net cash inflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Expenditure on assets subject to embedded finance leases
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of business operation
Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiary
Repayment of loan
Disposal of other investments
Intangible assets acquired
Decrease in non-current lease receivables

1

6
2

Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings raised
Borrowings repaid
Incentive share scheme shares purchased on behalf of employees

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Comprising:
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdrafts

13
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Shareholders’ profile
for the year ended 31 December 2012
SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

31 December 2012

31 December 2011
% of
issued
share
capital

Number
of shareholders

Number
of shareholders

% of
holders

Number
of shares
held

6

0.16

208 013 628

60.67

% of
holders

Number
of shares
held

% of
issued
share
capital

6

0.15

207 360 928

60.47

44 825 056

13.07

151

3.66

52 513 713

15.34

462
74
2 855
107
66

12.47
2.00
77.03
2.89
1.78

41 023 135
40 434 922
6 062 794
1 902 869
590 506

11.97
11.79
1.77
0.56
0.17

551
62
3 161
114
78

13.36
1.50
76.68
2.76
1.89

46 506 471
26 880 272
6 770 855
2 094 906
725 765

13.56
7.84
1.97
0.61
0.21

Total

3 706

100.00

342 852 910

100.00

4 123

100.00

342 852 910

100.00

3 690

99.56

134 839 515

39.33

4 107

99.62

135 516 995

39.53

16

0.44

208 013 395

60.67

16

0.38

207 335 915

60.47

1
11
4

0.03
0.30
0.11

173 046 413
1 767
34 965 215

50.47
–
10.20

1
12
3

0.02
0.29
0.07

173 046 413
1 987
34 287 515

50.47
–
10.00

3 706

100.00

342 852 910

100.00

4 123

100.00

342 852 910

100.00

Shareholder type
Public shareholders
Non-public shareholders
(within The Linde AG Group)
Strategic holdings
(more than 10%)
Directors’ holdings
Own holdings and share trusts
Total

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
The shareholders registered as holding 1% or more of the share capital of the company at 31 December 2012 were:

Beneficial shareholdings of 1% or more
BOC Holdings (wholly-owned subsidiary of Linde AG)
Afrox African Investments (Pty) Limited (held as treasury shares)
Aberdeen Global Fund
Government Employees Pension Fund (previously Public Investment Corporation)
Allan Gray Investment Council
Investec Asset Management
State Street Bank (Custodian)
Investment Solutions
Symmetry
Oasis Asset Management
Regarding Capital Management
Other shareholders
Total

31 December 2012
Number of
% of
shares held
total

31 December 2011
Number of
% of
shares held
total

173 046 413
34 285 308
21 392 085
18 555 979
11 994 652
9 586 761
6 342 581
5 299 796
3 541 711

50.47
10.00
6.24
5.41
3.50
2.80
1.85
1.55
1.03

173 046 413
34 285 308

50.47
10.00

16 866 576
31 334 434
25 075 445

4.92
9.14
7.31

284 045 286

82.85

58 807 624

17.15

280 608 176
8 547 339
3 678 426
50 018 969

81.84
2.49
1.07
14.60

342 852 910

100.00

342 852 910

100.00

Financial results and other information

3.67

Sustainability

136

Support functions

Distribution of shareholders
Public companies
Insurance, investment
and trust companies
Pension, provident funds
and trusts
Banks and nominee companies
Individuals and deceased estates
Corporate bodies
Private companies

Business review

To the best knowledge of management and after reasonable enquiry, the spread of shareholders at 31 December 2012 (as defined in the
Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited), was as follows:
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Shareholders’ profile
continued
DIVIDENDS AND STATISTICS
Dividends
Details of gross dividends declared, paid and payable are as follows:

Number
170
171
172
173

Declaration date

Last date to
trade (LDT)
ordinary
shares cum
dividend

Ordinary
shares
trade ex
dividend

19 July 2011
23 February 2012
23 August 2012
28 February 2013

14 October 2011
13 April 2012
5 October 2012
12 April 2013

17 October 2011
16 April 2012
8 October 2012
15 April 2013

Record
date (RD)

Payment
date

21 October 2011 24 October 2011
20 April 2012
23 April 2012
12 October 2012 15 October 2012
19 April 2013
22 April 2013

2012
Amount
per share
(cents)

2011
Amount
per share
(cents)
22.0
23.0

27.0
18.0*
45.0

45.0

* Before taxation on dividends at 15%.

Statistics

Share price (cents)
– Closing
Ordinary shares in issue at financial year-end (’000)
Number of shares traded (’000)
Value of shares traded (R’000)
Number of shares traded as a percentage
of shares issued
Earnings yield (%)
Ordinary dividend yield (%)
Price: basic earnings ratio
Price: headline earnings ratio

December
2012

December
2011

December
2010

December
2009

December
2008

2 350
342 853
46 658
899 409

1 620
342 853
49 885
934 810

2 063
342 853
65 495
1 418 693

2 200
342 853
64 360
1 424 366

2 425
342 853
69 911
1 827 744

13.6
3.7
1.9
26.9
25.8

14.5
3.7
2.8
27.4
17.7

19.1
1.5
1.3
67.7
37.2

18.8
3.4
1.7
29.3
29.5

20.4
5.5
2.8
18.1
18.2

Definitions of ratios and terms utilised for statistics
Earnings yield:
Basic earnings divided by closing share price
Ordinary dividend yield:
Dividends declared per share divided by closing share price
Price: basic earnings ratio:
Closing share price divided by basic earnings
Price: headline earnings ratio:
Closing share price divided by headline earnings
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Remuneration report
for the year ended 31 December 2012
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Category

Role

Committee

Retainer
fee
R

Independent lead director

137 388

Fee per
meeting
R

Retainer
fee
R

Fee per
meeting
R

Total fee
increase
%

350 000

10 000

162

200 000

10 000

145

Chairperson

–

45 796

135 000

10 000

217

Member

–

22 898

67 500

10 000

238

Chairperson

–

45 796

90 000

10 000

118

Member

–

22 898

45 000

10 000

140

Benefits,
allowances
and gains
on share
incentives

Total

Audit Committee

Sustainability

28 622

Director

Director and executive management emoluments (R’000)

Name

Pension
payment/
contributions

1 752

–

–

–

–

1 752

345
239
35
535
58
540

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

345
239
35
535
58
540

–

7 246

1 023

4 615

1 613

14 497

10
12
9

–
–
–

3 287
1 693
1 800

279
414
262

333
558
564

4 305
3 609
2 626

3

–

466

68

3 265

158

3 957

–

13 642

2 104

5 341

4 650

25 737

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

935
1 159
1 106
1 181
1 174
602
883
1 145
1 116
1 257
1 020
1 040
1 024

125
155
148
158
157
126
118
153
150
307
136
234
137

268
530
509
550
539
190
239
504
509
367
184
485
467

342
419
378
407
412
–
335
379
402
442
385
357
392

1 670
2 263
2 141
2 296
2 282
918
1 575
2 181
2 177
2 373
1 725
2 116
2 020

1 752

20 888

3 127

9 956

6 263

41 986

2012
Non-executive directors*
Current directors
DM Lawrence
M Malebye
SN Maseko
KDK Mokhele
CF Wells
LL van Niekerk

12
12
1
12
1
12

Executive directors
Current directors
BD Kimber
J Narayadoo
NA Thomson
Former director
FT Kotzee
Executive management
J Cilliers
W Coetzee
F Graham
C Low
D Mackinnon
S Moran
L Mosiah
H Ngwenya
J Poulter
G Schnackenberg
X Sizani
J Storm
J Wiese
Total emoluments

12
12
12
12
12
6
12
12
12
12
12
12
12

* Linde non-executive directors are not reflected as they do not receive emoluments from the company.
^ In respect of 2011 financial performance.
# Special bonus.

Performance^
bonus

406#
944
–

Financial results and other information

Fees

Remuneration

Months
paid

Support functions

57 245

Board

– Nominations, Governance and
Management of Resources Committee
– Safety, Health, Environment
and Quality Committee
– Social, Ethics and
Transformation Committee

  
Proposed 2013 payment

  Current practice

Business review

The fees payable to the independent non-executive directors are reflected below. Note: The fees proposed for 2013 reflect a change in
the remuneration methodology in favour of a higher retainer and lower meeting fees in line with common practice and King III.
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Remuneration report
continued
Director and executive management emoluments (R’000) (continued)

Name

Months
paid

2011
Non-executive directors*
M Malebye
KDK Mokhele
DM Lawrence
S Pityana
LL van Niekerk
CB Strauss

12
12
12
12
12
–

Executive directors
FT Kotzee
TN Kruger
J Narayadoo

12
8
12

Executive management
J Cilliers
W Coetzee
F Graham
C Low
D Mackinnon
L Mosiah
H Ngwenya
J Poulter
G Schnackenberg
J Storm
J Wiese

12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12
12

Total emoluments

Benefits,
allowances
and gains
on share
incentives

Total

Fees

Remuneration

Pension
payment/
contributions

2 607

–

138

–

–

2 745

328
619
531
412
717
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
138

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

328
619
531
412
717
138

–

5 162

929

6 413

3 030

15 534

–
–
–

1 820
1 752
1 590

290
236
403

1 103
4 521
789

1 957
558
515

5 170
7 067
3 297

–

11 226

2 033

3 734

4 983

21 976

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

881
1 091
965
1 111
1 103
831
1 078
1 038
1 183
979
966

149
167
224
161
174
149
167
164
289
235
154

195
461
420
369
422
174
438
137
309
426
383

297
371
320
388
364
279
328
1 113
388
311
824

1 522
2 090
1 929
2 029
2 063
1 433
2 011
2 452
2 169
1 951
2 327

2 607

16 388

3 100

10 147

8 013

40 255

Number
of FSP’s
without
Performance
Conditions

Performance^
bonus

^ In respect of 2010 financial performance emoluments due to new FSP and SARS allocation during the year.
* Performance bonuses are deemed short-term employee benefits.

2012

SARS and FSP’s granted during the current year

Name
Executive directors
BD Kimber
J Narayadoo
NA Thomson
Executive management
J Cilliers
W Coetzee
F Graham
C Low
D Mackinnon
L Mosiah
H Ngwenya
J Poulter
G Schnackenberg
X Sizani
J Storm
J Wiese

Fair value of
options at
issue date
R’000

Number
of
SARS

Number
of FSP’s
with
Performance
Conditions

419
203
293

20 000
19 200
14 000

22 500
9 600
15 750

7 500
3 200
5 250

146
203
203
203
203
146
203
203
146
173
203
203

14 300
19 200
19 200
19 200
19 200
14 300
19 200
19 200
14 300
16 900
19 200
19 200

3 850
9 600
9 600
9 600
9 600
3 850
9 600
9 600
3 850
4 550
9 600
9 600

3 850
3 200
3 200
3 200
3 200
3 850
3 200
3 200
3 850
4 550
3 200
3 200

3 150

266 600

140 750

57 650
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Total SARS and FSPs for executive directors and executive management:
2012
Non-vested
number
of rights
(not yet
exercisable)

–
–
165 750
–

Non-vested
number
of rights
(not yet
exercisable)

50 000
–
165 572
35 000

–
12
67
–

–
–
165 750
–

–
22 320
133 572
–

48 000
112 750
42 750
–
142 500
26 000
20 000
500
124 000
9 938
66 500
40 275

90 511
124 399
104 199
63 199
133 172
105 511
132 599
57 927
122 511
92 792
121 499
116 727

34
46
37
17
50
41
49
14
49
–
44
40

15 000
111 250
42 750
–
142 500
26 000
46 000
500
124 000
–
64 000
40 275

101 511
93 899
72 199
31 199
101 172
83 511
100 599
24 927
100 511
–
91 999
83 227

798 963

1 515 618

500

778 025

1 040 646

Sustainability

Rand
value
R’000

Vested
number
of rights
(exercisable)

Support functions

Vested
number
of rights
(exercisable)

Business review

Executive directors
BD Kimber
FT Kotzee
J Narayadoo
NA Thomson
Executive management
J Cilliers
W Coetzee
F Graham
C Low
D Mackinnon
L Mosiah
H Ngwenya
J Poulter
G Schnackenberg
X Sizani
J Storm
J Wiese

2011

Non-executive directors do not participate in the Group’s incentive programmes, nor is their remuneration pensionable.
Shareholding of directors
2012
Shareholding of directors and executive management
Executive directors
BD Kimber
FT Kotzee
J Narayadoo
NA Thomson
Executive management
JW Storm
Non-executive independent directors
M Malebye*
Dr KDK Mokhele~+>
DM Lawrence*~
LL van Niekerk*~>
SM Pityana+
Non-executive directors
MS Huggon
M von Plotho
DM Woodrow
*
+
~
>

2011

Beneficial

Nonbeneficial

–

100

241
–

Beneficial

Nonbeneficial

200
100

–
–
241
–

–
100
200
–

–

–

220

–

–
–
500
126
–

100
100
–
–
–

100
100
–
–
100

–
–
–

100
100
100

–
–
500
126
–
–
–
–
–

100
100
100

Audit Committee member.
Social, Ethics and Transformation Committee member.
Nominations, Governance and Management of Resources Committee member.
Safety, Health, Environment and Quality Committee members.

Interest of directors in contracts
The directors have certified that they had no material personal interests in any transactions of any significance with the company or any of its
subsidiaries. Accordingly, no conflict of interest with regard to directors’ interests in contracts exist. There was no change in directors’ interests
in contracts and shareholding in the period between the financial year-end and the date of signature of this report.
During the year various banking and employee share scheme transactions have been undertaken on the Group’s behalf by Investec Bank
Limited. David Lawrence is a director of Investec Bank Limited. All transactions were in the ordinary course of business.

Financial results and other information

The directors are not entitled to any other post-retirement benefits except those disclosed above.
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Segmental report
for the year ended 31 December 2012
BUSINESS SEGMENTS FOR THE GROUP
The business segments are based on internal reports which are regularly utilised by the Executive Committee (EXCO) to assess the Group’s
performance and allocate resources to the segments.
Segments have been determined based on business segments: Atmospheric Gases, LPG, Hard Goods and Rest of Africa.
Atmospheric Gases – Air gases separated into its main components.
LPG
 Hard Goods
Rest of Africa

– Liquefied Petroleum Gas.
– Electrodes and welding equipment.
– Afrox operates in 11 countries outside of South Africa. The countries in which we operate include: Angola, Botswana,
Ghana, Lesotho, Malawi, Mali, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, Swaziland and Zambia.

Business segment performance is measured based on gross profit after distribution expenses (GPADE).
Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.
Finance expenses and taxes are not allocated to these segments as they are managed on a Group basis.
Other operating expenses include the following: marketing and selling expenses, corporate and support functions and other non-trading
income and expenses. These costs are not included in GPADE and managed by support function.

BUSINESS SEGMENT REVENUE AND EXPENSES
Revenue and expenses that are directly attributable to segments are allocated to those segments.
Group
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Revenue

5 558

5 246

Atmospheric Gases
LPG
 Hard Goods
Rest of Africa

1 817
2 018
874
849

1 696
1 913
822
815

Gross profit after distribution expenses (GPADE)

1 510

1 422

568
362
266
314

513
378
242
289

Atmospheric Gases
LPG
 Hard Goods
Rest of Africa
Reconciliation of GPADE to EBIT
GPADE for business segments
Other operating expenses
Impairments
Earnings before interest and taxation (EBIT)

1 510
(1 040)
(31)
439

1 422
(931)
(153)
338
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2012
1 Property, plant and equipment
Group
Cylinders
R’m

Vehicles
R’m

Furniture
and fittings
R’m

Total
R’m

Carrying amount at 1 January 2011

277

1 296

874

146

44

2 637

Cost
 Accumulated depreciation
 Accumulated impairment

334
(57)
–

2 850
(1 458)
(96)

1 477
(603)
–

304
(158)
–

141
(97)
–

5 106
(2 373)
(96)

3
–
1
–
(7)

244
(152)
4
(1)
(141)

96
–
5
–
(75)

49
–
2
(2)
(16)

24
–
–
–
(14)

416
(152)
12
(3)
(253)

Owned

Additions
Impairments
Foreign exchange differences
Disposals
Depreciation

1 250

900

179

54

2 657

339
(65)
–

2 972
(1 474)
(248)

1 577
(677)
–

349
(170)
–

165
(111)
–

5 402
(2 497)
(248)

Additions
Transfer to assets held-for-sale
Impairments
Foreign exchange differences
Disposals
Depreciation

7
(14)
–
(1)
(2)
(9)

312
(1)
(16)
(2)
(3)
(161)

164
–
–
(4)
(9)
(91)

51
–
–
(1)
–
(17)

12
–
–
–
–
(18)

546
(15)
(16)
(8)
(14)
(296)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2012

255

1 379

960

212

48

2 854

Cost
 Accumulated depreciation
 Accumulated impairment

323
(68)
–

3 253
(1 610)
(264)

1 711
(751)
–

389
(177)
–

164
(116)
–

5 840
(2 722)
(264)

Company
Freehold
properties
R’m

Plant and
equipment
R’m

Cylinders
R’m

Vehicles
R’m

Furniture
and fittings
R’m

Total
R’m

Carrying amount at 1 January 2011

25

1 214

842

117

42

2 240

Cost
 Accumulated depreciation
 Accumulated impairment

30
(5)
–

2 440
(1 130)
(96)

1 421
(579)
–

256
(139)
–

131
(89)
–

4 278
(1 942)
(96)

Additions
Impairments
Disposals
Depreciation

–
–
–
(2)

235
(124)
–
(131)

85
–
–
(72)

38
–
(1)
(12)

22
–
–
(13)

380
(124)
(1)
(230)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011

23

1 194

855

142

51

2 265

Cost
 Accumulated depreciation
 Accumulated impairment

29
(6)
–

2 546
(1 132)
(220)

1 506
(651)
–

288
(146)
–

151
(100)
–

4 520
(2 035)
(220)

Additions
Transfer to assets held-for-sale
Impairments
Disposals
Depreciation

–
–
–
(3)
(1)

282
(1)
(16)
(2)
(150)

155
–
–
(4)
(88)

41
–
–
–
(11)

11
–
–
–
(17)

489
(1)
(16)
(9)
(267)

Carrying amount at 31 December 2012

19

1 307

918

172

45

2 461

Cost
 Accumulated depreciation
 Accumulated impairment

27
(8)
–

2 815
(1 272)
(236)

1 651
(733)
–

323
(151)
–

153
(108)
–

4 969
(2 272)
(236)

Owned

Financial results and other information

274

Cost
 Accumulated depreciation
 Accumulated impairment

Sustainability

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011

Support functions

Plant and
equipment
R’m

Business review

Freehold
properties
R’m
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Notes to the financial statements
continued
1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Capitalised leased assets
The Group has no capitalised leased assets held under financial leases.
Encumbrance
None of the Group’s property, plant and equipment is encumbered – the Group’s borrowings are unsecured (see note 17).
Impairment testing
Property, plant and equipment is assessed for impairment at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that
it is impaired. Property, plant and equipment is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had
a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.
The Group performed impairment tests on individually significant items of property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2012 by
discounting the estimated future cash flows to their present value using a discount rate that reflected the current market assessment of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An average revenue growth of 9.1% (2011: 10.2%) comprising both price inflation
and volume growth, was assumed with the gross margin percentage, based on actual results to date, being applied to the calculation and
discounted at a rate of 9.1% (2011: 7.7%). The value in use was compared to the fair value less cost to sell.
Impairment write-down
During the current year Group plant and equipment to the value of R16 million (2011: R152 million) was impaired. The current year
impairments relate to the Kuilsriver and Richards Bay plants. These impairments were required based on the prevailing trading conditions
of Kuilsriver and the output of the Richards Bay plant.
Fully depreciated assets
Cost of Group assets fully depreciated but still in use amounted to R1 400 million (2011: R1 161 million).
Residual values
It is the Group’s accounting policy to assess residual values on an annual basis. The Group estimates residual values on plant and equipment
to be R Nil, as the assets are of a specialised nature and there is no history of recoveries on these assets when their economic life is
completed and they are scrapped. Residual values are assigned to LPG cylinders.
Assets under construction
Property, plant and equipment includes assets under construction detailed below:
Group

Company

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Freehold properties
Plant and equipment
Cylinders
Vehicles
Furniture and fittings

1
153
34
4
8

4
196
43
33
9

1
117
34
4
8

4
179
43
33
9

Total

200

285

164

268

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs of R14 million (2011: R5 million) were capitalised during the year at an effective rate used in 2012: 11.09% (2011: 12.53%).
Government grant
During the current year, the cost of additions was reduced by an amount of R19 million (2011: R Nil) received from Eskom Holdings SOC
Limited (Eskom) with respect to energy savings agreements entered into with Eskom as part of its Demand Side Management initiative.
Subsequent to the year-end the Group was notified that it was successful in its application for a R30 million grant from the Department
of Trade and Industry in respect of its investment into the new Pretoria air separation unit.
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2 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group

Company
Trademarks
R’m

Computer
software
R’m

Total
R’m

3

133

136

–

133

133

Cost
 Accumulated amortisation
 Accumulated impairment

12
(5)
(4)

220
(87)
–

232
(92)
(4)

5
(1)
(4)

218
(85)
–

223
(86)
(4)

Impairments
Amortisation charge

–
(1)

4
(29)

4
(30)

–
–

5
(30)

5
(30)

2

108

110

–

108

108

Cost
 Accumulated amortisation
 Accumulated impairment

12
(6)
(4)

223
(115)
–

235
(121)
(4)

5
(1)
(4)

223
(115)
–

228
(116)
(4)

Additions
Amortisation charge

–
(1)

12
(31)

12
(32)

–
–

12
(31)

12
(31)

1

89

90

–

89

89

12
(7)
(4)

235
(146)
–

247
(153)
(4)

5
(1)
(4)

235
(146)
–

240
(147)
(4)

Carrying amount at 1 January 2011

Carrying amount at 31 December 2011

Carrying amount at 31 December 2012
Cost
 Accumulated amortisation
 Accumulated impairment

The key assumptions applied in determining the recoverable amount of the intangibles were:
Group and Company
Assumptions applied

2012

2011

Average annual revenue growth (%)
Discount rate applied to projected cash flows (%)
Risk-free rate (%)
Market risk premium (%)
Beta rate (:1)

6.00
9.10
7.30
5.50
0.48

6.00
7.70
3.80
5.00
0.96

Computer software
Computer software comprises of SAP and minor systems which do not generate cash inflows independently of other assets or groups of
assets. At the reporting date there was no indication of the possible impairment of computer software.

Financial results and other information

Impairment testing
Management forecasts typically cover a three-year period and thereafter a reasonable rate of growth is applied based on market conditions.
These impairment tests are performed using a discounted cash flow model. Discount rates used in the discounted cash flow models are
based on a weighted average cost of capital.

Sustainability

Total
R’m

Support functions

Computer
software
R’m

Business review

Trademarks
R’m
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3 GOODWILL
Group
2012
R’m

Company
2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year
Impairments
Foreign exchange differences

19
–
(3)

19
(1)
1

11
–
–

11
–
–

Carrying amount at the end of the year

16

19

11

11

54
(38)

57
(38)

15
(4)

15
(4)

16

19

11

11

4
5
2
2
3

4
5
2
2
6

4
5
2

4
5
2

16

19

11

11

Gross cost (net of foreign exchange differences)
Accumulated impairment
Carrying amount at the end of the year
Cash generating units containing goodwill
(net of foreign exchange differences)
The following units have carrying amounts of goodwill:
Electrogas
IGD Midlands
Drury operations
Heat Engineering – Botswana
Chemoxy – Malawi

Impairment testing
Impairment tests are conducted on an annual basis using a discounted cash flow valuation model to determine the value-in-use.
The impairment tests are prepared on the basis of forecast profits generated by the cash-generating unit. Management forecasts typically
cover a three-year period and thereafter a reasonable rate of growth is applied based on current market conditions. In assessing future cash
flows management has used assumptions relating to the growth in the units’ market potential, new market opportunities as well as changes
in manufacturing costs based on business plans. Discount rates used in the discounted cash flow models are based on the weighted average
cost of capital.
Group and Company
Assumptions applied

2012

2011

Average annual revenue growth (%)
Discount rate applied to projected cash flows (%)
Risk-free rate (%)
Market risk premium (%)
Beta rate (:1)

6.00
9.10
7.30
5.50
0.48

6.00
7.70
3.80
5.00
0.96

4 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Ordinary shares
Changes in investments in subsidiaries
Loans due by subsidiaries

93
16
790

98
(5)
795

Loans owing by subsidiaries
Impairment of Afrox Mozambique Limitada

790
–

814
(19)

899

888

Loans payable to subsidiaries of R31 million are reported as part of payables to Group companies (2011: R19 million).
There are no fixed terms for repayment, however, there is no intention to recall the loans in the foreseeable future. No interest is charged
on loans. Recoverability is assessed at each reporting date.
Details of subsidiaries are presented on page 128.
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5 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE
Group

Company

1
20

1
18

1

1

Share of opening accumulated profits
Dividends received from associate
Share of current profit for the year

18
(2)
4

16
(1)
3

Carrying amount at the end of the year

21

19

1

1

Directors’ valuation of shares

21

19

1

1

The information below illustrates summarised financial information
of Les Gaz Industriels Limited.
Statement of comprehensive income
Revenue

45

61

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

12
(2)

10
(2)

Net profit for the year

10

8

Statement of financial position
Non-current assets
Current assets

46
36

42
27

Total assets

82

69

 Equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

62
4
16

52
5
12

Total equity and liabilities

82

69

Cash flow
Net cash flow from operating activities
Net cash flow from investing activities
Net cash flow from financing activities

4
(3)
–

7
(1)
–

1

6

Unlisted ordinary shares
Investment at cost
Share of accumulated profits since acquisition, net of dividends

Net movement in cash and cash equivalents
Details of the associate are presented in note 39.

The Group has a 38% interest in Les Gaz Industriels Limited, which is domiciled in Mauritius.
The principal activities of the company is the manufacture of medical and industrial oxygen gas, nitrogen, nitrous oxide and welding
electrodes. The Group’s 38% share of profits is determined by reference to the audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012
and unaudited management accounts for the period 1 July 2012 to 31 December 2012.
There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the associate to transfer funds to Afrox in the form of cash dividends or repayment of
loans or advances.

Financial results and other information

2011
R’m

Sustainability

2012
R’m

Support functions

2011
R’m

Business review

2012
R’m
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6 LONG-TERM DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Group
2012
R’m
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year
Financial instruments acquired during the year
Fair value adjustment for the year

–
–
–

Total derivative financial instruments at the end of the year

–

Company
2011
R’m
10
–
(10)
–

2012
R’m
–
–
–
–

2011
R’m
10
–
(10)
–

In the prior financial periods, the Group held derivative financial instruments, being cash-settled call options, which were acquired from a
financial institution to be utilised as hedging instruments to settle the hedged item, that being the related financial obligation under the
cash-settled Share Appreciation Rights Scheme. The cash-settled call options expired during the prior financial period. The Group’s Share
Appreciation Rights Scheme was changed from being cash-settled to being equity-settled with effect from 1 January 2012 (refer note 34).

7 OTHER INVESTMENTS
Group
2012
R’m

Company
2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

11
–
(5)

11
2
(2)

11
–
(5)

11
2
(2)

Carrying amount at the end of the year

6

11

6

11

Other investments comprise:
Investment in unlisted company at cost
Investment in listed equity

6
–

6
5

6
–

6
5

Carrying amount at the end of the year

6

11

6

11

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year
Additions
Disposals

The fair values of the quoted equity shares were determined by reference to published prices quoted on the JSE Limited.
At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that the investments have been impaired.
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8 LEASE RECEIVABLES
Group

Lease receivables
Short-term portion of lease receivables

2011
R’m
123
(9)

88
(5)

96
(8)

108

114

83

88

2012
Receivables in less than one year
Long-term lease receivables

Company
Present value
of minimum
lease
payments
R’m

Gross
investment
in lease
R’m

Unearned
finance
income
R’m

Present value
of minimum
lease
payments
R’m

6
108

15
137

(10)
(54)

5
83

95
96

(56)
(27)

39
69

67
70

(36)
(18)

31
52

Total

213

(99)

114

152

(64)

88

2011
Receivables in less than one year
Long-term lease receivables

25
212

(16)
(98)

9
114

18
151

(10)
(63)

8
88

Between one and five years
 More than five years

92
120

(60)
(38)

32
82

68
83

(39)
(24)

29
59

Total

237

(114)

123

169

(73)

96

Between one and five years
More than five years

Long-term lease receivables
Long-term lease receivables are deemed finance leases as per IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease.
During the previous financial periods the Group incurred expenditure on assets, being plant and technical equipment, installed on customer
sites. The Group utilises these assets to provide gas to customers, which the customers use in their manufacturing processes. The Group has
entered into arrangements with these customers, that have maturities of up to 15 years, whereby the customers pay fixed monthly fees
over the term of the arrangements, plus variable charges based on the quantity of the gas used above the fixed minimum amounts.
Although the arrangements are not in the legal form of leases, the Group concluded that the arrangements contained a lease of assets
because fulfilment is economically dependent on the use of the plant and technical equipment and it is unlikely that any parties other than
the customers will receive a significant part of the output. The leases were therefore classified as finance leases. At inception of the leases,
the Group recognised receivables at amounts equal to the net investment in the lease.
The interest income on the lease receivables was determined based on a rate of 11% (2011: 11%) and 21% (2011: 21%) at inception of
the related agreement.

Financial results and other information

(16)
(83)

Sustainability

22
191

Support functions

Long-term lease receivables

Unearned
finance
income
R’m

2011
R’m

114
(6)

Group
Gross
investment
in lease
R’m

2012
R’m

Business review

2012
R’m

Company
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9 RETIREMENT BENEFIT ASSETS
Group and Company
2012
R’m
Summary
Pension fund
Post-retirement medical benefit fund

Current actuarial (losses)/gains recognised in other comprehensive income
Pension fund
Post-retirement medical benefit fund

2011
R’m

369
(21)

585
16

348

601

(184)

13

(148)
(36)

24
(11)

Pension and provident funds
The Group and company have one pension fund which is a defined benefit fund and one provident fund which is a defined contribution fund.
All employees are required to belong to either the defined benefit fund or the defined contribution fund. The funds are administered on
behalf of the Group by external financial service companies and trustees and are governed by the Pension Funds Act of 1956. The assets of
the schemes are held in administered funds separate from the Group’s assets.
Actuarial valuations are made for the defined benefit fund in accordance with the respective pension fund rules, using the projected unit
credit method. The defined benefit fund is closed to new members.
The latest actuarial calculation of the African Oxygen Limited Pension Fund was made on 31 December 2012.
At the time of the valuations, the fund was certified by the reporting actuaries as being in a sound financial position, subject to the
continuation of their current contribution rates. In arriving at their conclusions, the actuaries took into account the following assumptions at
the date of the valuation:
Group and Company

Discount rate
Consumer price inflation
Expected return on plan assets
Compensation increase rate
Pension increase rate

2012
%

2011
%

7.25
5.75
7.50
6.75
5.75

8.25
5.25
9.25
6.25
5.25

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables. The average life expectancy of an individual
retiring at age 63 is 18 years (2011: 18 years) for males and 22 years (2011: 22 years) for females.
The settlement gain of R Nil (2011: R20 million) relates to the annuitisation of the pensioners portfolio of the pension fund to an insurance company.
The Group recognises gains and losses on the curtailment of settlement of defined benefit plans when there is a commitment to the
curtailment or settlement. The gain or loss on curtailment or settlement comprises any resulting difference between the fair value of plan
assets and the present value of the defined obligation related to the curtailment or settlement. The Group has elected to take the profit or
loss on the curtailment or settlement of the defined benefit plans through profit or loss.
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9 RETIREMENT BENEFIT ASSETS (continued)

Group and Company
2012
R’m

Fund status
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of defined benefit obligations

(6)
(40)

(2)
(11)

6
43

2
11

369

585

Movements in the fair value of plan assets recognised in the statements of financial position
are as follows:
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year
Contributions paid into the plan
Benefits paid by the plan
Assets transferred
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial gain

1 107
6
(55)
(106)
102
28

2 025
5
(128)
(933)
138
–

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year

1 082

1 107

Pension fund asset recognised at the end of the year

Movements in the liability recognised in the statements of financial position are as follows:
Liability for defined benefit obligations at the beginning of the year
Members’ contributions
Benefits paid by the plan
Current service costs
Liabilities transferred
Interest costs
Actuarial loss/(gain)

522
6
(55)
19
–
45
176

1 512
5
(128)
16
(953)
94
(24)

Liability for defined benefit obligations at the end of the year

713

522

19
45
(102)
–

16
94
(138)
(20)

Total gain included in profit or loss

(38)

(48)

The expenses are recognised in the following line items in the income statement:
Operating expenses
Net finance income

19
(57)

(4)
(44)

Return on plan assets
Actual return on plan assets

130

138

Amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:
Current service costs
Interest costs
Expected return on plan assets
Settlement gain on net liabilities transferred

Financial results and other information

1 107
(522)

Sustainability

1 082
(713)

Support functions

Quarter percentage point increase
Effect on the aggregate service and interest cost
Effect on defined benefit obligation
Quarter percentage point decrease
Effect on the aggregate service and interest cost
Effect on defined benefit obligation

2011
R’m

Business review

Sensitivity analysis
Assumed pension cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in profit or loss. A quarter percentage point change
in assumed pension cost trends would have the following effects:
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9 RETIREMENT BENEFIT ASSETS (continued)
Group and Company
Fund status

2012
R’m

Actuarial gains recognised directly in other comprehensive income
Net cumulative amount at the beginning of the year
Recognised during the year
Deferred tax thereon

274
(148)
41

256
24
(6)

167

274

Percentage of fair value of assets

%

%

Equity instruments
Debt instruments
Property
Cash

45
38
6
11

35
55
4
6

100

100

–

0.06

Net cumulative amount at the end of the year

Percentage of the company’s shares held by the defined benefit fund is

2011
R’m

Group and Company
Historical information

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2010
R’m

2009
R’m

2008
R’m

Fair value of plan assets
Present value of defined benefit obligations

1 082
(713)

1 107
(522)

2 025
(1 512)

2 012
(1 429)

1 937
(1 366)

369

585

Defined benefit asset recognised at the end of the year

513

583

571

The Group expects to pay no contributions to the defined benefit plan in the 2013 financial year.
The Group has obtained a cash flow benefit of R13.2 million (2011: R13.7 million) representing the contribution saving for the year ended
31 December 2012.
Post-retirement medical benefits
Group and company
The Group and company have a liability arising as a result of a post-employment subsidy of healthcare benefits. Members of the medical aid
plan, who joined the Group or company before 1 November 1996 and remain in the employment of the Group or company until retirement,
are eligible for a post-retirement subsidy of their medical aid contributions.
The benefit fund meets the definition of a defined benefit plan and has been disclosed in accordance with IAS 19.
The defined benefit fund is actuarially valued using the projected unit credit method. The benefit fund is closed to new members.
The latest actuarial calculations of the African Oxygen Limited post-retirement medical fund was made on 31 December 2012.
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9 RETIREMENT BENEFIT ASSETS (continued)

Group and Company

8.25
5.25
6.75
6.75
7.25

R’m

R’m

(2)
(19)

(2)
(16)

2
16

1
13

144
(165)

142
(126)

Post-retirement medical benefit fund (liability)/asset recognised at the end of the year

(21)

16

Movements in the fair value of plan assets recognised in the statements of financial position
are as follows:
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year
Expected return on plan assets
Assets transferred
Benefits paid
Actuarial loss

142
10
–
(8)
–

175
9
(33)
(8)
(1)

Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year

144

142

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables. The average
life expectancy of an individual retiring at age 63 is 19 years (2011: 19 years) for males and 24 years
(2011: 24 years) for females.
Sensitivity analysis
Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in profit or loss.
A one percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trends would have the following effects:

One percentage point increase
Effect on the aggregate service and interest cost
Effect on defined benefit obligation
One percentage point decrease
Effect on the aggregate service and interest cost
Effect on defined benefit obligation
Fund status
The Group’s and company’s obligation in respect of this post-retirement medical aid benefit
as measured in terms of IAS 19 is tabled below:
Fair value of plan assets
Present value of defined benefit obligations

Financial results and other information

8.25
6.25
7.75
7.75
8.25

Discount rate
Consumer price inflation
Expected return on plan assets
Compensation increase rate
Healthcare cost inflation

Sustainability

2011
%

Support functions

2012
%

Business review

At the time of the valuation, the fund was certified by the reporting actuaries as being in a sound financial position. In arriving at their
conclusions, the actuaries took into account the following assumptions at the date of the valuation:
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9 RETIREMENT BENEFIT ASSETS (continued)
Group and Company
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Movements in the defined benefit obligation recognised in the statement of financial position
are as follows:
Defined benefit obligations at the beginning of the year
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Assets transferred
Actuarial loss

126
1
10
(8)
–
36

144
1
9
(8)
(30)
10

Defined benefit obligations at the end of the year

165

126

Amounts recognised in profit or loss are as follows:
Current service cost
Interest on obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Curtailment loss

1
10
(10)
–

1
9
(9)
3

Total loss included in profit or loss

1

4

The expenses are recognised in the following line item in the income statement:
Operating expenses

1

4

Actuarial (losses)/gains recognised directly in other comprehensive income
Net cumulative amount at the beginning of the year
Loss recognised during the year
Deferred tax thereon

13
(36)
10

21
(11)
3

Net cumulative amount at the end of the year

(13)

13

%

%

100

100

100

100

Percentage of fair value of assets
Cash

None of the company’s shares are held by the defined benefit fund.
Group and Company
Historical information

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2010
R’m

2009
R’m

2008
R’m

Fair value of plan assets
Present value of defined benefit obligations

144
(165)

142
(126)

175
(144)

208
(138)

192
(172)

(21)

16

31

70

20

Surplus in the plan
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10 DEFERRED TAX
Group

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

2011
R’m

(15)
528

(6)
524

–
492

–
494

513

518

492

494

530
21
(135)
97

451
30
(131)
168

504
23
(132)
97

428
30
(132)
168

513

518

492

494

518

503

494

489

44
(2)

14
(3)

40
5

4
(1)

(49)
2

2
2

(49)
2

2
–

513

518

492

494

Deferred tax is calculated at the following rates:
South African operations – 28% (2011: 28%)
Foreign operations at average rate – 31.97% (2011: 35.17%)

492
21

494
24

492

494

513

518

492

494

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances is as follows:
Group
Capital
allowances
R’m

Intangible
assets
R’m

At 1 January 2011
Recognised in profit or loss
– current year temporary differences
– prior year overprovision
Recognised to other comprehensive income
– current year temporary differences
Recognised directly in equity

399

37

52
–

Retirement
benefit assets
R’m

Total
R’m

(85)

152

503

(7)
–

(44)
(3)

13
–

14
(3)

–
–

–
–

(1)
2

3
–

2
2

At 31 December 2011
Recognised in profit or loss
– current year temporary differences
– prior year overprovision
Recognised to other comprehensive income
– current year temporary differences
Recognised directly in equity

451

30

(131)

168

518

79

(9)

(6)
(2)

(20)
–

44
(2)

–
–

–
–

2
2

(51)
–

(49)
2

At 31 December 2012

530

21

97

513

Provisions
and other
R’m

(135)

Financial results and other information

Closing balance

Sustainability

Reconciliation of deferred tax
Opening balance
Recognised in profit or loss
– current year temporary differences
– prior year (over)/under provision
Recognised in other comprehensive income
– current year temporary differences
Recognised directly in equity

2012
R’m

Support functions

The net deferred tax comprises:
Capital allowances
Intangible assets
Provisions and other
Retirement benefit assets

2011
R’m

Business review

2012
R’m

Company
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10 DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Company
Capital
allowances
R’m

Intangible
assets
R’m

At 1 January 2011
Recognised in profit or loss
– current year temporary differences
– prior year over provision
Recognised to other comprehensive income
– current year temporary differences

371

37

57
–

Retirement
benefit assets
R’m

Total
R’m

(71)

152

489

(7)
–

(59)
(1)

13
–

4
(1)

–

–

(1)

3

2

At 31 December 2011
Recognised in profit or loss
– current year temporary differences
– prior year overprovision
Recognised to other comprehensive income
– current year temporary differences
Recognised directly in equity

428

30

(132)

168

494

76
–

(7)
–

(9)
5

(20)
–

40
5

–
–

–
–

2
2

(51)
–

(49)
2

At 31 December 2012

504

23

97

492

Provisions
and other
R’m

(132)

The deferred tax charged to other comprehensive income during the year is as follows:
Group
2012
R’m
Tax effect on actuarial gains on defined benefit funds
Tax effect on hedging reserve

(51)
2

Company
2011
R’m
3
(1)

2012
R’m
(51)
2

2011
R’m
3
(1)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there is a legally
enforceable right of offset and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is no intention
to settle the balances on a net basis or to realise assets and settle payables
simultaneously. The deferred tax assets arise due to taxable temporary
differences and unused tax losses. Given both recent and forecast trading,
the directors are of the opinion that the level of profits in the foreseeable
future is more likely than not to be sufficient to recover these assets.

11 INVENTORIES
81
5
651
(52)

90
7
581
–

62
1
570
(48)

75
5
508
–

685

678

585

588

Inventory obsolescence allowance (taken into account
in the carrying value of inventories above)
Finished goods

59

49

55

46

Balance at the end of the year

59

49

55

46

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Less: Assets held-for-sale
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12 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

Company
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Financial instruments

824

815

641

640

Trade receivables
Impairment allowance

884
(88)

883
(110)

683
(68)

696*
(86)

Net trade receivables
Other receivables
Accrued income
Staff loans

796
23
1
4

773
36
1
5

615
22
1
3

610
25
1
4

Non-financial instruments

17

15

13

11

Prepayments
Deposits

15
2

14
1

11
2

11
–

841

830

654

651

815
15
3
–
1
30
20

820
16
3
1
7
24*
12*

679
–
3
–
1
–
–

685*
–
3
1
7
–
–

884

883

683

696*

Sustainability

The net carrying values of trade and other receivables are considered
a close approximation of their fair values.
Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit
scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
limits by customer. Limits and scoring are reviewed annually and upon request
from a customer. Due to the nature of the business, there is no customer that
represents more than 5% of the total balance of trade receivables.

* Restated to enhance disclosure.

Financial results and other information

The carrying amounts of gross trade receivables are denominated in the
following currencies:
SA Rand
Botswana Pula
British Pounds
Euro
US Dollars
Zambia Kwacha
Other

Support functions

2011
R’m

Business review

2012
R’m
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12 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Credit quality of trade receivables
As at 31 December 2012 Group trade receivables of R353 million (2011: R162 million) and company trade receivables of R291 million
(2011: R114 million) were past due but not impaired. These relate to customers of whom there is no recent history of default. The aging of
these trade receivables are shown below.
Group

Carrying value
Not past due date
Past due within 30 days from statement
Past due within 30 – 60 days from statement
Past due within 60 – 90 days from statement
Past due within 90 – 120 days from statement
Past due within 120 – 150 days from statement
Past due in excess of 150 days from statement

Impairment allowance
Not past due date
Past due within 30 days from statement
Past due within 30 – 60 days from statement
Past due within 60 – 90 days from statement
Past due within 90 – 120 days from statement
Past due within 120 – 150 days from statement
Past due in excess of 150 days from statement

Company

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

445
181
55
19
24
14
146

640
42
30
16
9
4
142

326
149
46
20
15
15
112

518*
27
21
12
7
3
108

884

883

683

696*

2
1
2
2
3
5
73

29
1
–
1
1
1
77

2
1
2
2
2
4
55

22
1
–
1
1
1
60

88

110

68

86

(110)
22

(111)
1

(86)
18

(92)
6

(88)

(110)

(68)

(86)

2011
R’m

Listings of overdue customer balances are reviewed monthly and compared
against their credit terms/limits. Any customer exceeding their credit
terms/limits must settle their overdue balances before any further credit
is extended. Appropriate action is taken to recover long-overdue debts.
Overdue accounts are put on hold until payments are received to return
them within limits. Trade receivables are not committed as security for debt.
The amount of the impairment allowance at 31 December 2012 was
R88 million (2011: R110 million) for Group and reflects trade receivables
from customers who are considered to be experiencing difficult economic
situations. It was assessed that a portion of these receivables is expected
to be recovered.
Movement in the impairment allowance
Balance at the beginning of the year
Utilised during the year
Balance at the end of the year
* Restated to enhance disclosure.
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13 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks and investments in money market instruments.

Group
2012
R’m
Cash on hand and favourable balances with banks
Bank overdrafts

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

297
(42)

243
(11)

181
(42)

83
(11)

255

232

139

72

139
116

72
160

139

72

255

232

139

72

Support functions

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following:
South African Rand
Foreign currencies

Company

Business review

Cash and cash equivalents included in the statements of cash flows comprise the following statements of financial position amounts:

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value
due to the short-term maturity of these financial instruments.

Sustainability

Credit risk
The Group limits its credit risk exposure by investing only with financial
institutions that have a minimum long-term rating of +A (zaf) by Fitch.
The Group has ISDA Master Agreements with most of its counterparties for
financial derivatives, which permits net settlement of assets and liabilities
in certain circumstances, thereby reducing the Group’s credit exposure to
individual counterparties.

14 ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE
A decision to dispose of the RECO business was taken in May 2012, as the
nature of the business operations was not aligned to the Group’s principal
lines of business. The sale was completed in February 2013. The assets of
the business have been accounted for as a disposal group, however, not
as a discontinued operation, as the business does not represent a major
line of business. As at 31 December 2012, the major classes of assets
disposed of are detailed below:
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Inventory held-for-sale written-off
Total assets held-for-sale

15
52
(15)
(8)

–
–
–
–

1
48
(1)
(8)

–
–
–
–

44

–

40

–

Financial results and other information

Management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.
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15 EQUITY
Share capital and share premium
Group
2012
Total shares in issue
Treasury shares held by subsidiary

Ordinary shares
Treasury shares held by subsidiary

Company
2012

2011

342 852 910
(34 285 308)

342 852 910 342 852 910
(34 285 308)

342 852 910

308 567 602

308 567 602

342 852 910

342 852 910

R’m

R’m

R’m

R’m

17

17

17
(2)

2011

17
(2)

Share capital
Share premium

15
537

15
537

17
537

17
537

Total

552

552

554

554

(14)
22
4
(71)
154

–
–
–
(53)
287

(14)
22
(3)
154

287

95

234

159

280

Authorised share capital comprises 350 000 000 ordinary shares at
5 cents each.
The company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Afrox African Investments (Pty)
Limited holds 34 285 308 ordinary shares of African Oxygen Limited.
These shares are being held as treasury shares.
BOC Holdings owns 50.47% of the company, but from a Group perspective,
BOC Holdings owns 56.08% of the Group’s shares. The ultimate beneficial
shareholder is Linde AG.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared
from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of
the company.

16 RESERVES
Incentive scheme share reserve
Share-based payment reserve
Hedging reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve
Actuarial gains on defined benefit funds

–
–
(7)

Incentive scheme share reserve
The incentive scheme share reserve comprises the cost of shares purchased by the Group on behalf of employees in terms of the Group’s
new share appreciation rights incentive scheme. The scheme was previously cash-settled and was converted to an equity-settled scheme
with effect from 1 January 2012. Shares purchased are transferred to the share-based payment reserve in the period in which they vest.
Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve relates to equity-settled share-based payments. Refer to note 34 for more detail.
Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related
to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.
Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve relates to the cumulative net movement in the net value of the foreign assets and liabilities held by
foreign subsidiaries since acquisition due to fluctuations in exchange rates; together with the translation to Rands at the average exchange
rate of income and expenses of foreign subsidiaries.
Actuarial gains on defined benefit funds
These relate to actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit funds recognised in other comprehensive income in terms of IAS 19.
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17 LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
Group

Terms of repayment

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

870
(738)

948
(502)

860
(728)

935
(502)

132

446

132

433

Interest
rate

Term

06/2012
07/2012
08/2012
12/2012
02/2013
04/2013
07/2013
08/2013
08/2013
02/2016

14.19%
11.54%
6.33%
11.32%
8.25%
12.39%
12.70%
12.75%
9.28%
7.28%

fixed
fixed
variable
fixed
variable
fixed
fixed
fixed
variable
variable

–
–
–
–
10
100
100
100
63
197

100
150
100
90
13
100
100
100
125
70

–
–
–
–
–
100
100
100
63
197

100
150
100
90
–
100
100
100
125
70

6.15%

variable

300

–

300

–

Less: Short-term portion of long-term borrowings

Two to five years – capital
Two to five years – interest

948
(502)

860
(728)

935
(502)

132

446

132

433

738
43

502
90

728
43

502
90

781

592

771

592

132
13

446
49

132
13

433
49

145

495

145

482

926

1 087

916

1 074

The fair value of borrowings equals their carrying amount. Currency analysis: All long-term borrowings are Rand denominated.
Cash flow sensitivity for variable rate instruments: A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/
(decreased) profit or loss by R7 million (2011: R3 million) for a period of one year compounded monthly. This analysis assumes that all other
variables, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2011. Loans are repayable
in full on maturity date, interest payable quarterly in arrears.
* Loan repayable in equal annual instalments, interest payable quarterly in arrears.
^ Loan repayable in equal quarterly instalments, interest payable in arrears.

Financial results and other information

Minimum repayments of unsecured borrowings:
One year – capital
One year – interest

870
(738)

Sustainability

Date of final
repayment

Support functions

Unsecured loans
Counterparty
RMB-Ivuzi
RMB-Ivuzi
Citibank
RMB-Ivuzi
FNB Namibia
RMB-Ivuzi
Absa Capital
Nedbank
Standard Chartered*
RMB-Ivuzi^
Revolving facilities:
RMB

2012
R’m

Business review

Unsecured borrowings
Less: Short-term portion of long-term borrowings

Company
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18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group
2012
R’m

Company
2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Financial instruments

661

582

567

482

Trade payables
Other payables
Interest accrual

509
142
10

470
94
18

457
100
10

398
66*
18

Non-financial instruments

173

188

159

174

Employee benefit in respect of share appreciation rights
Employee benefits including leave pay, bonuses and other costs
Deferred rentals
Value added taxation

–
104
42
27

10
137
28
13

–
99
40
20

10
129
26
9

834

770

726

656

Cylinder deposits
HP cylinder deposits
LPG cylinder deposits

25
184

34
160

5
174

6
158

Total

209

194

179

164

Other payables include sundry accruals.
The fair value of trade and other payables approximates the carrying amount.
The Group has no material exposure to interest risk as there are no suppliers
that charge interest.
No individual vendor represents more than 10% of the total balance of
trade payables.
* Restated to enhance disclosure.

19 OTHER SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Foreign exchange contracts
The Group has entered into certain foreign exchange contracts which do not relate to specific items on the statement of financial position,
but were entered into to cover foreign commitments not yet due.
Foreign exchange contracts are entered into mainly to cover import purchases and fair values are determined using foreign exchange market
rates. Foreign exchange contracts entered into as at 31 December:
Group and Company

British Pounds
Euro
Japanese Yen
US Dollars

Foreign
currency
2012
m

ZAR
2012
R’m

Foreign
currency
2011
m

ZAR
2011
R’m

–
10
5
7

6
117
1
60

–
9
1
5

5
102
–
38

Mark-to-market value
Foreign exchange contracts liability
Actual foreign carrying amounts were used and not rounded rates as disclosed above.

184

145

5

5
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21 REVENUE
Company
2011
R’m

Revenue
Sale of goods
 Rentals

4 939
619

4 689
557

3 880
619

3 668
557

Total revenue for the year

5 558

5 246

4 499

4 225

3 042

2 780

2 597

2 507

10

–

139
61
10

133
32
–

7
32
296

5
30
253

5
31
267

5
30
230

9
161
91
17
18

7
141
75
16
14

1
150
88
11
17

2
131
72
12
13

–
(13)
347

(14)
–
277

2
(13)
351

(15)
–
281

32
315

29
248

39
312

35
246

14
3

(15)
(2)

6
3

(11)
(2)

–
31

10
153

–
17

10
124

31
–

152
1

17
–

124
–

22 EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TAX (EBIT)
EBIT is shown after taking the following into account:
Cost of sales
Income
Dividends received from subsidiaries – unlisted
Management fees from subsidiaries
Management fees from fellow subsidiaries
Expenses
Auditors’ remuneration – fees for audit
Amortisation of intangibles (note 2)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 1)
Freehold properties
Plant and equipment
Cylinders
Vehicles
Furniture and fittings
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Profit on disposal of business operation*
Operating lease charges
Property
Vehicles and equipment
Loss/(profit) on foreign currency transactions
Loss/(profit) on fair value hedges
Loss on fair value adjustment of long-term derivative
financial instruments
Impairments
Plant and equipment
Goodwill and intangible assets
* Disposal of Petrogas.

Financial results and other information

2012
R’m

Sustainability

2011
R’m

Support functions

2012
R’m

Business review

Group
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23 EMPLOYEE AND KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION COSTS
Group

Company

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Directors’ emoluments

42

40

42

40

 Executives – for services as directors
Non-executives – fees
 Executive management (Exco)

14
2
26

15
3
22

14
2
26

15
3
22

1 148

1 109

1 032

1 002

980
19
68
7
2
9
1
62

957
16
64
7
19
–
1
45

877
19
64
6
2
9
1
54

862
16
60
7
19
–
1
37

(116)

(116)

(55)
14

(103)
5

(97)
–
(55)
14

(114)
(1)
(103)
4

(157)

(214)

(138)

(214)

Finance income
Loans and receivables
Expected return on plan assets
Lease receivables from finance leases

5
112
16

9
147
12

1
112
10

5
147
11

Total finance income

133

168

123

163

Net finance expense

(24)

(46)

(15)

(51)

Analysed per category:
Net loans and payables
Other

(40)
16

(58)
12

(25)
10

(62)
11

(24)

(46)

(15)

(51)

Employee costs
Salaries and wages
Pension costs – defined benefit plan
Pension costs – provident fund
Other salary costs
Cash-settled share-based costs
Equity-settled share-based costs
Post-retirement defined benefit plan costs
Medical aid current contribution for employees
For a detailed breakdown of the directors’ emoluments,
see the Remuneration report on pages 83 to 85.

24 FINANCE (EXPENSE)/INCOME
Finance expense
Loans and payables
Interest paid by subsidiaries
Interest cost of pension obligations
Less: Interest capitalised on property, plant and equipment
Total finance expense
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25 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Group

Current year
Prior year over provision

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

75

71

18

23

80
(5)

74
(3)

21
(3)

25
(2)
3

40
5

4
(1)

12
7

9
9

12
7

12
9

136

100

82

47

Reconciliation of taxation charge
Profit before taxation

419

295

374

268

Taxation calculated at a statutory tax rate of 28% (2011: 28%)
Income not subject to taxation
Prior year adjustments
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes
Foreign tax rate differential
Foreign taxes
Secondary taxation on companies

117
(9)
(7)
11
5
12
7

105
(49)
2
5
–
12
7

75
(48)
(3)
1
–
13
9

Income tax expense

136

100

82

47

Effective tax rate (%)

32.5

33.9

21.9

17.5

Foreign taxes
Secondary taxation on companies

83
(8)
(6)
8
5
9
9

26 EARNINGS AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
Group earnings per share and Group diluted earnings per share are calculated on earnings of R270 million (2011: R183 million) and
a weighted average number of ordinary shares of 308 567 602 (2011: 308 567 602) in issue during the period. Group headline earnings per
share are calculated on headline earnings of R281 million (2011: R283 million) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 308 567 602 (2011: 308 567 602) in issue during the period.
Group

Reconciliation between earnings
and headline earnings
Profit for the year
Adjustments for:
– Profit on disposal of subsidiary
– Profit on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
– Impairment of property, plant
and equipment
Headline earnings
Basic and diluted earnings
per ordinary share (cents)
Headline earnings per ordinary
share (cents)

Gross
R’m

2012
Taxation
R’m

Net
R’m

Gross
R’m

2011
Taxation
R’m

Net
R’m

270

–

270

183

–

183

(13)

2

(11)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(14)

4

(10)

31

(9)

22

153

(43)

110

288

(7)

281

322

(39)

283

87.5

59.2

91.0

91.6

Financial results and other information

45

14
(3)

Sustainability

11

44
(2)

Current year temporary differences
Prior year (over)/underprovision

Support functions

42

Deferred tax

Business review

Normal taxation

Company
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27 DIVIDENDS
Group
2012
R’m
Final dividend number 169 paid on 26 April 2011: 8 cents per share
Interim dividend number 170 paid on 24 October 2011: 22 cents per share
Final dividend number 171 paid on 23 April 2012: 23 cents per share
Interim dividend number 172 paid on 15 October 2012: 27 cents per share

Company
2011
R’m

2012
R’m

25
68
71
83

2011
R’m
28
75

79
92

154

93

171

103

cents

cents

cents

cents

Final dividend number 173 payable on 22 April 2013: 18.0 cents per share
Dividends declared per share (cents)

45.0

45.0

45.0

45.0

 Interim
Final*

27.0
18.0

22.0
23.0

27.0
18.0

22.0
23.0

R’m

R’m

R’m

R’m

419

295

374

268

296
–
(7)
6
31
(4)
–
(13)
99
18
32
(133)
157

253
–
30
10
153
(3)
(14)
–
–
(7)
30
(168)
214

267
(139)
–
6
16
–
2
(13)
99
41
31
(123)
138

230
(133)
–
10
124
–
(15)
–
–
(1)
30
(163)
214

EBIT before working capital adjustments
Working capital adjustments

901
35

793
51

699
51

564
52

 Increase in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables
 Increase in net Group company payables
(Increase)/decrease in net fellow subsidiary receivables
 Increase in trade, other payables and other short-term liabilities

(69)
11
–
(1)
94

(16)
(65)
–
1
131

(54)
4
2
(1)
100

(13)
(50)
1
–
114

Cash generated from operations

936

844

750

616

The local net dividend amount is 15.3 cents per share for shareholders
liable to pay the new Dividend Tax and 18.0 per share for shareholders
exempt from the new Dividend Tax (2011: 23.00 cents)
In terms of the new Dividend Tax effective 1 April 2012, the following
additional information is disclosed:
 the dividend has been declared out of income reserves
 the local Dividend Tax rate is 15%, subject to double tax agreement
 no Secondary Tax on Companies (STC) credits were utilised
  Afrox currently has 308 567 602 ordinary shares in issue; and
  Afrox’s income tax reference number is 9350042710
*	Dividend was declared subsequent to 31 December 2012 and is presented
for information purposes.

28 RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
TO CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Dividends received
Foreign exchange adjustments
 Revaluation loss on derivative financial instruments
 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
 Reversal of income from associate
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Profit on disposal of business operation
Provident fund repayment utilised
 Other non-cash movements
 Amortisation of intangibles
Finance income
Finance expenses
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29 NORMAL AND SECONDARY TAXATION PAID
Group

Taxation asset/(liability) at the beginning of the year
Income statement charge (excluding deferred tax)
Interest paid
Translation difference
Taxation liability/(asset) at the end of the year

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

25
(94)
(1)
2
8

(8)
(89)
–
(5)
(25)

41
(37)
(1)
–
(21)

2011
R’m
14
(44)
(1)
–
(41)

(18)

(72)

(51)
–
(67)

2
(1)
(12)

(49)
–
(14)

Normal taxation
Secondary taxation paid

(53)
(7)

(118)
(9)

(11)
(7)

(63)
(9)

(60)

(127)

(18)

(72)

154

93

171

103

30 DIVIDENDS PAID
Ordinary dividends

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for
measuring and managing risk and the Group’s management of capital.
The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework.
The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in
market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a
disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and objectives.
The Group Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures
and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group Audit Committee is
assisted in its oversight by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.
31.2 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations,
and arises principally from the Groups receivables from customers, cash and cash equivalents and derivative financial instruments.
Derivative financial instruments
Cash-settled call options are only acquired from approved financial institutions in order to comply with the Group’s treasury policy and to
limit the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from the use of derivative financial instruments. The Group does not consider there to be any
significant concentration of credit risk related to derivative financial instruments. Refer to note 6 for more detail.
Cash and cash equivalents
The Group limits its exposure to financial institutions by dealing with institutions with a Fitch long-term rating of +A (zaf) or better. The Group
has International Swap and Derivatives Master Agreements with most of its counterparties for financial derivatives, which permits net
settlement of assets and liabilities in certain circumstances, thereby reducing the Group’s credit exposure to individual counterparties.

Financial results and other information

31.1 Overview
The Group was exposed to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
 Credit risk;
 Liquidity risk; and
 Market risk.

Sustainability

(127)

(2)
(1)
(50)

Support functions

(60)
Normal South African taxation paid
Interest paid
Foreign taxation paid

Business review

2012
R’m

Company
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.2 Credit risk (continued)
Trade and other receivables
There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables as the Group has a large customer base spread across
various geographical areas and industries. The Group has credit policies that require appropriate credit checks on potential customers before
sales commence, with ongoing reviews at regular intervals. The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate
of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates
to individually significant exposures and a collective loss component established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have
been incurred but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for similar
financial assets. The Group considers its maximum credit risk to be R1 121 million (2011: R1 058 million) which is the total of the Group’s
financial assets. At 31 December 2012 the Group did not consider there to be a significant concentration of credit risk for which an
impairment allowance had not adequately been made.
31.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due that are settled by delivering cash
or any other financial asset. The Group manages liquidity risk by utilising a central treasury function and monitoring forecasted cash flows.
The Group’s borrowing powers are determined by the Articles of Association of the company.
The Group finances its operations through cash generated by the business and a mixture of short-term, medium-term and long-term bank
credit facilities and bank loans with a range of maturity dates. In this way, the Group ensures that it is not overly reliant on any particular
liquidity source and that maturities of borrowings sourced in this way are not overly concentrated.
Subsidiaries have access to local bank credit facilities, but are principally funded by the Group.
The Group has the following core lines of credit that are available for general corporate purposes and which are maintained by the
company’s treasury function:
Group
Company

Committed facilities
Uncommitted facilities
Term loans maturing over the next four years

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

1 230
900
557

630
900
1 079

1 230
895
557

630
895
1 079

Liquidity risk faced by the Group is mitigated by having diverse sources of finance available to it and by maintaining substantial unutilised
banking facilities and reserve borrowing capacity, as indicated by the level of uncommitted facilities.
Unutilised borrowing capacity under uncommitted bank facilities amounted to R1 788 million (2011: R1 506 million) for Group and R1 783 million
(2011: R1 501 million) for company.
Non-derivative financial liabilities
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities which will be settled into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
including interest. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
Group

2012
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Other short-term financial liabilities
Payables to fellow subsidiaries
of holding company
Payables to Group companies
Bank overdrafts
2011
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Other short-term financial liabilities
Payables to fellow subsidiaries
of holding company
Payables to Group companies
Bank overdrafts

Company

Less than
1 year
R’m

Between
1 and 2 years
R’m

Between 2
and 5 years
R’m

Less than
1 year
R’m

Between 1
and 2 years
R’m

Between 2
and 5 years
R’m

781
661
209

74
–
–

71
–
–

771
567
179

74
–
–

71
–
–

30

–

–

42

–

–

30
34
42

–
–
–

–
–
–

592
582
194

385
–
–

110
–
–

592
482
164

385
–
–

97
–
–

12

–

–

11

–

–

12
31
11

–
–
–

–
–
–
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

Group and Company
Less than 1 year
R’m

Between 1 and 2 years
R’m

Between 2 and 5 years
R’m

(184)

–

–

2011
Foreign currency contracts
Outflow

(145)

–

–

The Group buys foreign currency derivatives in order to manage foreign exchange risks. Such transactions are carried out within the guidelines
set by the Group treasury. Generally the Group seeks to apply hedge accounting in order to manage volatility in profit or loss.

Sustainability

31.4 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s
income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Support functions

2012
Foreign currency contracts
Outflow

Business review

Derivative financial liabilities
The table below analyses the Group’s derivative financial liabilities which will be settled on a gross basis, into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

Currency risk

The Group faces a number of risks from currency rate movements as discussed below:
Transaction exposure
The functional currency value of contracted or known foreign currency payments or receipts (such as debtor or creditor payments) varies
due to currency rate movements.
This risk is managed through the use of foreign currency contracts. Currency transaction risk can only be hedged up to a maximum period
of one year in advance unless permission is obtained from the SA Reserve Bank. Subject to this limitation, at least 95% of all foreign currency
risk on transaction exposure should be hedged at all times. Treasury will first seek to net off matching foreign cash inflows against foreign
cash outflows on a currency for currency basis, where practical, before entering into foreign currency contracts to hedge the residual
exposure with banks.
The Group’s policy with respect to translation exposure is that the Group does not specifically hedge ‘earnings’ beyond the point covered
by economic risk hedging. As far as is practical investment into foreign countries should be funded by borrowings in the currency of the
investment country after considering local banking, investment, taxation and currency control legislation.
Some hedging of reported earnings will result from hedging economic exposure through borrowing in the currency of investment, (and so
incurring an interest charge in that currency). The extent of hedging depends on the interest cover in that currency and availability of
banking facilities in that particular country.
Group treasury’s currency funding objective is to hedge all foreign investments by borrowing in the currency of investment revenues where
practicable and cost-effective.
Economic exposure
The Rand present value of all future Afrox cash flows (and Afrox’s market capitalisation) is affected by currency rate movements.
Economic exposure relates to longer-term cash flows from a business and can include exposure to movements in the currency of competitors
in internationally traded goods (e.g. welding products). Primary management of this exposure is through the choice of procurement, investment
or manufacturing location, which forms part of the capital expenditure authorisation process and pricing and other commercial policies.

Financial results and other information

Foreign currency risk
The Group will engage in foreign currency dealing only to the extent necessary to conduct the business and to protect the Group’s interests
with respect to foreseen needs in accordance with prudent practice. Accordingly, only actual foreign commitments arising from contractual
obligations that have currency risk on imports or exports may be hedged with foreign currency contracts. The Group will not engage in
currency transactions for the purpose of speculative profit.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.4 Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency exposure
Trade exposure
The Group has entered into certain foreign currency contracts, which were entered into to cover foreign commitments not yet due and
proceeds which are not yet receivable. The contracts will be utilised for purposes of trade commitments during 2013.
Details of significant contracts are as follows:
Group and Company
Liabilities
2012
US Dollars
British Pounds
Japanese Yen
Euro
Australian Dollars

Foreign currency
m

Average forward
rate

Rand amount
R’m

7
–
5
7
–

8.89
14.17
0.11
11.59
9.14

60
5
1
86
2
154

2011
US Dollars
British Pounds
Japanese Yen
Euro

5
–
1
9

8.45
12.15
0.11
11.39

38
5
–
102
145

The fair values of foreign currency contracts are determined using the relevant market forward currency rates.
Actual foreign currency amounts were used and not rounded amounts as disclosed above.
Sensitivity analysis
The tables below set out the Group’s currency exposures from financial assets and financial liabilities held by Group companies in currencies
other than their functional currencies and resulting in currency movements in the statement of comprehensive income and statement of
financial position. The potential impact on earnings is based on a 1% change in foreign currency rate.
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
Currency risks arise on account of financial instruments being denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency and being of a
monetary nature.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.4 Market risk (continued)
Company
2011
R’m

Financial assets – trade and other receivables
Amount
US Dollars
British Pounds
Euro
Botswana Pula
Zambia Kwacha
Other

1
3
–
15
30
20

7
3
1
16
24
12

1
3
–
–
–
–

7
3
1
–
–
–

Total

69

63

4

11

Potential impact on earnings
US Dollars
British Pounds
Euro
Botswana Pula
Zambia Kwacha
Other

–
–
–
–
–
2

1
–
–
–
–
5

–
–
–
–
–
–

1
–
–
–
–
–

Total

2

6

–

1

Financial liabilities – trade and other payables
Amount
British Pounds
US Dollar
Euro
Zambia Kwacha
Other

2
3
8
35
18

–
4
12
22
31

2
3
8
–
–

4
12
–
–

Total

66

69

13

16

Potential impact on earnings
British Pounds
US Dollar
Euro
Zambia Kwacha
Other

–
–
1
–
–

–
–
1
–
5

–
–
1
–
–

–
–
1
–
–

Total

1

6

1

1

There are no foreign currency denominated borrowings, except for the loan denominated in Namibian Dollars which is pegged against the
South African Rand.
The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:
Group and Company
Exchange rates to South African Rand
Year-end rates
Botswana Pula
British Pound
Euro
US Dollar
Zambian Kwacha (000’s)
Average rates for the year
Botswana Pula
British Pound
Euro
US Dollar
Zambian Kwacha (000’s)

2012
R

2011
R

1.09
13.75
11.16
8.46
1.63

1.08
12.56
10.48
8.09
1.58

1.08
12.96
10.53
8.18
1.59

1.06
11.62
10.09
7.24
1.49

Financial results and other information

2012
R’m

Sustainability

2011
R’m

Support functions

2012
R’m

Business review

Group
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.4 Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate exposure is the risk that all future cash flows (operational as well as financial) will vary adversely due to interest
rate movements. Thus the Group’s income may vary when interest rates move, due to the effect of interest rate changes on customer
demand, supplier costs and the wider economy.
There are two opposing considerations in establishing the Group’s interest rate hedging policy, i.e. the proportion of the Group’s net debt
financed at fixed and variable interest rates. Fixed interest rate debt tends to reduce earnings volatility and variable rate debt tends to reduce
interest cost depending on the uncertainty in the market. The Group’s policy is geared towards striking a balance between the two with at
least 35% of the Group’s net debt at fixed interest rates.
As at 31 December 2012 the Group had exposure of R316 million (2011: R337 million) to variable interest rates.
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
Changes in the market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with fixed interest rates only affect income if these are
measured at their fair value. As such, all financial instruments with fixed rates of interest that are accounted for at amortised cost are not
subject to fair value interest rate risk.
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have impacted profit or loss by the amounts shown on page 105.
This analysis assumes all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.
The analysis is performed on the same basis as 2011.
Interest rate profiles of financial assets and financial liabilities
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows funds at fixed and variable rates from financial institutions. It also places funds at
institutions at variable and fixed rates. The risk is managed by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and variable rates at different
financial institutions.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.4 Market risk (continued)
Group
Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate
%

Fixed interest rate maturing

Total carrying amount

Over
5 years
R’m

Noninterest
bearing
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

296

–

–

–

857

1 153

1 071

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

6
824

6
824

6
815

–
296

–
–

–
–

–
–

26
1

26
297

7
243

Total financial assets

296

–

–

–

857

1 153

1 071

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

612

300

–

–

900

1 812

1 747

132
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
661
209

132
661
209

446
582
194

–

–

–

–

30

30

12

11.5

138

300

–

–

–

438

502

6.2
7.0

300
42

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

300
42

–
11

–

–

–

–

5

5

5

Total financial liabilities

612

300

–

–

905

1 817

1 752

Net financial liabilities

(316)

(300)

–

–

(48)

Loans and receivables
Other investments
Trade and other receivables
Receivables from fellow subsidiaries
of holding company
Cash and cash equivalents

Long-term borrowings
Trade and other payables
Other short-term financial liabilities
Payables to fellow subsidiaries
of holding company
Short-term portion
of long-term borrowings
Short-term portion of long-term
borrowings (revolving facilities)
Bank overdrafts
Fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments

4.1

7.3

(664)

(681)

Financial results and other information

1 to 5
years
R’m

Sustainability

1 year
or less
R’m

Support functions

Floating
interest
rate
R’m

Business review

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rate on financial assets and liabilities at the reporting date are:
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.4 Market risk (continued)
Company
Weighted
average
effective
interest
rate
%

Fixed interest rate maturing

Total carrying amount

Floating
interest
rate
R’m

1 year
or less
R’m

1 to 5
years
R’m

Over
5 years
R’m

Noninterest
bearing
R’m

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

180

–

–

–

700

880

761

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

6
641

6
641

6
640

–
–
180

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

26
26
1

26
26
181

7
25
83

Total financial assets

180

–

–

–

700

880

761

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

602

300

–

–

810

1 712

1 635

132
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
567
179

132
567
179

433
482
164

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

30
34

30
34

12
31

11.3

128

300

–

–

–

428

502

6.2
7.0

300
42

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

300
42

–
11

–

–

–

–

5

5

5

Total financial liabilities

602

300

–

–

815

1 717

1 640

Net financial liabilities

(422)

(300)

–

–

(115)

Loans and receivables
Other investments
Trade and other receivables
Receivables from fellow subsidiaries
of holding company
Receivables from Group companies
Cash and cash equivalents

Long-term borrowings
Trade and other payables
Other short-term financial liabilities
Payables to fellow subsidiaries
of holding company
Payables of Group companies
Short-term portion of long-term
borrowings
Short-term portion of long-term
borrowings (revolving facilities)
Bank overdrafts
Fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments

4.1

7.3

(837)

(879)
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.4 Market risk (continued)

Group

Assets
Non-current assets
Lease receivables
Other investments

114

6

–

108

125

6

5

114

108
6

–
6

–
–

108
–

114
11

–
6

–
5

114
–

1 153

1 147

–

6

1 074

1 065

–

9

824

824

–

–

815

815

–

–

26

26

–

–

7

7

–

–

6
297

–
297

–
–

6
–

9
243

–
243

–
–

9
–

Group

Level
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other short-term financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Payables to fellow subsidiaries of holding company
Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
Bank overdrafts

2

Fair
value
R’m

Fair value
through
profit
Amortised
cost or loss
R’m
R’m

Fair
value
R’m

Fair value
through
Amortised profit or
loss
cost
R’m
R’m

132

132

–

446

446

–

1 685

1 680

5

1 306

1 301

5

661
209
5
30
738
42

661
209
–
30
738
42

–
–
5
–
–
–

582
194
5
12
502
11

582
194
–
12
502
11

–
–
5
–
–
–

Financial results and other information

Trade and other receivables
Receivables from fellow
subsidiaries of holding
company
Short-term portion
of lease receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Other
assets
R’m

Sustainability

Current assets

3

As at 31 December 2011
Carrying amount
Fair value
through
profit
Fair Loans and
or loss
value receivables
R’m
R’m
R’m

Support functions

Level

As at 31 December 2012
Carrying amount
Fair value
through
Other
profit
Fair Loans and
assets
or loss
value receivables
R’m
R’m
R’m
R’m

Business review

Fair values
The table below sets out the Group and company classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and a comparison of the fair
values with their carrying amounts.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.4 Market risk (continued)
Company

Level

As at 31 December 2012
Carrying amount
Fair value
through
Other
profit
Fair Loans and
assets
or loss
value receivables
R’m
R’m
R’m
R’m

Assets
Non-current assets

As at 31 December 2011
Carrying amount
Fair value
through
profit
Fair Loans and
or loss
value receivables
R’m
R’m
R’m

Other
assets
R’m

89

6

–

83

99

6

5

88

83
6

–
6

–
–

83
–

88
11

–
6

–
5

88
–

Current assets

879

874

–

5

763

755

–

8

Trade and other receivables
Receivables from fellow
subsidiaries of holding
company
Receivables from Group
companies
Short-term portion of
lease receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

641

641

–

–

640

640

–

–

26

26

–

–

7

7

–

–

26

26

–

–

25

25

–

–

5
181

–
181

–
–

5
–

8
83

–
83

–
–

8
–

Lease receivables
Other investments

3

Group

Level
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other short-term financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Payables to fellow subsidiaries
of holding company
Payables to Group Companies
Short-term portion of long-term borrowings
Bank overdrafts

2

Fair
value
R’m

Fair value
through
profit
Amortised
cost or loss
R’m
R’m

Fair
value
R’m

Fair value
through
Amortised profit or
loss
cost
R’m
R’m

132

132

–

433

433

–

1 585

1 580

5

1 207

1 202

5

567
179
5

567
179
–

–
–
5

482
164
5

482
164
–

–
–
5

30
34
728
42

30
34
728
42

–
–
–
–

12
31
502
11

12
31
502
11

–
–
–
–
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair values
The carrying values of cash resources, trade receivables, trade payables, accrued expenses and short-term borrowings approximates fair
value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments.

Accounting classifications
The Group’s assets and liabilities that were subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss on 31 December 2012.
The different levels have been defined as follows:
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical financial assets or liabilities.

Support functions

The fair values of other long-term financial assets and long-term financial liabilities are not significantly different to their carrying values, as
they are carried at amortised cost.

Business review

31.4 Market risk (continued)
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments for which it is practicable
to estimate that value:

Level 2 – Input other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability.

Refer to the values identified in the fair value table on page 119.
Hedging
Cash Flow hedges
Cash flow hedges have been entered into in order to minimise the risk of currency rate fluctuations on the purchase of large components
for the capital expenditure projects. The financial instruments are forward currency contracts.

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the transaction being hedged is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and released
to the income statement when the hedged cash flows are also recognised in the income statement or if a hedged transaction is no longer
expected to occur. No amounts were recognised in profit or loss in 2012 or in 2011 as a result of ineffectiveness in cash flow hedges.
Cash flows from hedged transactions are expected to be as follows:
The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with derivatives that are cash flow hedges are expected to occur.
They are expected to impact profit or loss in the same period.
Group and Company
As at 31 December 2012
Amount
Contractual cash flows
6 to 12
6 months
months
or less
R’m
R’m
R’m
Cash flows from hedged transactions
Net losses recognised in other
comprehensive income

(32)

(22)

(6)

(6)

(10)
–

As at 31 December 2011
Amount
Contractual cash flows
6 to 12
6 months
months
or less
R’m
R’m
R’m
(90)

(25)

(65)

(4)

(1)

(3)

The following table presents a reconciliation of the reserve for cash flow hedges:
Group
Gains/(losses)

2012
R’m

At 1 January
Gains recognised in other comprehensive income (net of tax)

–
4

At 31 December

4

Company
2011
R’m
(10)
10
–

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

(7)
4

(12)
5

(3)

(7)

Financial results and other information

These hedges are accounted for as cash flow hedges in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Sustainability

Level 3 – Input for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

122

African Oxygen Limited Annual Report 2012

Notes to the financial statements
continued
31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.4 Market risk (continued)
Fair value hedges
The Afrox Group hedge the exposure to commodity price risks which arise in the normal course of business from its procurement transactions
(e.g. raw material and finished goods purchased) and results in open risk positions. The hedging relationship of this type of transaction is
designated as fair value hedging. As it is fair value hedges all gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
Changes in underlying transactions in fair value hedging relationships recognised in profit or loss.
Group and Company
As at 31 December 2012
Amount
Contractual cash flows
6 to 12
6 months
months
or less
R’m
R’m
R’m
Cash flows from hedged transactions
Net losses/(profits) recognised
in profit or loss

(149)
3

(149)
3

As at 31 December 2011
Amount
Contractual cash flows
6 to 12
6 months
months
or less
R’m
R’m
R’m

–

(50)

(50)

–

–

(2)

(2)

–

31.5 Treasury cash management
The Board also receives a report on treasury activities, including confirmation of compliance with treasury risk management policies.
The main objectives of the treasury function are:
To fund the Group at the lowest net cost (after taking account of tax costs, fees and currency and interest rate movements);
 To manage the Group’s currency and interest rate risk in order to maximise net Group cash inflows at acceptable levels of risk, with the
flexibility needed to achieve the Group’s commercial objectives;
 To invest the Group’s surplus funds in order to maximise returns consistent with adequate security and liquidity; and
 To manage and maintain the Group’s relationships with banks, financial institutions and credit rating agencies to safeguard the Group’s
access to debt capital and associated expertise.


Treasury risk management strategies include the use of derivatives, principally in the form of foreign currency contracts and interest rate
swaps in order to manage the currency and interest rate exposures arising from the Group’s operations.
The Group’s treasury policies are established to identify and analyse the financial risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls and to monitor exposures and adherence to limits.
31.6 Capital management
The capital structure of the Group consists of net borrowings and shareholders’ equity. Besides the statutory minimum capitalisation rules
that may apply to subsidiaries in different countries, the Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain the future
development of the business.
The Group’s long-term credit outlook is currently rated Global Credit Ratings (short-term A2) (2011: short-term A2).
Key credit metrics that underpin the Group’s rating are reviewed on a quarterly basis. Financial covenants included in the Group’s core bank
facilities were complied with.
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32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions
Shareholders
Details on the shareholders of the company are disclosed in the Shareholders’ profile on page 81 and 82.
Holding company
The parent company of African Oxygen Limited is BOC Holdings Limited, incorporated in the United Kingdom. The ultimate holding company
is Linde AG, incorporated in Germany.

Group and Company
2012
R’m

2011
R’m
52
13

34

40

BOC UK
BOC Kenya
BOC Nigeria
BOC Zimbabwe
BOC Australia
 Linde Headquarters
BOC Group Limited
 Linde Asia

9
5
1
–
13
4
1
1

9
4
1
6
12
8
–
–

Income from management fees:

10

–

2
2
6

–
–
–

Purchase of goods and services:

40

44

BOC UK
 Linde Headquarters
BOC Ireland
 Linde North America
BOC China

8
26
1
1
4

8
34
–
–
2

Turnkey projects:

139

61

 Linde Engineering
 Linde Process Plants

115
24

61
–

26

7

3
6
7
6
3
1

–
–
3
4
–
–

30

12

3
9
9
1
3
1
3
1

–
–
8
–
–
4
–
–

BOC Kenya
BOC Nigeria
BOC Zimbabwe

Receivables from fellow subsidiaries of holding company:
BOC UK
BOC Zimbabwe
BOC Kenya
BOC Nigeria
BOC Australia
 Linde Headquarters
Payables to fellow subsidiaries of holding company:
 Linde Headquarters
BOC Group Limited
BOC UK
BOC Cryostar
 Linde Global Helium
 Linde Gas Division
 Linde AG
BOC Ireland

Financial results and other information

84
19

Sustainability

Holding company
Cash dividends to holding company
Technical aid fee
Fellow subsidiaries of holding company
Revenue from sale of goods and services:

Support functions

Directors’ and key management emoluments
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity,
directly or indirectly, including any director, whether executive or otherwise, of that entity. Details on the remuneration of the directors and senior
management are disclosed on page 83 to 85. (Remuneration report). No loans were made to or received from any director or key manager.

Business review

Various transactions are entered into by the company and its subsidiaries during the period between related parties. Unless specifically
disclosed, these transactions occurred under terms that are no less favourable than those entered into with third parties.
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32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Company
2012
R’m

2011
R’m

186

154

 Afrox Zambia
 Afrox Malawi
 IGL
Swazi Oxygen
Botswana Oxygen Company
 Afrox Mozambique
 Afrox Lesotho
 Industrial Research and Development

39
19
30
6
15
6
70
1

34
15
29
16
21
9
30
–

Income from management fees:

61

32

 Afrox Lesotho
 ISAS Trust
Swazi Oxygen
 Afrox Zambia
 Afrox Malawi
 IGL

10
26
7
8
1
9

–
26
6
–
–
–

Purchases of goods and services:

69

64

 Afrox Properties
 Industrial Research and Development

11
58

11
53

Receivables from Group companies:

26

25

Botswana Oxygen Company
Swazi Oxygen
 Afrox Zambia
 IGL
 Afrox Malawi
 Afrox Lesotho
 Afrox Mozambique

1
–
12
3
3
5
2

10
2
8
3
2
–
–

Amounts outstanding on current accounts included in payables to Group companies:

3

12

 Industrial Research and Development
 Afrox Safety

3
–

10
2

Amounts outstanding on loans included in payables to Group companies:

31

19

 Amalgamated Welding and Cutting
Botswana Oxygen Company
 Afrox Lesotho
 Afrox Safety
Swazi Oxygen

2
–
7
13
9

2
1
–
16
–

139

133

1

2

Subsidiaries
Revenue from sale of goods and services:

Dividends received
Associate
Revenue from sale of goods
 Les Gaz Industriels
Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are detailed on page 128 and 129.

Amounts outstanding on trade receivables and payables are to be settled in cash within the 30–day credit terms offered to third parties. The
amounts due by related parties will be settled in cash with the normal 30-day credit period. No debts of related parties have been impaired.
All outstanding amounts from related parties are unsecured.
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33 COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES
Group

Company

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure
Authorised and contracted
Authorised by the directors, but not yet contracted for

159
718

173
290

159
715

173
290

Total future capital expenditure

877

463

874

463

Allocated to:
Property, plant and equipment

877

463

874

463

59
105
24

53
103
16

59
105
24

53
103
16

188

172

188

172

(25)
16

(28)
12

(18)
10

(20)
11

(9)

(16)

(8)

(9)

Afrox intends to finance capital expenditure from surpluses generated
and borrowing facilities available.
Leases
Operating leases
The Group and company leases certain of its property,
plant and equipment in terms of operating leases.
Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases
Not later than 1 year
Between 1 and 5 years
Longer than 5 years

Leases of vehicles are for periods between 12 months to 117 months and
are not subject to annual increases or other contingent rental changes.
Interest rates are floating and linked to the prime lending rate.
Leases of buildings are of varying lengths. Contingent rentals take the form
of variable increases in monthly fees linked to various indices depending
on the contract signed with the building landlord.
Deemed finance leases (IFRIC 4)
These assets are recognised as lease receivables. Lease payments
received and finance income recognised are detailed below:
Lease payments received
Finance income

Financial results and other information

2011
R’m

Sustainability

2012
R’m

Support functions

2011
R’m

Business review

2012
R’m
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
At 31 December 2012, the Group has the following equity-settled share-based payments arrangements:
Forfeitable Share Plan (FSP)
The FSP was introduced during the year, with effect from 1 January 2012. The plan covers a three-year performance period from 2012 to
2014 inclusive. It entitles eligible employees to be granted a specified number of forfeitable shares at the start of the period (grant date),
which are actual Afrox shares awarded at no cost as a long-term incentive. The shares are restricted and are subject to risk of forfeiture
when performance criteria are not met. The FSP comprises a percentage which is subject to performance conditions and retention conditions
and a percentage which is subject to retention conditions only.
Share Appreciation Rights (SARs)
The Group changed its Share Appreciation Rights Scheme from cash-settled to equity-settled with effect from 1 January 2012. The employment
benefit liability raised in the prior year for both Group and company in respect of share appreciation rights of R15 million was transferred to
equity. The SARs plan covers a three-year performance period from 2012 to 2014 inclusive. The plan entitles eligible employees to be
granted rights to receive Afrox shares at the start of the period (grant date), at a specified price (grant price) at the vesting date or any date
thereafter within seven years of grant date. The issuing of the shares is subject to performance conditions that need to be met over the
three-year vesting period. The number of shares that will be issued is determined by the growth in the Afrox share price over the grant price,
adjusted by the level of performance achieved. If performance criteria have been met, the calculated number of shares will be issued. If
performance criteria have not been met, no shares will be allocated.
The fair value of both the FSP and the SARs at grant date was independently valued by PricewaterhouseCoopers Advisory Services (Pty)
Limited measured based on the Monte Carlo simulation model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historical volatility of the
company’s share price over the period commensurate with the expected return. The weighting of the performance conditions is 75%
Headline Earnings Per Share (HEPS) and 25% Total Shareholder Return (TSR).
Fair value inputs and assumptions
The following inputs and assumptions were used in the measurement of fair value at grant date:
Company
2012

2011

10.10
19.39
2.30
19.75
20.28
3.32

–
–
–
16.50
27.00
2.30

Number of forfeitable shares in issue:
Allocations during the financial year – granted

681 300

–

Total forfeitable shares issued as at the end of the year

681 300

–

Fair value at grant date FSP with conditions per unit (R)
Fair value at grant date FSP without conditions per unit (R)
Fair value at grant date SARs per unit (R)
Share price at grant date (R)
Expected volatility (weighted average) (%)
Expected dividend yield (%)
The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility, adjusted for
once-off events in the historic volatility and for any changes to expected
future volatility due to publicly available information.

Number of share appreciation rights in issue:
Number of share appreciation rights allocated at the beginning of the year
Allocations during the financial year – granted
Share appreciation rights exercised
Share appreciation rights terminations
Share appreciation rights transferred

17 599 029
2 475 700
–
(2 485 824)
–

15 772 926
3 420 003
(60 000)
(1 435 828)
(98 072)

No of share appreciation rights issued at the end of the year

17 588 905

17 599 029

8 532 897
9 056 008

7 316 351
10 282 678

17 588 905

17 599 029

Number of vested share appreciation rights at the end of the year
Number of unvested share appreciation rights at the end of the year
Total share appreciation rights issued as at the end of the year
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34 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Expense recognised in profit or loss for allocations granted in 2012:

2012
R’m

2011
R’m

Forfeitable shares issued in 2012
Share appreciation rights granted in 2012

2
1

–
–

Total expense recognised for equity-settled share-based payment

3

–

A claim of R207 million has been made by a customer against the Group. This claim refers to supply disruptions, predominantly as a result of power
outages and equipment failure. The Group has sought legal advice and the Board of directors is still of the opinion that various robust defences
exist in respect of the claim and material success of this matter by the claimant is improbable.

Support functions

35 CONTINGENT LIABILITY

Business review

Company

36 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
The sale of RECO was completed in February 2013.

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the company and its subsidiaries to continue as going concerns and have no reason
to believe that they will not be going concerns in the year ahead.

Sustainability

37 GOING CONCERN

Financial results and other information
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38 SUBSIDIARIES
Carrying value
of company’s interest
Issued share capital
Name of company

Nature of
business*

Effective holding
2012
2011
%
%

Shares at cost
2012
2011
R’m
R’m

Due by/(to)
subsidiaries
2012
2011
R’m
R’m

2012

2011

D
F
D
D
P
E

R100
R100
R200
R60 000
R4 000
R1 000 000

R100
R100
R200
R60 000
R4 000
R1 000 000

100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100

–
–
–
–
–
4

–
–
–
–
–
4

D

R100

R100

100

100

–

–

–

–

D

R2 500 000

R2 500 000

100

100

3

3

(2)

(2)

D
D
D
D

R20 016
R20 000
R3 000
R2

R20 016
R20 000
R3 000
R2

100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
2
–

–
–
2
–

Subsidiaries incorporated in South Africa
Unlisted
Afrox (Pty) Limited
Afrox African Investments (Pty) Limited
Afrox Educational Services (Pty) Limited
Afrox Finance (Pty) Limited
Afrox Properties (Pty) Limited
Afrox Safety (Pty) Limited
Amalgamated Gas and Welding
(Pty) Limited
Amalgamated Welding and Cutting
(Pty) Limited
Amalgamated Welding and Cutting
Holdings (Pty) Limited
AWCE (Pty) Limited
Energy Medical Supplies (Pty) Limited
Harris Gas Equipment (Pty) Limited
Human Performance Systems
(Pty) Limited
Industrial Research and Development
(Pty) Limited
Medispeed (Natal) (Pty) Limited*
ISAS Trust
Nasionale Sweisware (Pty) Limited
Nicoweld (Pty) Limited
PPE-Isizo (Pty) Limited
Safety Gas (Pty) Limited

D

R200

R200

100

100

–

–

–

–

E
D
G
D
D
D
D

R6 000
R100
–
R2
R1 200
R200
R100

R6 000
R100
–
R2
R1 200
R200
R100

100
100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100
100

–
–
62
–
–
–
–

–
–
62
–
–
–
–

4
–
25
–
–
–
–

12
–
1
–
–
–
–

Subsidiary incorporated in Angola
Afrox Africa Oxigenio Limitada

G

KA187.1m

KA1.8m

100

100

16

–

–

16

D

P4 000

P4 000

100

100

–

–

–

–

–
495
–
–
206
(13)

–
513
–
–
198
(16)

Subsidiaries incorporated in Botswana
Afrox Gas & Engineering Supplies
(Botswana) (Pty) Limited
Botswana Oxygen Company
(Pty) Limited
Botswana Steel Engineering
(Pty) Limited
Handigas (Botswana) (Pty) Limited
Heat Gas (Pty) Limited
KIDDO Investments (Pty) Limited

G

P200

P200

100

100

–

–

11

(1)

D
D
D
D

P120 000
P200
P100
P2

P120 000
P200
P100
P2

100
100
74
100

100
100
74
100

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
4

–
–
–
5

Subsidiaries incorporated in Lesotho
Afrox Lesotho (Pty) Limited
Lesotho Oxygen (Pty) Limited

G
D

M2
M2

M2
M2

100
100

100
100

–
–

–
–

(7)
–

–
–

Subsidiary incorporated in Malawi
Afrox Malawi Limited

G

K4.4m

K4.4m

79

79

1

1

3

2

Subsidiary incorporated in Mauritius
Afrox International Limited

D

US$7 508

US$7 508

100

100

–

–

–

–

Subsidiaries incorporated in
Mozambique
Afrox Mozambique Limitada
BOC Gases Mozambique Limitada

G
G

MZM2.350m MZM2.350m
MZM1 100
MZM1 100

100
100

100
100

17
1

17
1

8
1

39
1
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38 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Issued share capital
Name of company

Nature of
business*

2012

2011

Effective holding
2012
2011
%
%

Shares at cost
2012
2011
R’m
R’m

Due by/(to)
subsidiaries
2012
2011
R’m
R’m

N$100
N$2
N$280 000
N$200
N$100
N$100

N$100
N$2
N$280 000
N$200
N$100
N$100

100
100
100
100
100
100

100
100
100
100
100
100

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
21
–
–
–
–

–
18
–
–
–
–

Subsidiaries incorporated in Swaziland
Handigas Swaziland (Pty) Limited
Swazi Oxygen (Pty) Limited

D
G

E8
E8

E8
E8

100
100

100
100

–
–

–
–

–
(9)

–
2

Subsidiary incorporated in Zambia
Afrox Zambia Limited

G

ZK86.5m

ZK86.5m

70

70

5

5

10

5

109

93

759

795

Subtotal
Impairment of Afrox Mozambique
Limitada loan

–
109

93

759

776

(31)
790

(19)
795

759

776

* Liquidated during the current financial period.

39 ASSOCIATED COMPANY
Carrying value
of company’s interest
Issued share capital
Name of company
Group and company
Unlisted associated company
Les Gaz Industriels Limited†

Nature of
business*

G

2012

2011

RS26.1m

RS26.1m

Effective holding
2012
2011
%
%

38

38

Shares at cost
2012
2011
R’m
R’m

1

1

† Associate with June financial year-end.

* Nature of business
Currency
D – Dormant company	R – South African Rand
N$ – Namibian Dollar
E – Engineering merchants, contractors and manufacturers	E – Swazi Elangeli
P – Botswana Pula
F – Finance
K – Malawi Kwacha	RS – Mauritian Rupee
G – Gas and welding equipment
KA – Angolan Kwanza	US$ – US Dollar
P – Property holdings 	M – Lesotho Loti
ZK – Zambian Kwacha
	MZM – Mozambican Metical

Indebtedness
2012
2011
R’m
R’m

–

–

Financial results and other information

Subsidiary loans
Payables to Group companies (note 32)
Loans due by subsidiaries (note 4)

(19)

Sustainability

D
G
P
G
G
G

Support functions

Subsidiaries incorporated in Namibia
Gas & Welding Products (Pty) Limited*
IGL (Pty) Limited
IGL Properties (Pty) Limited
Namox (Pty) Limited
Reptile Investment Nine (Pty) Limited
Reptile Investment Ten (Pty) Limited

Business review

Carrying value
of company’s interest
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Shareholders’ diary
SALIENT DATES
Financial year-end
Posting of annual report
Annual general meeting
Interim announcement

31 December 2012
22 March 2013
23 May 2013
22 August 2013

REPORTS AND ACCOUNTS

PUBLISHED

Audited financial results for 31 December 2012
Interim results for six months to 30 June 2012

28 February 2013
23 August 2012

DIVIDENDS (ORDINARY SHARES)

DECLARED

PAID

Interim dividend
Final dividend

23 August 2012
28 February 2013

05 October 2012
22 April 2013

SENS announcements
The following Securities Exchange News Service (SENS) announcements were made during the past financial year:
13 February 2013	Trading update
22 November 2012	Afrox to invest R750m in SA operations
22 November 2012
Changes to the Board of directors
22 November 2012
Granting of awards to directors and the company secretary
14 September 2012
Change to the Board of directors
23 August 2012	Unaudited Interim Financial Results for the six months ended 30 June 2012
27 July 2012	Trading update
17 May 2012	Results of annual general meeting
13 April 2012	Revised notice of annual general meeting
19 March 2012
No change statement and notice of annual general meeting
02 March 2012	Afrox appoints new Financial Director
29 February 2012
Change to the Board of directors
23 February 2012	Audited Group financial results 31 December 2011 and dividend
25 January 2012	Trading update

Dividend
A final gross dividend of 18 cents per ordinary share was declared on 28 February 2013
Last day to trade ordinary shares ‘cum’ dividend

Friday, 12 April 2013

Ordinary shares trade ‘ex’ the dividend

Monday, 15 April 2013

Record date

Friday, 19 April 2013

Payment date

Monday, 22 April 2013
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AFRICAN OXYGEN LIMITED

Registered office and business address

Auditors
KPMG Inc

Company Secretary
C Low BA (Law), LLB, LLM (Tax) Diploma in Banking

Support functions

Afrox House, 23 Webber Street, Selby, Johannesburg 2001
PO Box 5404, Johannesburg 2000
Telephone +27 (0) 11 490 0400
Fax +27 (0) 11 493 1580

Business review

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
Registration number: 1927/000089/06
ISIN: ZAE000067120
JSE code: AFX NSX code: AOX

Transfer secretaries
Sustainability

Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg 2001
PO Box 61051, Marshalltown 2107
Telephone +27 (0) 11 370 5000
Fax +27 (0) 11 370 5271/2

Sponsor in South Africa

Sponsor in Namibia
Namibia Equity Brokers (Pty) Limited

Website
www.afrox.com

Stakeholder enquiries
Stakeholder enquiries may be addressed per e-mail to:
corporate.communication@afrox.linde.com

Financial results and other information

One Capital
Telephone +27 (0) 11 550 5011
Fax +27 (0) 86 718 4524
17 Fricker Road, Illovo 2196
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Notice to shareholders

AFRICAN OXYGEN LIMITED (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) (Registration number 1927/000089/06)
JSE share code: AFX NSX share code: AOX ISIN code: ZAE000067120 (‘Afrox’ or ‘the Group’ or ‘the company’)
Notice is hereby given that the 84th annual general meeting of the
company will be held in the Boardroom of the company, Afrox House,
23 Webber Street, Selby, Johannesburg, South Africa on Thursday,
23 May 2013 at 10:00 at which the resolutions set out below will be
considered and, if deemed fit, passed with or without modification:

1	Ordinary Resolution Number 1
	The approval of the annual financial statements
	Resolved as an Ordinary Resolution that the annual financial
statements of the Group and the company for the financial
year ended 31 December 2012, including the directors’ and
independent auditors’ report and the Audit Committee report
therein, be and are hereby received and confirmed.

2	Ordinary Resolution Numbers 2.1 to 2.6
	Election of directors
	These resolutions are to elect by separate resolutions, the
directors of the company in accordance with the companies
Act 71 of 2008 (‘the Companies Act’) and the company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation (‘MOI’) which provides that:
– At least one third of the directors, being those longest in
office at the time of the annual general meeting shall retire
from office, but that such directors may offer themselves for
re-election; and
– The appointment of directors by the Board of directors to be
confirmed at the next annual general meeting.
2.1	Ordinary Resolution Number 2.1
	Resolved that Khotso Mokhele, who retires by rotation and
being eligible, offers himself for re-election as a director, be
re-elected;

2.8 Ordinary Resolution Number 2.8
	Resolved that the appointment of Christopher Wells as the
independent non-executive director by the Board of directors
on 22 November 2012, be confirmed.
	A brief CV in respect of each director above appears on page 7
of this annual report.

3	Ordinary Resolution Number 3
	Re-appointment of Auditors
	Resolved that KPMG Inc be re-appointed as the independent
auditors of the company and that NH Southon be appointed,
being a director of KPMG Inc, as the individual designated auditor
who will undertake the audit of the company for the ensuing
period and to authorise the Audit Committee to determine the
terms of engagement and the auditors’ fees and remuneration
for the past period and the ensuing period.

4	Ordinary Resolution Number 4
Appointment of Audit Committee members
	Subject, where necessary to their re-appointment as directors
of the company in terms of Ordinary Resolution 2 above:
	Resolved that the appointment of the following directors as
members of the Audit Committee be and is hereby confirmed,
being in accordance with the recommendations of the King
Code of Governance Principles, 2009 (‘King III’) and in terms of
section 94 of the Companies Act:
– Christopher Wells;
– David Lawrence; and
– Morongwe Malebye.

2.2 Ordinary Resolution Number 2.2
	Resolved that Jonathan Narayadoo, who retires by rotation and
being eligible, offers himself for re-election as a director, be
re-elected;

	A brief CV in respect of each director above appears on page 7
of this annual report.

2.3 Ordinary Resolution Number 2.3
	Resolved that Michael Huggon, who retires by rotation and
being eligible, offers himself for re-election as a director, be
re-elected;

	Placement of unissued share capital under the control
of the directors
	Resolved that 5% (five percent) of the authorised, but unissued
share capital of the company, be and is hereby placed under
the control of the directors of the company until the next annual
general meeting, subject to the provisions of the Companies
Act and the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited where
applicable, for allotment and issue to such persons as the
directors in their discretion deem fit.

2.4 Ordinary Resolution Number 2.4
	Resolved that Dynes Woodrow, who retires by rotation and
being eligible, offers himself for re-election as a director, be
re-elected;
2.5 Ordinary Resolution Number 2.5
	Resolved that the appointment of Brett Dixon Kimber as an
executive director by the Board of directors on 1 January 2012,
be confirmed.
2.6 Ordinary Resolution Number 2.6
	Resolved that the appointment of Richard Gearing as a nonexecutive director by the Board of directors on 23 August
2012, be confirmed;
2.7 Ordinary Resolution Number 2.7
	Resolved that the appointment of Sipho Nkosinathi Maseko as
the independent non-executive director by the Board of directors
on 22 November 2012, be confirmed.

5	Ordinary Resolution Number 5

6	Ordinary Resolution Number 6
Approval of remuneration policy
	Resolved to approve, through a non-binding advisory vote, that
the remuneration policy of the company detailed on page 34
of this annual report.
	
Explanation: This ordinary resolution is required in accordance
with the King III recommendations that the company obtain an
advisory vote by its shareholders in a general meeting on the
remuneration policy applicable to all employees and directors
of the company and any of its subsidiaries or divisions. The
vote is non-binding on the company.
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7

Special Resolution Number 1
	Reason for and effect of this special resolution
	The reason for and effect of this special resolution is to abrogate
the existing Memorandum of Incorporation (formerly the
company’s Memorandum and Articles) in its entirety and
replace with a new MOI to ensure compliance with the
Companies Act.

	The salient terms of the company’s new MOI are set out in
Annexure 1 of this notice of annual general meeting and forms
an integral part of this notice of annual general meeting. A
copy of the new MOI is available on the company’s website
www.afrox.com and is available for inspection at the company’s
registered office during normal business hours.

	To increase the independent non-executive directors’ fees
	Resolved that the fees paid to the independent non-executive
directors serving on Board and the various committees of the
Board, be as follows with effect from 1 January 2013:

Special Resolution Number 2

Proposed fee
Retainer p/a

Applicable

R350 000
R200 000

Retainer
Retainer

R135 000
R67 500

In addition to independent director retainer above
In addition to independent director retainer above

R90 000
R45 000

In addition to independent director retainer above
In addition to independent director retainer above

Support functions

Role

8

Business review

Approval of the Memorandum of Incorporation
	To abrogate the existing Memorandum of Incorporation (formerly
the company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association) (‘MOI’)
in its entirety and replace it with a new MOI which will be tabled
at the annual general meeting and initialled by the Chair of
the annual general meeting for purposes of identification, with
effect from the date of filing thereof at the Companies Intellectual
and Property Commission.

Board

Audit Committee
Chairperson
Member

Sustainability

Independent lead director
Independent director

Other committees

Per Meeting Fee
Meeting fee

R10 000

* Only applicable to independent directors as all other directors are appointed as a consequence of their function in The Linde Group.

9

Special Resolution Number 3

	General authority to repurchase shares
	Resolved, subject to compliance with the Companies Act, the
company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (‘MOI’) and the
Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, that the directors of
the company be and is hereby authorised and granted a
general authority as at their discretion and on such terms as
they deem fit to procure that the company or subsidiaries of the
company acquire by repurchase on the JSE Limited, ordinary
shares issued by the company, provided that:
9.1	the company and its subsidiaries are enabled by their MOI to
repurchase such shares;
9.2	the repurchase of shares shall be effected through the order
book operated by the JSE Limited trading system and be done
without any prior understanding or arrangement between the
company and the counterparty;
9.3	the company and its subsidiaries are authorised by its members
in terms of a special resolution taken at general meetings, to
make such general repurchases, such authorisation being valid
only until the next annual general meetings or for 15 months
from the date of this special resolution, whichever is the
earlier date;
9.4	an announcement be made giving such details as may be
required in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited
when the company has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three

percent) of the initial number (the number of that class of share
in issue at the time that the general authority is granted) of the
relevant class of shares and for each 3% (three percent) in
aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired thereafter;
9.5	at any one time the company may only appoint one agent to
effect any repurchase on the company’s behalf;
9.6	the repurchase of shares will not take place during a prohibited
period (as defined in the Listings Requirements of the JSE
Limited) unless the directors have in place a repurchase
programme where the dates and quantities of securities to be
traded during the relevant period are fixed (not subject to any
variation) and full details of the programme have been disclosed
in an announcement over SENS prior to the commencement of
the prohibited period;
9.7	the repurchase of shares shall not, in the aggregate, in any one
financial year, exceed 20% (twenty percent) of the company’s
issued share capital as at the date of registration of this special
resolution; or
9.8	10% (ten percent) of the company’s issued share capital in the
case of an acquisition of shares in the company by a subsidiary
of the company;
9.9	the repurchase of shares may not be made at a price greater
than 10% (ten percent) above the weighted average traded
price of the market value of the shares as determined over the
five business days immediately preceding the date on which
the transaction is effected; and

Financial results and other information

Chairperson
Member
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9.10	the company may not enter the market to proceed with the
repurchase of its ordinary shares until the company’s sponsor
has discharged its duties with regard to the adequacy of the
company’s working capital for the purpose of undertaking a
repurchase of securities in writing to the JSE Limited.
	
Explanation: This Special Resolution authorises the directors of
the company, if they deem it appropriate and necessary and in
the best interest of the company, to repurchase the company’s
shares by way of open market transactions on the JSE Limited.
This authority is subject to the Companies Act and the Listings
Requirements of the JSE Limited. At the present time the
directors have no specific intention with regard to the utilisation
of this authority, which will be used only if they deem fit and if
the circumstances are appropriate. The directors undertake to
comply fully with the limitations and controls imposed by the
Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited.
	Other disclosures required in terms of the Listings
Requirements of the JSE Limited
	In terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited, the
following disclosures are required with reference to the
repurchase of the company’s shares as set out in the Special
Resolution Number 2 above.




Working capital statement
The directors shall not make any repurchases under this general
authority unless they are of the opinion that after considering
the effect of the maximum repurchase permitted and the
maximum general payments to shareholders, for a period of 12
(twelve) months after the date of the decision to enter into the
market to proceed with the repurchase:
– the company and the Group will be able, in the ordinary course
of business, to pay its debts;
– the assets of the company and the Group will be in excess of
the liabilities of the company and the Group, recognised and
measured in accordance with the accounting policies used in
the latest annual financial statements;
– the share capital and reserves of the company and the Group
will be adequate for ordinary business purposes; and
– the working capital resources of the company and the Group
will be adequate for ordinary business purposes.
Litigation statement
Other than disclosed or accounted for in this report, the directors
of the company whose names are given on pages 6 to 7 of this
annual report are not aware of any other legal or arbitration
proceedings, pending or threatened against the Group, which
may have or have had, in the 12 months preceding the date of
this notice of general meeting, a material effect on the Group’s
financial position.



Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names are given on page 7 of this annual
report, collectively and individually, accept full responsibility
for the accuracy of the information pertaining to the above
special resolution and certify that to the best of their knowledge
and belief there are no facts that have been omitted which would
make any statement false or misleading and that all reasonable
enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that the
above special resolution contains all information required.



Other disclosures in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the Listings
Requirements of the JSE Limited
The following additional information, some of which may appear
elsewhere in the annual report of which this notice forms part,
is provided in terms of the Listings Requirements of the JSE
Limited for purposes of Special Resolution number 3 above:
– Directors and management (refer to pages 6 to 9)
– Major shareholders of the company (refer to page 81)
– Directors’ interests in the company’s shares (refer to page 85)
– Share capital of the company (refer to page 104)

10 Special Resolution Number 4
	General authority to provide financial assistance to related
companies or inter-related companies
Resolved, subject to compliance with the Listings Requirements
of the JSE Limited and with the Companies Act (specifically
section 45) that the directors be and are hereby authorised to
provide direct or indirect financial assistance through the lending
of money, the guaranteeing of loans, or other obligations or the
securing of any debts or obligations to any related or inter-related
company or companies as defined in section 1 of the Companies
Act, when and as they deem fit and appropriate.
Explanation: The reason and effect of this Special Resolution
Number 4 is to grant the directors of the company the authority
to cause the company to provide financial assistance to any
company or corporation that is related or inter-related to
the company. It does not authorise the provision of financial
assistance to any director or prescribed officer of the company.
The directors undertake that prior to the company providing
any financial assistances as contemplated in Special Resolution
Number 4 above, the company will have satisfied the solvency
and liquidity test as set out in section 4 of the Companies Act.

11 Special Resolution 5
	Authority to provide financial assistance in connection with
the purchase of company securities on the market
Resolved that, as a special resolution contemplated by section
44 (3) (a) (ii) of the Companies Act, the directors be and are
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Voting and proxies
Certificated shareholders
Shareholders wishing to attend the annual general meeting
have to ensure beforehand, with the transfer secretaries of the
company, that their shares are in fact registered in their name.
Should this not be the case and the shares are in fact registered
in another name or in the name of a nominee company, it is
incumbent on shareholders attending the meeting to make the
necessary arrangement with that party to be able to attend
and vote in their capacity. A shareholder entitled to attend and
vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a
proxy or proxies to attend, speak and on a poll, vote in his/her
stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company. For
the convenience of registered shareholders of the company, a
form of proxy is enclosed herewith, containing detailed instructions
in this regard.



Dematerialised/Uncertificated shareholders
Beneficial owners of dematerialised shares who wish to attend
the annual general meeting require their Central Securities
Depository Participant (‘CSDP’) or broker to provide them with

Percentage of voting rights required for resolutions
1 Special resolutions
	The percentage of voting rights that will be required for the
adoption of each special resolution is 75% of the voting rights
exercised on the resolution.
2 Ordinary resolutions
	The percentage of voting rights that will be required for the
adoption of each ordinary resolution is 50% of the voting rights
exercised on the resolution.

Notice record date, voting record date and forms of proxy
The notice of the company’s 84th annual general meeting has been
sent to its shareholders who were recorded as such in the company’s
securities register on 15 March 2013, being the notice record date
used to determine which shareholders are entitled to receive notice
of the annual general meeting.
The record date on which shareholders of the company must be
registered as such in the company’s securities register in order to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting is Friday, 17 May 2013,
being the voting record date used to determine which shareholders
are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting. The
last day to trade in order to be entitled to vote at the annual general
meeting will therefore be Friday, 10 May 2013.
In terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, any person attending
or participating in the annual general meeting must present reasonably
satisfactory identification and the person presiding at the meeting
must be reasonably satisfied that the right of any person to participate
in and vote (whether as shareholder or as proxy for a shareholder)
has been reasonably verified.

Carnita Low

Company Secretary
28 February 2013

Financial results and other information

	Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in this annual
report, there have been no material changes in the affairs,
financial or trading position of the Group since the signature date
of this annual report and the posting date thereof.

Proxies
The instrument appointing a proxy and the authority (if any)
under which it is signed must reach the transfer secretaries by no
later than 10:00 on 21 May 2013. On a poll, ordinary shareholders
will have one vote in respect of each share held.

Sustainability





Support functions

Explanation: The reason and effect of this Special Resolution
Number 5 is that the directors of the company will, pursuant
to the requirements of section 44 (3) of the Companies Act,
be empowered to authorise the company to provide funds to
third-party brokers and/or subsidiaries of the company in
connection with the purchase of company securities on the
market, which securities are to be applied in settlement of
the company’s obligations to deliver company securities to
executives and other company employees as it may exist under
such share incentive plans as the company may operate from
time to time.

a letter of representation, or they must provide the CSDP or
broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant
custody agreement entered into between them and the CSDP
or broker.

Business review

hereby empowered to authorise the company, at any time
during the period of 2 years commencing on the date of this
special resolution, to provide any direct or indirect financial
assistance to any third-party broker or subsidiary of the company,
for the purpose of or in connection with the purchase of
company securities in the market required for settlement under
the share incentive plans operated by the company from time
to time, provided that the directors are satisfied that immediately
after providing the particular financial assistance, the company
would satisfy the solvency and liquidity test set out in section
4 of the Companies Act.
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Annexure 1
SALIENT TERMS OF THE PROPOSED MEMORANDUM
OF INCORPORATION (‘MOI’)
The company wishes to adopt a new MOI to harmonise the company’s
constitutional documents with the provisions of the Companies Act,
71 of 2008 (‘Companies Act’), as amended and the JSE Limited Listings
Requirements (‘Listings Requirements’).
The new MOI will be available for inspection by shareholders on the
company’s website (www.afrox.com) and at the company’s registered
office, during normal business hours.
The following summary highlights some of the significant changes
found in the new MOI. The changes listed below are not exhaustive,
and shareholders are advised to read the whole new MOI for a full
appreciation thereof.



There is provision for a Social and Ethics Committee to be appointed.



The new MOI allows written resolutions in terms of section 60 of
the Companies Act in certain circumstances.



The annual rotation of directors in terms of the new MOI applies
only to non-executive directors.



Non-executive directors’ fees will be paid on the basis of a special
resolution.



Board of directors’ approval of a distribution/dividend payment
will be subject to the solvency and liquidity test.



The Board of directors is authorised to determine record dates
for the exercise of shareholders’ rights in terms of the Companies
Act and the Listings Requirements.



The Board of directors is authorised to provide financial assistance
in terms of the Companies Act.



In addition to the Board of directors being able to call shareholders’
meetings, the prescribed officers can do so if authorised by the
Board of directors.



Shareholders’ meetings may be conducted by electronic
communication.



Electronic participation at shareholders’ meetings is provided for.

Meetings of shareholders can now be convened on 15 business
days’ notice.



The making of rules as contemplated in section 15(3) of the
Companies Act is prohibited.



Form of proxy

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 1927/000089/06)
JSE share code: AFX NSX share code: AOX
ISIN code: ZAE000067120 (‘Afrox’ or ‘the company’)

FOR USE BY SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING SHARE CERTIFICATES AND SHAREHOLDERS WHO HAVE DEMATERIALISED THEIR SHARE CERTIFICATES
AND HAVE ELECTED ‘OWN NAME’ REGISTRATION THROUGH A CENTRAL SECURITIES DEPOSITORY PARTICIPANT (‘CSDP’) OR BROKER, AT THE
84th ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE COMPANY TO BE HELD AT 10:00 ON 23 MAY 2013.
If you are a shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the abovementioned annual general meeting you can appoint a proxy to attend, vote
and speak in your stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the company.
If you are a shareholder and have dematerialised your share certificate through a CSDP or broker and have not selected own name
registration in the sub register maintained by a CSDP, you must not complete this form of proxy but must instruct your CSDP or broker to issue
you with the necessary authority to attend the annual general meeting, or if you do not wish to attend, you may provide your CSDP or broker
with your voting instructions in terms of the custody agreement entered into with your CSDP or broker.
I/We (name in block letters)
of (address in block letters)
being a shareholder/shareholders of African Oxygen Limited and entitled to

votes, hereby appoint:

1.

or failing him/her

2.

or failing him/her

the chairman of the meeting
as my/our proxy to act for me/us at the annual general meeting, to be held at African Oxygen Limited, Afrox House, 23 Webber Street,
Selby, Johannesburg, South Africa on 23 May 2013 at 10:00 and at any adjournment thereof, as follows:
Number of Afrox shares
In favour of

Against

Abstain

Ordinary Resolutions:
1.

Approval of the annual financial statements

2.

Election of directors

2.1 Khotso Mokhele
2.2 Jonathan Narayadoo
2.3 Michael Huggon
2.4 Dynes Woodrow
2.5 Brett Dixon Kimber
2.6 Richard Gearing
2.7 Sipho Nkosinathi Maseko
2.8 Christopher Wells
3.

Re-appointment of auditors

4.

Appointment of Audit Committee members

5.

Placement of unissued share capital under the control of the directors

6.

Approval of Remuneration Policy

Special Resolutions:
1.

Approval of the Memorandum of Incorporation

2.

To increase the independent non-executive directors’ fees

3.

General authority to repurchase shares

4.

Financial assistance to related or inter-related companies

5.

Financial assistance to purchase company securities

Signed at on
Shareholder
Please read the instructions on the reverse side of this form of proxy.
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Form of proxy
continued
Form of proxy – Instructions
1.

On a poll a shareholder is entitled to one vote for each share held.

2.	Forms of proxy must be lodged at, posted to or faxed to Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg,
2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, Fax +27 11 688 5238), to reach the company by no later than 10:00 on 21 May 2013.
3.	A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholders’ choice in the space/s
provided, with or without deleting the words ‘the chairman of the annual general meeting’. Any such deletion must be individually
initialled by the shareholder, failing which they will not have been validly affected. The person present at the annual general meeting
whose name appears first on the form of proxy and has not been deleted shall be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of the persons
whose names follow.
4.	Any alterations or corrections to this form of proxy have to be initialled by the relevant signatory(ies).
5.	Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a shareholder(s) of the company) to attend, speak and
vote (either on a poll or by show of hands) in place of that shareholder at the annual general meeting.
6.	Voting instructions for each of the resolutions must be completed by filling the number of votes (one per ordinary share) under the ‘In
Favour’, ‘Against’ or ‘Abstain’ headings on the form of proxy. If no instructions are filled in on the form of proxy, the chairman of the
annual general meeting, if the chairman is the authorised proxy, or any other proxy, shall be authorised to vote in favour of, against or
abstain from voting as he/she deems fit.
7.	A shareholder or his/her proxy is entitled but not obliged to vote in respect of all the ordinary shares held by the shareholder. The total
number of votes for or against the ordinary and special resolutions and in respect of which any abstention is recorded may not exceed
the total number of shares held by the shareholder.
8.	Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form must be attached to this form of proxy unless previously
recorded by the transfer secretaries of the company or waived by the chairman of the annual general meeting.
9.	This form of proxy is to be completed only by those shareholders who either still hold shares in a certificated form, or whose shares
are recorded in their ‘own name’ in electronic form in the sub register.
10.	Shareholders whose dematerialised shares are held in the name of a nominee and wish to attend the annual general meeting must
contact their Central Securities Depository Participant (CSDP) or broker who will furnish them with the necessary letter of authority to
attend the annual general meeting. Alternatively, they have to instruct their CSDP or broker as to how they wish to vote. This has to be
done in terms of the agreement between the shareholder and the CSDP or the broker.
11.	Shareholders who wish to attend and vote at the meeting must ensure that their letters of authority from their CSDP or broker reach
the transfer secretaries not later than 10:00 on 21 May 2013.
12.	The completion and lodging of this form of proxy does not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general meeting
and speaking and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed by the shareholder.
13.	The chairman of the annual general meeting may accept or reject any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in
accordance with these instructions, provided that he shall not accept a proxy unless he is satisfied as to the manner in which a
shareholder wishes to vote.
Transfer secretaries’ office
Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

African Oxygen Limited
www.afrox.com
All products names contained herein are registered trademarks of African Oxygen Limited

